

## LUND UNIVERSITY

### Sepsis - an ED perspective. Sepsis Alert & Biomarkers.

Rosenqvist, Mari

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Rosenqvist, M. (2021). *Sepsis - an ED perspective. Sepsis Alert & Biomarkers.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Sepsis - an ED perspective

Sepsis Alert & Biomarkers

MARI ROSENQVIST FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



## Sepsis - an ED perspective



**Mari Rosenqvist,** senior consultant in infectious diseases and internal medicine. Initiator and coordinator for the regional implementation of Sepsis Alert in Skåne. Member of the Swedish Infectious Diseases Society's (SILF) Working Party for National Guidelines on Sepsis and the Government Mandate Work Group for Sepsis (NAG).





Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:76 ISBN 978-91-8021-082-9 ISSN 1652-8220



Sepsis – an ED perspective

## Sepsis - an ED perspective

## Sepsis Alert & Biomarkers



by Mari Rosenqvist

### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences Malmö, Lund University, Sweden.

To be defended in the lecture hall Medelhavet at the Wallenberg Laboratory, Skåne University Hospital Malmö and/or Zoom. Friday September 3, 2021, at 1.00 pm.

FACULTY OPPONENT Associate Professor Anders Ternhag, MD, PhD Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Solna Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

Organization	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral dissertation	
Facutly of Medicine		
	Date of issue	
	2021-07-27	
Author(s) Mari Rosenqvist	Sponsoring organization	
Title and subtitle: Sepsis – an ED perspective. Sepsis Alert & Biomarkers		

### Abstract

#### Background

Sepsis, the life-threatening organ dysfunction due to dysregulated host response to an infection, is a medical emergency. Early diagnosis and treatment are important factors to prevent mortality and morbidity. However, sepsis can be diffuse and difficult to interpret. Therefore, it is important to define models for early identification applicable in the Emergency Department (ED), in order to meet the therapeutic goals of the Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC).

### Aim

To improve initial sepsis care at the ED by identifying biomarkers for risk stratification and by a region-wide implementation of the novel triage model Sepsis Alert.

### Methods

In the first study we retrospectively evaluated the implementation of the Sepsis Alert at the ED, SUS Malmö. The second study was a post-hoc analysis of the biomarker mid-regional proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM)'s ability to guide antibiotic administration at the ED. In the third study, a prospective observational study, we investigated the biomarker proenkephalin A 119-159 (penKid) as a predictor of acute kidney injury, multi-organ failure (MOF) and mortality in unselected sepsis patients at the ED. The fourth study was a before-and-after multicenter study to assess whether the Sepsis Alert resulted in improved initial care of patients with severe infections at the ED.

### Results

We found that the implementation of Sepsis Alert led to shorter time to (appropriate) antibiotics, improvement of quality markers of sepsis care in accordance with SSC, and decreased length of hospital stay. Also, in a subgroup of 5/8 EDs, ICU care decreased after the intervention (Studies I & IV). In Study II, MR-proADM on arrival at the ED had the strongest association with the requirement for antibiotic administration, compared to other biomarkers. Also, ICU care and 28-day mortality was zero in patients with low concentrations of MR-proADM. In study III, penKid in unselected sepsis patients at the ED significantly predicted progression from renal-SOFA  $\leq$  1 to higher renal-SOFA scores, MOF and mortality.

#### Conclusions

The triage model Sepsis Alert improves sepsis care and is today an integrated part of the daily routine at the EDs in Skåne Region, and the experiences from this work are applied in the national mandatory guidelines "Personcentrerat och sammanhållet vårdförlopp för sepsis". Moreover, the biomarker studied in this thesis may identify sepsis patients with good (low MR-proADM), and poor (high penKid) prognosis.

### Key word

Sepsis, Emergency Department, biomarkers, MR-proADM, penKid, triage, Sepsis Alert, implementation

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)				
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English		
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220, Lund University, Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:76		ISBN978-91-8021-082-9		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 137 Price			
	Security classification			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

# Sepsis - an ED perspective

## Sepsis Alert & Biomarkers

Mari Rosenqvist



Cover photo by Mari Rosenqvist

Illustrations by Louise Wester on page 28, 39, 60, 75, 79, 95, 97, 102

Copyright pp 1-137 Mari Rosenqvist

Paper 1 © Infectious Diseases 2017 Paper 2 © Critical Care 2019 Paper 3 © BMC Emergency Medicine 2019 Paper 4 © Critical Care Medicine 2020

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:76

ISBN 978-91-8021-082-9 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

To Albin & Hampus

# Table of Contents

List of papers 1	1
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning 1	13
Abbreviations 1	15
Background 1	17
An introduction to sepsis in the Emergency Department1	17
Sepsis definitions and its shortcomings in the ED setting1	18
Epidemiology2	23
Pathophysiology at the ED and after2	26
Morbidity, mortality, & long-term effects2	29
Preventive measures	30
WHO sepsis resolution	31
The clinical picture	33
Aetiology & site of infection3	33
Blood cultures at the ED - "Are they really necessary"?	34
Risk factors3	35
Symptoms & signs3	36
Organ dysfunction3	38
Diagnosis & prognosis3	39
Antibiotics, source control, and supportive measures4	í0
Sepsis at the ED vs. sepsis at the ward or ICU 4	í5
A sepsis snapshot - the importance of vigilant ED staff4	í5
Timely interventions - how early is prompt?4	í7
Lactate – an accessible & beneficial biomarker at the ED?4	í8
Not all sepsis is severe, and vice versa5	50
Implementing sepsis guidelines in an ED setting5	51

Triage	55
An introduction to sepsis triage	55
Early identification & risk-stratification - vital signs	56
The infectious diseases physician - a key feature at the ED	60
The triage nurse - another key feature at the ED	61
Biomarkers	
An introduction to biomarkers	63
Early identification & risk-stratification - biomarkers	64
Mid-regional proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM)	66
Proenkephalin A 119-159 (penKid)	67
The present investigation	69
Aims	69
Materials & methods	
Study designs & settings	71
Participants	72
Data collection	74
The biobank	75
Sepsis Alert – the triage model	75
Sepsis Alert - the implementation	76
Outcomes and quality markers of sepsis care	77
Statistics	78
Ethical considerations	79
Main results	
The Sepsis Alert studies - Papers I & IV	81
Sepsis Alert - sensitivity	84
The Biomarker studies - Papers II & III	86
Discussion	89
The Sepsis Alert studies - Papers I & IV	89
Comment on inclusion	91
Comment on implementation	92
Comment on NEWS/NEWS2	95
Limitations	96
The Biomarker studies - Papers II & III	
Comment on inclusion	
Limitations	100

Conclusions	
Final reflections & future perspectives	
Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ)	
Tack	
References	
Errata	

# List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

I.	Rosenqvist M, Fagerstrand E, Lanbeck P, Melander O, Åkesson P. Sepsis Alert - a triage model that reduces time to antibiotics and length of hospital stay. Infect Dis (London) 2017; 49(7):507-13.
II.	Rosenqvist M, Wilson DC, Tegnér L, Bengtsson-Toni M, Peyman M, de Castillo JD, Saeed K, Melander O. Biomarkers to guide antibiotic timing and administration in infected patients presenting to the emergency department. Critical Care 2019; 23(1):141.
III.	Rosenqvist M, Bronton K, Hartmann O, Bergmann A, Struck J, Melander O. Proenkephalin a 119-159 (penKid) - a novel biomarker for acute kidney injury in sepsis: an observational study. BMC Emerg Med 2019;19(1):75.
IV.	Rosenqvist, M, Bengtsson-Toni, M, Tham, J, Lanbeck, P, Melander, O, Åkesson, P. Improved outcomes after regional implementation of Sepsis Alert: a novel triage model. Crit Care Med 2020; 48(4):484-90.

Related papers not included in this thesis:

I.	Saeed K, Wilson DS, Bloos F, Scheutz P, van der Doos Y, Melander
	O, Hausfater P, Legramante JM, Claessens Y-E, Amin D, Rosenqvist
	M et al. The early identification of disease progression in patients with
	suspected infection presenting to the emergency department: a multi- centre derivation and validation study. Crit Care 2019;23(1):40.
II.	Lundberg OHM, Bergenzaun L, Rydén J, Rosenqvist M, Melander O, Chew MS. Adrenomedullin and endothelin-1 are associated with myocardial injury and death in septic shock patients. Crit Care 2016;20(1):178.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Avhandlingens fyra delarbeten berör två olika sätt att identifiera och prognostisera patienter med allvarliga infektioner tidigt i sjukdomsförloppet, dels genom sepsislarm (Sepsis Alert) och dels genom analys av ämnen i blodet s.k. biomarkörer.

Sepsis (tidigare kallat blodförgiftning) är ett potentiellt livshotande tillstånd som uppstår till följd av kroppens immunologiska svar på en infektion. Man kan förenklat beskriva sepsis som en infektion som blivit livshotande. Sepsis drabbar runt 49 miljoner människor årligen världen över. Uppskattningsvis sker 85% av sepsisfallen i låg- och medelinkomstländer och i Sverige drabbas cirka 40 000 personer varje år av sepsis.

I princip alla infektioner kan leda till sepsis, men de vanligaste infektionerna är lunginflammation, urinvägsinfektion, bukinfektioner och hud- och mjukdelsinfektioner. Alla kan drabbas av sepsis, men spädbarn, äldre och personer med kroniska sjukdomar eller nedsatt immunförsvar löper ökad risk. Sjukdomsspektrumet vid sepsis sträcker sig från relativt mild sjukdom till allvarlig organskada och dödligheten vid sepsis är cirka 20%. En betydande andel av patienterna som drabbas av sepsis är äldre och/eller har annan svår sjukdom vilket påverkar prognosen. Då en patient med sepsis kan uppvisa en mångfacetterad sjukdomsbild med många olika symtom kan det vara svårt både för patienter, anhöriga och ibland även för sjukvårdspersonalen att tolka dess initiala tecken.

När vi inledde arbetet med att förbättra sepsisomhändertagandet i Skåne för tio år sedan, visade vår första studie, **Studie I**, att de allra svårast sjuka sepsispatienterna erhöll behandling i enlighet med nationella riktlinjer, om antibiotika inom en timme, i endast 22% av fallen. Resultaten vittnade om en betydande förbättringspotential och blev en stark drivkraft för att försöka förbättra den inledande sepsisvården i Skåne genom fokus på tidig identifiering av patienter med sepsis.

Inspirerade av kardiologer och neurologers arbete med snabbspår för patienter med hjärtinfarkt och stroke, ville vi försöka skapa ett liknande snabbspår för patienter med allvarliga infektioner/sepsis. En Sepsiskedja inkluderande sepsislarm (Sepsis Alert), baserat på det sorterings- och prioriteringsverktyg som används på akutmottagningarna i Sverige (RETTS), togs fram för att möjliggöra tidig identifiering av sepsispatienter. Vid sepsislarm engagerades infektionsläkare systematiskt redan på akutmottagningen och bidrog med råd om utredning, behandling och fortsatt omhändertagande. Efter införandet av sepsislarm i

Malmö ökade andelen patienter som erhöll antibiotika inom en timme från 22% till 90% och vårdtiden kortades från 9 till 7 dygn i median, vilket redovisas i **Studie I**.

För att förbättra det initiala sepsisomhändertagandet i hela Skåne, fattades sedermera beslut i Hälso- och sjukvårdsnämnden att införa sepsislarm på alla Skånes akutmottagningar. Implementeringen genomfördes 2016 av tre regionala sepsiskoordinatorer i samarbete med de tio sepsisteamen på Skånes akutmottagningar. Den vetenskapliga utvärderingen av det regionala införandet av sepsislarm baserades på 200 000 akutsökande patienter och beskrivs i Studie IV. Det regionala införandet av sepsislarm ledde till tydligt förbättrade nationellt vedertagna kvalitetsmått, att högre andel patienter erhöll adekvat initial antibiotikabehandling i tid och i en före-efter-analys av införandet av sepsislarm på fem av åtta akutmottagningar utan tidigare sepsislarm, minskade behovet av intensivvård.

Med siktet inställt på att ta fram kliniskt applicerbara biomarkörer för tidig identifiering och prognostisering av allvarliga akuta tillstånd inleddes 2013 arbetet med att bygga upp en biobank på Akutmottagningen i Malmö. Nära 3000 akutsökande patienter med dyspné (andnöd), sepsis och diabetes har inkluderats i studiens tre olika delar, varav drygt 800 utgörs av patienter med sepsis. De två biomarkörerna som har studerats i detta avhandlingsarbete innefattar mid-regional proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM) och proenkephalin A 119–159 (penKid). I **Studie II** visar vi att MR-proADM taget vid ankomst till akutmottagningen var starkt associerat till behov av antibiotikabehandling jämfört med andra infektionsbiomarkörer såsom procalcitonin, CRP och laktat. En annan intressant observation i denna studie var att andelen sepsispatienter som behövde IVA-vård eller avled inom 28 dagar var noll hos patienter med låga nivåer av MR-proADM.

Ett organ som ofta påverkas vid sepsis är njurarna. Ett problem med den biomarkör som används idag (s-kreatin) är bland annat att det tar tid innan njurskadan återspeglas i blodproven och att upprepade värden krävs för att skapa sig en adekvat bild av skadans omfattning. Det är angeläget att upptäcka sepsisorsakad njurskada tidigt i förloppet för att kunna dosanpassa läkemedel och vidta andra njurskyddande åtgärder i syfte att minimera skadans omfattning. Biomarkören penKids förmåga att tidigt signalera risk för akut njurpåverkan, multipel organskada och risk för död vid sepsis beskrivs i **Studie III**.

Flera positiva initiativ bidrar för närvarande till att förbättra sepsisvården, inte minst Världshälsoorganisationens beslut att utnämna sepsis till en så kallad "Global Health Priority" för att ge tillståndet vederbörligt fokus. På mer lokal nivå gläds vi åt att de skånska erfarenheterna kring sepsislarm tagits till vara i det nationella arbetet med "Personcentrerat och Sammanhållet Vårdförlopp för Sepsis", vilket bl.a. innefattar införandet av sepsislarm på nationell basis.

## Abbreviations

ACCP	The American college of chest physicians		
ADM	Adrenomedullin		
aPTT	Activated partial thromboplastin time		
AKI	Acute kidney injury		
AUROC	Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve		
CHIS	The centre for health economics, informatics, and		
	healthcare research		
CDC	The centres for disease control and prevention		
CKD	Chronic kidney disease		
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease		
CReDECI	Criteria for reporting the development and evaluation		
	of complex interventions in healthcare		
CRP	C-reactive protein		
DAMPs	Damage associated molecular patterns		
DIC	Disseminated intravascular coagulation		
ED	Emergency department		
EGDT	Early goal directed therapy		
EHR	Electronic health records		
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate		
ESICM	The European society of intensive care		
FiO2	Fraction of inspired oxygen		
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate		
ICD	International classification of disease		
ICU	Intensive care unit		
ID	Infectious disease(s)		
IDSA	Infectious diseases society of America		
INR	International normalised ratio		

Length of hospital stay		
Mean arterial pressure		
Millimole		
Millimole		
Multi-organ failure		
Mid-regional proadrenomedullin		
National early warning score		
National early warning score 2		
Pathogen associated molecules		
Procalcitonin		
Polymerase chain reaction techniques		
Proenkephalin A 119-159		
Predisposition, insult, response, organ dysfunction		
Quick sequential organ failure assessment		
Rapid emergency triage and treatment system		
Renal sequential organ failure assessment		
Royal college of physicians		
The society of critical care medicine		
Serum creatinine		
Systemic inflammatory response syndrome		
Sequential organ failure assessment		
Surviving sepsis campaign		
White blood cell count		
World health organisation		

## Background

## An introduction to sepsis in the Emergency Department

Humanity has always faced challenging situations that demand collaboration to utilise existing resources. The ability to envision and make plans for the future is one of mankind's strengths. However, not all situations are preventable, and humans are still plagued by infectious disease. Since microbes will undoubtedly continue to share our world, causing severe infections, healthcare personnel must be well prepared and vigilant in handling a wide variety of present and emerging infections, to reduce human suffering and to save lives.

Sepsis, the life-threatening organ dysfunction due to dysregulated host response to an infection, is a medical emergency, and early recognition, appropriate, and timely interventions are important factors to prevent mortality and morbidity. In order to meet present therapeutic goals of the Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC), it is important to define models for early identification applicable in the Emergency Department (ED).

Triage based upon vital signs, symptoms, and/or biomarkers has become a viable means of early identification and risk stratification in patients with severe infections, to enable adequate care for individual patients and optimised healthcare. The early engagement of infectious diseases physician at the ED is essential, contributing with knowledge regarding severe infections and ensuring high-quality initial sepsis care and the responsible use of effective antimicrobials.

Despite considerable advancement in recent decades in sepsis care, we impatiently await development of novel therapeutic individualised strategies that may be guided by biomarkers or other risk-stratification tools. Concurrently, sepsis care models applicable in low- or middle-income countries needs to be developed, and here models based on vital signs may have an advantage.

In this thesis, early recognition and risk-stratification of sepsis based on the novel triage algorithm Sepsis Alert, and the biomarkers mid-regional proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM) and proenkephalin A 119-159 (penKid), are explored.

## Sepsis definitions and its shortcomings in the ED setting

Sepsis is a syndrome rather than a disease, which includes the full spectrum from relatively mild infectious disease to multi-organ failure, circulatory shock, and death. The constellation of symptoms and organ dysfunction for diagnosis makes sepsis an entity of its own, not comparable to other life-threatening conditions present at the ED, such as acute myocardial infarction or stroke. Although applicable in an Intensive care unit (ICU) setting, the consequences of the convolute and volatile sepsis definitions may become most apparent at the ED.

Before exploring sepsis definitions further, definitions of infection and infectious diseases ought to be addressed. Interestingly, in the previous sepsis consensus documents Sepsis-1 and Sepsis-2 (1, 2), infection was defined as "a pathological process caused by invasion of normally sterile tissue/fluid or body cavity by pathogenic or potentially pathogenic micro-organisms". However, in the current Sepsis-3 guidelines, definition of infection is not included (3). This is disappointing, since the definition of infectious disease is essential in clinical and research work, and inaccuracies are subsequently reproduced throughout the care chain, influencing use of antibiotic treatment and other decisions on care and outcomes.

As defined in the *Handbook of Epidemiology*, infection and infectious disease are "the entry and development or multiplication of an infectious agent in the body of humans or animals". The Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)'s infectious disease criteria were initially developed for surveillance of nosocomial infections but were subsequently extended to include infections in general and in critically ill patients (4). However, infection is not synonymous with disease, since disease implies signs, symptoms, or some negative impact on the health status of the individual. Some of these may be minor, and at the end of the spectrum are individuals with no signs or symptoms who have asymptomatic or subclinical infections, as in the asymptomatic phase of HIV infection, or the Hepatitis B carrier state (5).

Although these definitions are distinct and valuable in theory, a more pragmatic perspective is needed in the ED. Most ED and pre-hospital personnel would readily and swiftly identify a patient with a typical infectious presentation, however, since sepsis may be diffuse and mimic other conditions, symptoms may be difficult to interpret even for more experienced health care personnel (6).

With previous infectious disease definitions in mind, let us return to the definitions of sepsis. One can ascertain that great effort has been put into developing and improving sepsis criteria over time. The first consensus statement with intention to uniformly define sepsis (Sepsis-1) was composed in 1991 by the American College of Chest Physicians

(ACCP) and the Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) (1). These definitions emanated from sepsis being due to an exaggerated immune response, Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS), and if two of the four SIRS criteria (heart rate >90/ minute, respiratory rate >20/minute, temperature >38°C, <36°C or leucocytes >12 or <4 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L) plus infection were present, the condition was defined as sepsis, and with the simultaneous presence of organ dysfunction, the criteria for severe sepsis were fulfilled. Further, septic shock was defined as sepsis-induced hypotension despite adequate fluid resuscitation along with the presence of hypoperfusion (Table 1).

Term	Criteria/definitions
Infection	Microbial phenomenon characterised by an
	inflammatory response to the presence of
	microorganisms or the invasion of normally sterile host
	tissue by those organisms.
Systemic inflammatory response	The systemic inflammatory response to a variety of
syndrome (SIRS)	severe clinical insults.
	Two or more of the following criteria: Temperature
	>38°C or <36°C; heart rate >90 beats per minute;
	respiratory rate >20 breaths per minute or PaC02 <32
	mm Hg; and white blood cell count >12 or <4 x 10 <sup>9</sup> /L,
	or >10% immature (band) forms.
Sepsis	The systemic inflammatory response (SIRS) to infection.
	Two or more of the following conditions: Temperature
	>38°C or <36°C; heart rate >90 beats per minute;
	respiratory rate >20 breaths per minute or PaC02 <32
	mm Hg; and white blood cell count >12 or <4 x 10 <sup>9</sup> /L
	or >10% immature (band) forms.
Severe sepsis	Sepsis with organ dysfunction, hypoperfusion, or
-	hypotension.
	Hypoperfusion and perfusion abnormalities may
	include, but are not limited to lactic acidosis, oliguria, or
	an acute alteration in mental status.
Septic shock	Sepsis induced hypotension despite adequate fluid
	resuscitation along with the presence of perfusion
	abnormalities that may include, but are not limited to,
	lactic acidosis, oliguria, or an acute alteration in mental
	status.

**Table 1** – Sepsis-1 criteria in accordance with ACCP and SCCM (1).

In 2001, the slightly revised Sepsis-2 criteria were established by a collaboration of the SCCM, the ACCP, the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM), the American Thoracic Society (ATS), and the Surgical Infection Society (SIS) (Table 2, 3).

Term	Definitions & clinical criteria
Infection	Pathologic process caused by the invasion of normally sterile tissue or fluid or body cavity by pathogenic or potentially pathogenic microorganisms.
Sepsis	Suspected or established infection, plus some of the parameters in Table 3.
Severe sepsis	Suspected or established infection, plus hypotension, hypoperfusion or organ dysfunction (Marshall or SOFA).
Septic shock	Acute circulatory failure, persistent arterial hypotension (systolic arterial blood pressure <90 nn Hg or MAP <60 mm Hg or a reduction of 40 mm Hg compared to baseline.

 Table 2 – Sepsis-2 criteria in accordance with ACCP, ATS, ESCIM, SCCM, SIS (2).

$\mathbf{L}$	Table 3 - Parameters	& criteria	for sepsis in	accordance with	h Sepsis-2 (2).
--------------	----------------------	------------	---------------	-----------------	-----------------

Term	Criteria			
General parameters	Fever >38.3°C			
-	Hypothermia <36°C			
	Heart rate >90 bpm			
	Tachypnea >30 bpm			
	Altered mental status			
	Significant edema or positive fluid balance (>20 ml/kg/24 h)			
	Hyperglycemia (plasma glucose >110 mg/dL or 7.7 mM/L) in the			
	absence of diabetes			
Inflammatory parameters	WBC count >12,000/µl or <4,000/µl, or >10% or immature			
	CRP >2 SD above the normal value			
	PCT >2 SD above the normal value			
Organ dysfunction parameters	Arterial hypoxemia (PaO <sub>2</sub> /FiO <sub>2</sub> <300)			
	Acute oliguria (urine output <0.5 ml/kg/h or 45 mM/L for 2 h)			
	Creatinine increase ≥0.5 mg/dL			
	Coagulation abnormalities (INR >1.5 or aPTT >60 s)			
	Ileus (absent bowel sounds)			
	Thrombocytopenia (platelet count <100,000/µl)			
	Hyperbilirubinemia (plasma total bilirubin >4 mg/dl or 70			
	mmol/L)			
Hemodynamic parameters	Arterial hypotension (systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg, MAP			
	<70, or a systolic blood pressure decrease >40 mmHg)			
	Mixed venous oxygen saturation >70%			
	Elevated cardiac index			
Tissue perfusion parameters	Hyperlactatemia (>3 mmol/L)			
	Decreased capillary refill or mottling			

To improve risk stratification among patients with a suspected infection, in 2016 new consensus definitions of sepsis and related clinical criteria, Sepsis-3, were established by the ESICM and the SCCM (3). The updated sepsis criteria were based on literature review and analysis of current research, rather than the consensus documents used in previous sepsis definitions. In Sepsis-3, sepsis is defined as a life-threatening dysregulated host response to infection. The SIRS categorisation is omitted, and emphasis is put on evaluating organ dysfunction according to the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score that is based on six different components: respiratory, cardiovascular, hepatic, coagulation, renal, and neurological systems. An increase in baseline SOFA score  $\geq$  2 SOFA points defines organ dysfunction, where baseline SOFA score is assumed to be zero in patients with no known pre-existing organ dysfunction. An advantage of this classification is that organ dysfunction is evaluated along a continuum, rather than binary clinical entities. Septic shock is defined as hypotension despite "adequate" fluid resuscitation in need of vasopressor to reach mean arterial pressure (MAP)  $\ge$  65 mm Hg and elevated serum lactate concentration >2 mmol/L (Table 4, 5).

Term	Definitions & clinical criteria			
Infection	A definition of infection was not included.			
Sepsis	The life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by dysregulated host response to infection.			
	An acute increase of ≥ 2 SOFA points as a consequence of infection, defines organ dysfunction, Table 5.			
Severe sepsis	Considered redundant.			
Septic shock	Septic shock, include a subset of sepsis in which the underlying circulatory and cellular/metabolic abnormalities are profound enough to substantially increase mortality.			
	Persisting hypotension requiring vasopressor to maintain MAP 65 mm Hg and having a serum lactate level >2 mmol/L despite adequate volume resuscitation, defines septic shock.			

Table 4 – Sepsis-3 criteria in accordance with ACCP and ESCIM (3).

Organ system	SOFA score					
	0	1	2	3	4	
Respiration	≥400	<400	<300	<200 with	<100 with	
PaO <sub>2</sub> /FiO <sub>2</sub> ,				respiratory support	respiratory support	
mmHg						
Coagulation	≥150	149-	99-50	49-20	<20	
Thrombocytes		100				
x10º/µL						
Liver	<20	20-32	33-101	102-204	>204	
Bilirubin,						
umol/L						
Cardiovascular	≥70	<70	Dobutamine <sup>a</sup>	Epinephrine/	Epinephrine/	
MAP, mm Hg			(any dose) or	norepinephrineª	norepinephrineª	
			Dopamine <sup>a</sup> <5	≤0.1 or Dopamine <sup>a</sup>	>0.1 or Dopamine <sup>a</sup>	
				5.1-15	>15	
Central	15	13-14	10-12	6-9	<6	
nervous						
system						
Glasgow coma						
scale (GCS) <sup>6</sup>						
Renal	<110	110-	171-299	300-440	>440	
Creatinine,		170		<500	<200	
umol/L						
Urine output,						
mL/d					1	

**Table 5** – The Sequential (sepsis-related) organ failure assessment score (SOFA score). Singer et al (3)

a Catecholamine doses are given as µg/kg/min for at least 1 hour

b Glasgow coma scale ranges from 3-15; higher scores indicate better neurological function.

Surprisingly, the Sepsis-3 guidelines were not prospectively validated before being launched. Per contra, the criteria were mainly based on retrospective analysis of large US and German hospital databases, with considerable predominance of the former country and ICU wards, and the majority of infections being respiratory or postoperative. Also, a non-validated definition of suspected infection, as collection of biological samples and prescription of antibiotics within a given time interval, was used. Not being representative for the wider clinical spectrum of sepsis patients that present at the ED, far-reaching conclusions applicable in the emergency setting were not conceivable (3, 7, 8). In an attempt to resolve this shortcoming, a new clinical sepsis screening tool, the quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (qSOFA), was constructed to be used to identify sepsis patients outside the ICU. Quite surprisingly, a similar retrospective approach was applied when developing this score, and the deficient sensitivity for the model in the ED was destined (9-13).

The Sepsis-3 criteria contain some challenges. For example, the former rationale for severe sepsis has been replaced by sepsis, and the two concepts are not fully compatible (2, 3, 14, 15). Patients who meet the sepsis criteria in accordance with Sepsis-3 have been shown to be less ill than patients with severe sepsis, according to the previous sepsis criteria, which may be explained by the more permissive saturation criteria <92 equivalent to 2 SOFA-points in Sepsis-3. Further limitations in the updated sepsis criteria are the omission of time span for organ dysfunction, and that  $PaO_2/FIO$  and MAP is used, which is not routine at the ED (15, 16). Also, despite being a sensitive marker for severity of sepsis, measurement of lactate is not part of the updated sepsis definitions other than in the definition of septic shock. Altogether, these alterations may reflect the lack of ED representation in the ESICM's and the SCCM's task force, and risk leading to huge unforeseen challenges when implementing Sepsis-3 at the ED.

In addition, in Sepsis-3, patient data were collected from adults in high-income countries, so the utility of the current sepsis definitions in other geographic regions, and particularly in low-income settings, is unknown. To be universally accepted, the sepsis guidelines should facilitate urgent sepsis care on a global level and must be applicable in settings with less resources (7).

## Epidemiology

Due to the inconsistent approach to definitions and diagnosis in sepsis, evaluating the epidemiology of sepsis has been a demanding and sometimes unattainable assignment. To achieve high-quality epidemiological data, factors such as sex, age, socio-economic status, health care setting, educational level, and low- and middle-income countries need to be included in the analysis. To date, knowledge of global sepsis epidemiology has been hampered by the fact that regions with the highest sepsis burden have been the same areas where data have been lacking. The recent and gratifying data regarding sepsis incidence in low- and middle-income countries, by Rudd et al. (17), reduce knowledge gaps and contribute to a more complete depiction, rendering a global sepsis incidence of 623 per 100 000 inhabitants/year.

Interestingly, in addition to her accomplishments in the Crimean War, Florence Nightingale was the first to propose a model of systematic collection of hospital data in the mid eighteen-hundreds (18). Later, in 1948, the World Health Organisation (WHO) introduced the International Classification of Disease coding system (ICD-6) to facilitate national and international recording and reporting of mortality and morbidity statistics (19). Since then, the coding system has been revised to reflect the

ongoing advances and development in health care, and the eleventh version adapted to the digital era is currently being implemented (20).



Figure 1. Florence Nightingale's report on the situation in the Crimea from 1858 (18).

The reliability of ICD data is highly dependent on the accuracy of the coding, and biases are inevitable in the coding process. Consequently, the reliability has varied considerably, depending on awareness of sepsis, the coding system, the financial compensation schemes, or other financial incentives. Several studies suggest that only 10–50% of patients with sepsis are coded correctly using the ICD system (21-24). Thus, to enable an accurate sepsis incidence estimation in an ED setting, an extensive, labour-intensive, chart-based review is preferable and is still considered golden standard, although electronic health records (EHR) are becoming more frequent (25).

An alternative approach to study sepsis epidemiology retrospectively, via electronic chart algorithms, was applied by Rhee and colleagues in 2017 (26). They used a pseudomarker for sepsis, namely presence of organ dysfunction, blood cultures taken, plus antibiotic treatment for four days. This set-up may immensely simplify the evaluation, however not all sepsis patients have blood cultures taken. In addition, patients with virus-related sepsis, or misjudged sepsis patients, may also be omitted in this setting. However, when using this method, an annual incidence of 500/100 000 was found, but when validating the results by manual chart review it was shown that 30% of patients were missed, and that another 30% were misclassified. Despite these insufficiencies, the method is considered to be useful in the future (27). In recent decades, some assessments have shown a trend of increasing sepsis incidence (21, 28), while other estimates point in the opposite direction (29, 30). However, the highest quality epidemiologic studies indicate that sepsis is becoming both more common and less deadly. Increased sepsis incidence may be due to more patients being detected, but also due to an ageing population and increased incidence of sepsis risk factors such as antibiotic resistance, enhanced use of immunosuppressive treatments, and foreign material in the body. An ageing population entails a significantly increased risk for sepsis, as patients  $\geq 65$  years account for 60–85% of sepsis episodes. But the increase may also be due to better coding and a heightened awareness of sepsis (14, 17, 31-36)

In addition to the study population, organ dysfunction criterion, definition of infection, and whether diagnosis is based on ICD code or manual chart evaluation, the applied sepsis definitions (Sepsis 1, 2 or 3) are also of major importance when handling epidemiological aspects of sepsis. Since a majority of epidemiological studies were conducted before 2016, most studies are based on Sepsis-2 guidelines and must be reproduced using current Sepsis-3 criteria. Also, most epidemiological sepsis studies have been conducted in hospitalized sepsis patients, a selection that might risk leading to bias since patients with milder forms of sepsis may be treated as out-patients. Further, patients from nursing homes who may be readmitted to institutions are consequently omitted, as are patients who die during ED stays. Despite these limitations, even fewer studies have been conducted in a paediatric ED setting, but corresponding broad epidemiological research in adults at the ED are lacking (37-39).

With these limitations in mind, one can conclude quite illustratively that sepsis incidence has been reported to range between three and one thousand patients per 100 000 inhabitants and year (21). One of the first large studies on sepsis incidence, from 2001 by Angus and colleagues, included almost 200 000 sepsis patients by using ICD-9 codes, and showed a sepsis incidence of 300/100 000. In this study, 50% received ICU care and the in-hospital mortality rate was almost 30%, which reflects severely ill sepsis patients (35). Further, in a Danish chart-based ED study, the incidence of community onset sepsis, according to Sepsis-2, landed in the middle of this large range, at 457 per 100 000 inhabitants and year (23), and in a study from the Faroe Islands the incidence of community onset sepsis was 644 per 100 000 inhabitants and year (22).

In a Swedish point prevalence study, 482 hospitalized patients receiving intravenous antibiotic treatment were evaluated, with results indicating an incidence of severe sepsis of 687 per 100 000 inhabitants and year, when applying Sepsis-2 criteria, and an incidence of sepsis in 780 per 100 000 inhabitants and year, according to the updated

Sepsis-3 definitions (24). This finding is somewhat inconsistent with other studies that have shown greater discrepancies between the Sepsis-2 and Sepsis-3 definitions. Ljungström and colleagues evaluated 2 462 patients in-hospital who received antibiotics within 48 hours and found an annual incidence of community onset severe sepsis of 276/100 000 inhabitants, however, when applying the Sepsis-3 definitions, the incidence was three-fold higher, 838/100 000 inhabitants and year (14). Also, the incidence of septic shock varies greatly among studies, at 9/100 000 and 80/100 000, and current septic shock definitions will surely result in a smaller septic shock population (23, 35, 40).

## Pathophysiology at the ED and after

The host response to infection witnessed at the ED is often multifaceted and varied, and the individual immunological response, the pathogen, site of infection, and the point when, in the course of sepsis, patients present at the ED, all complicate the initial evaluation and may impart different types of delays of recognition (41).

The cytokine activation manifested as fever and signs of infection increases the possibility to correctly identify the sepsis patient at the ED. However, the opposite is illustrated in patients with immunosuppression, where these symptoms may be lacking due to diminished cytokine effects, which may further complicate identification and evaluation. The early signs of infection relate to the innate (non-adaptable) immunity, including macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils, natural killer cells, and dentritic cells, which are rapidly activated to a common and broad range of microbes. The initial response consists of an intricate interplay of pro- and counteracting anti-inflammatory mechanisms, which achieves effective control of minor and localized infections and repair damaged tissue (42, 43). However, when certain thresholds are met, complex cytokine cascades are triggered by the local infection reliant on the pathogen and site of infection, but also on host response factors such as age, comorbidity, environmental factors, microbiome, genetic polymorphism, epigenetic modifications, and the ability to re-establish homeostasis (42, 44).

By detecting certain pathogen associated molecules (PAMPs) as endotoxins, and detecting damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) as molecules originating from the damaged cell, complex responses are activated. The PAMPs and DAMPs activate a wide range of pattern recognition receptors, rendering increased transcription of pro-inflammatory mediators such as interferons and tumour necrosis factor-alfa, interleukin-1, and interleukin-6 (42, 45, 46). In Gram-negative bacteria, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein, CD14, and toll-like receptor 5 are key molecules

in the defence. Further, in Gram-positive bacteria, components of the bacterial cell wall and exotoxins produced by bacteria may constitute super antigens that unselectively stimulate the T-lymphocytes by binding to major histocompatibility complex class II in antigen presenting cells, leading to massive cytokine production (41).

The vascular endothelium, composed of a single layer endothelial cell, separates the intravascular space from the interstitial and regulates diffusion of molecules. The endothelium is central in the pathogenic sepsis cascade serving as a link between local and systemic immune responses. The endothelium is engaged in initiating increased leucocyte adhesion, a shift to a procoagulant state, vasodilatation and loss of barrier function resulting in widespread oedema in the interstitial spaces, body cavities, and subcutaneous tissue (47). The endothelium also regulates vasomotor tone, the migration of cells and nutrients in and out of tissue, and the coagulation system. Endothelial barrier leak is part of the host response to infection, since it is needed to combat pathogens in the tissues. However, as previously mentioned this may result in huge amounts of fluid in the tissues, leading to interstitial oedema and subsequent septic shock.



Figure 2. The role of the endothelium in sepsis. Adapted from Dolmatova et al.

Further, the bacterial and microbial toxins activate other parts of the innate immunity, viz the coagulation and complement systems, in an attempt to further defend the host. The activation of the coagulation system may cause a continuum from mild thrombocytopenia to fulminant disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), probably driven by tissue factor from endothelial cells and leukocytes. In addition to the procoagulant state, diminished anticoagulant effects are observed, as is a concurrent depression of the fibrinolytic system. Subsequent formation of microthrombi may lead to local perfusion defects, resulting in tissue hypoxia and organ dysfunction and depletion of clotting factors.

The complement system is another vital part of the innate host response, involved in several steps of the battle against pathogens; enhancing the phagocytic cell's ability to clear microbes by attacking the pathogens cell membrane, creating barriers that inhibit microorganism spread, and subsequently contributing to their clearance. The complement system is amplified by the coagulation system, which further fortifies this intricate interplay. Finally, the neutrophile contribute to innate immunity by releasing extracellular traps (NETs) containing proteolytic activity that traps and kills microbes, which further enhances vascular inflammation and the effects on the coagulation (48).

The host has several ways to protect itself against invasive pathogens, one being the described innate (non-adaptable) immunity. Another is adapted immunity. In contrast to innate immunity, adapted immunity is a highly specific immunological response to each particular microbe the host has encountered. Adaptive immunity consists of B and T-lymphocytes that together create an immunological memory and generate specific antibodies to pathogens in a sophisticated interplay.

Later on, in the course of sepsis, the sepsis-related immunological dysfunction in combination with a catabolic state may render the patient highly susceptible to opportunistic infections and infections with antibiotic resistant bacteria. This later phase is dominated by anti-inflammatory cytokines, apoptosis of T and B-cells and dentritic cells, exhaustion of T-lymphocytes, and expansion of anti-inflammatory immune cells (49, 50). Clinically illustrative, lymphopenia four days after sepsis diagnosis has been postulated as a biomarker for immunosuppression since it has been found to be associated with secondary bacterial infection and predicts mortality at 28 days and 1 year (51). Harmful effects of broad-spectrum antibiotics on the microbiota, the presence of endotracheal tubes, and several indwelling catheters add further risk to the patients. Also, viruses as cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, herpes simplex virus, and human herpesvirus 6 are often reactivated during the course of the critical illness (52). However, interestingly, even in severe, lethal septic shock and multiorgan failure, limited cell death is found outside the lymph tissue at autopsy (53).

## Morbidity, mortality, & long-term effects

Sepsis is one of the most common causes of hospitalization and premature death in hospital, and for survivors, sepsis may cause severe short- and/or long-term morbidity and sequelae. Mortality in sepsis ranges from 10 % to 60 %, depending on the severity of illness and what population is studied, with the lowest numbers reflecting care at general wards or ED, and the highest numbers illustrating mortality in ICU patients (22, 30, 35, 54-58). Mortality in sepsis has been reported to decline (29, 59), however whether this decrease is a true reflection of improvement in sepsis care, and subsequent patient outcomes or part of a Will Rogers Phenomenon ascertainment bias, need to be further investigated (60, 61).

When considering mortality in sepsis it is vital to include the patient's pre-morbid status and presence of limitation of care (62, 63). Hence, regardless of the excellence of current sepsis care, the mortality in sepsis may remain relatively high due to sepsis being the terminal diagnosis in patients with e.g., cancer, and in the multimorbid elderly patient. However, the opposite is also true, since patients with limitation of care at the ICU, often recover and are discharged back home (64, 65).

Approximately 50% of the patients who survive sepsis fully recover and about 30% die within a year. Of patients that die within a year, 50% die from direct complications of the sepsis episode (66, 67). Further, 40% of patients are estimated to be readmitted within 90 days (68). A causal relationship between sepsis and long-term complications has been suggested. However, due to insufficiencies in available studies, a substantial knowledge gap remains. Lack of information on pre-septic morbidity; use of research data retrieved from registers intended for other medical conditions, such as stroke or cardiovascular disease; patient materials selected by age or otherwise; and self-reported sepsis diagnosis in some studies, all are examples of current insufficiencies. These uncertainty factors in present long-term studies make the outcome precarious and generalizability limited.

Despite the existing knowledge gap regarding sepsis' long-term effects, the patient may be in need of medical support. The various types of problems that have been reported in sepsis survivors include decreased level of function, psychological problems, and cognitive dysfunction. Sepsis patients also have a greater need for care in the year after sepsis, compared to the year prior to the sepsis episode (35, 69-71).

The morbidity seen in sepsis may to some extent be preventable. One important improvement aspect may be to avoid delay in the sepsis care chain, which starts as soon as the patient contacts health care, in practice often at the ED. Another way to prevent deterioration and subsequent hospital care may be through early evaluation of the sepsis patient after hospital discharge. Since 22 % of readmissions have been shown to be due to conditions that often can be treated in outpatient care, such as heart failure, urinary tract infections, and exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), by identifying and treating these patients timely, in the best case, patients may be more stable and further hospital care may be prevented (72). Also, applying other preventive measures, further described in the next chapter, may improve long-term outcome for sepsis patients.

### Preventive measures

In his oath, "*primum non nocere*", Hippocrates stated more than 2 500 years ago that, "I will use treatments for the benefit of the ill in accordance with my ability and my judgment, but from what is to their harm and injustice I will keep them." (73). This oath is still essential in health care prevention of infections, and a basic responsibility towards our patients.

CDC estimates that 1,7 million hospitalised patients in the USA acquire health careassociated infections annually, while being treated for other health issues, and that one in 17 patients die due to these infections (74). Since preventing infections is the best and most efficient way to prevent sepsis, this area deserves appropriate attention. Although most community-onset sepsis episodes may be difficult to prevent despite advice on vaccination, preventive measures in the form of providing sepsis information to risk groups, and increased public awareness, efforts to try to prevent infections are still important (75, 76).

At the hospital and throughout the sepsis care chain, whether starting prehospitally or at the ED, the beneficial effects of applying early appropriate basic care hygiene routines and, more specifically, to prevent occurrence of some important infections, propagates throughout hospital stay (77). This fact has been illustrated by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic situation, during which ED personnel in collaboration with hygiene and infectious diseases (ID) physicians applied life-saving hygiene measures, assuring that patients are cared for appropriately to prevent spread of infection. To enable adequate handling of the patient, it is vital to ensure easily available hygiene and ID expertise at the ED.

In addition to such countermeasures for infection spread as basic care hygiene routines, patient isolation, and use of appropriate personal protective equipment (PPE), other adequate measures to prevent infections that must be applied within the health care continuum are often initiated early in the care chain at the ED. These measures include

decubital prophylaxis, adequate nutrition, carefully considered urinary catheterization (78), and care of wounds. Also, venous catheters, inserted under non-sterile conditions prehospitally or at the ED, must be replaced as soon as the patient is stable (79).

However, huge barriers to achieving these preventive measures exist at the ED, due to crowding, high patient volume, delays in hospital admission, frequent interruptions, simultaneous care of multiple patients, use of areas such as hallways, and proximity of patients who often are only separated by curtains (80, 81). Further, personnel and patients encounter a large number of contacts that increase risk of transmission of infectious diseases, and the rapid room turnovers place high demands on the appropriate cleaning and disinfection of health care surfaces (77). Also, several types of patients presenting at the ED have an increased risk of incurring sepsis, since natural defence barriers often are diminished due to medication, recent surgery, age, and comorbidity. Patients with immunosuppressive conditions or treatment are a vulnerable group that often present diffuse and nonspecific symptoms despite severe infections. This patient group needs thorough information regarding how and when to contact health care, and often need acute assessment by a physician with special knowledge of infections. Close collaboration between ED and ID physician/staff is a prerequisite to enable everyday clinical practice to be as safe and beneficial as possible to the patient and health care personnel.

In addition to the customary preventive measures, special attention should be paid to the frail patients at the ED. Preventive measures in this patient group include preventing decubitus, malnutrition, dehydration, and fall injuries, and to enable this, frail patients are for example cared for in a real bed, instead of a cot, and have access to nutritional drinks and extra supervision during the ED stay.

### WHO sepsis resolution

The World Health Organization (WHO) consists of 194 member states and was founded by United Nations in 1948 with the objective to enable people to attain the highest possible level of health (82). WHO applies prioritised health areas, and in the 70<sup>th</sup> World Health Assembly, in May 2017, sepsis was appointed a WHO "Global health priority" due to its high mortality and morbidity (83, 84).

Although difficult to ascertain, globally about 49 million sepsis cases account for 20% of all-cause deaths. Approximately 85% of sepsis cases and sepsis-related mortality occurred in low- or middle-income countries, and almost half of sepsis cases each year affected children, resulting in 2.9 million deaths. A majority of these deaths were

reported to be related to gastrointestinal or lower respiratory infections, and to a large extent preventable. Hence, efforts need to be adapted and focused on the most beneficial areas, such as prevention and early diagnosis and treatment of sepsis, for the best possible outcome (17).



Figure 3. How to prevent sepsis, WHO.

To date, sepsis research has been limited in regions where sepsis effects are most deleterious, which highlights the importance of achieving standardised sepsis research to address these shortcomings. Further, sepsis mainly affects the susceptible population, leading to deleterious effects in, inter alia, neonates, pregnant women, or during puerperium in low-income countries. Consequently, efforts need to be adapted to particular situations in particular countries. Also, the sepsis resolution supports and reinforces former WHO programs for vaccination, access to clean water, sanitation, and hygiene.

## The clinical picture

## Aetiology & site of infection

Although all infections may eventually lead to sepsis, the most common infections comprise pneumonia, urinary tract and intra-abdominal infections, and skin and soft tissue infections (85). In patients that present to the ED with severe infections, 70%–80% have acquired the infection in the community, however, some patients have recently been treated in-hospital or in other health-care facilities, which needs to be properly addressed (41, 84).

The majority of studies that evaluate the role of the site of the infection exclude patients outside the ICU setting (86). Hence, evidence for the role of infection site in the early stages of sepsis, and in less severely ill patients, is insufficient. This is unfortunate, since different pathophysiological mechanisms may be of importance in different stages of sepsis, where the later stages may be dominated by immune dysfunction and related multiple organ failure, and less related to the site of infection (87).

In the ICU, a microbiologic agent is present in about 70% of the cases (85). In contrast to sepsis patients at the ICU, community onset sepsis patients encountered at the ED less often include microbial resistant pathogens, fungal, and opportunistic infections (85, 88, 89). Since the initial aetiology often is revised, in order to improve sepsis care and adjust empirical antibiotic treatment, the collection of specimens for cultures from, e.g., blood, urine, sputum, or wound at the ED is vital and needs to be emphasised in the ED situation (88, 90).

The importance of acknowledging international, regional, and local differences in the prevalence of infections, types of pathogens, presence of antimicrobial resistance, mortality rate, is crucial. The EPIC II trial, for example, demonstrated significant differences in Eastern Europe as compared to Western Europe (85). Hence updated knowledge of these epidemiologically different situations is vital.
# Blood cultures at the ED - "Are they really necessary"?

As stated, about 70%–80% of sepsis episodes are community-onset, and the ED often represent patients' first contact with health care systems. The importance of appropriate collection of (blood) cultures at the ED, before antibiotic administration, cannot be overestimated, since sepsis can be caused by virtually any infecting organism, including bacterial, viral, fungal, or parasitic organisms (84, 85, 91, 92). Also, collecting blood cultures early in the care chain reduces the risk of false-negative results due to previous antimicrobial exposure, and has also been shown to reduce antibiotic overuse and costs (93, 94).

Most guidelines recommend that at least two sets of blood cultures are taken to achieve relevant detection rates, each set comprising one aerobic and one anaerobic bottle rendering a total of 40 ml blood (95). However, strained circumstances at EDs sometimes risk leading to difficulties in achieving this task (96, 97). To facilitate collection of cultures at the ED, in contrast to previous recommendations, the same sting site including an extra vial for collection of a blood sample to be disposed of, may be advantageously used, since studies suggest a lower incidence of contamination with this approach (95).

The percentage of contaminants in blood cultures is often higher in the ED than in general wards because inter alia, higher personnel turnover demands continuous education in the technique of blood culture collection to improve the yield of this measure (98). Another important practical aspect in the ED, and prehospital setting, is the non-sterile situation that occurs at times due to urgent life-threatening situations and replacing peripheral venous catheters (PVC) when situation stability permits is of utmost importance. Also, placing blood culture incubators close to the ED may further improve the BC procedure at a relatively low cost (99).

Blood cultures have been shown to be negative in about 30%–70% of sepsis cases depending on the type and severity of sepsis. Ambiguous results regarding the prognostic value of positive blood cultures have been presented. Negative microbiological samples in sepsis patients have been associated with increased mortality, illustrating the value of a positive blood culture to enable adequate antimicrobial treatment. Conceivably, when blood cultures are negative or omitted, the culture-positive "red flag" indicating ongoing severe infection is not hoisted, which risks leading to decreased awareness of sepsis. However, when blood cultures are positive it may also reflect greater bacterial burden and, thus, poorer prognosis (88, 94, 98, 100).

The Sepsis Occurrence in Acutely III Patients (SOAP) study reports an almost equal prevalence of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial infections in ICU sepsis, however discrepancy exists per specialty and when the blood cultures are taken (54). The predominating pathogens that cause community onset sepsis include the Gram-positive species *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, and the Gram-negatives *Escherichia coli, Klebsiella* spp., and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (35, 85). Due to more patients being on immunosuppressive therapies, fungal sepsis has become more prevalent in recent decades. In the few studies available evaluating the heterogenous sepsis population at the ED, a similar pattern in aetiology was found (14, 23, 94). The role of the causative organism on mortality has shown divergent results. However, higher mortality rates for Gram-positive compared to Gram-negative organism have been found, a finding that may be explained by the higher prevalence attributed to the increased presence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Also, increased mortality was demonstrated for severe sepsis secondary to infection by anaerobic organisms (101).

Although blood cultures are considered the gold standard for diagnosing bacteraemia, the shortcomings of blood cultures include the lengthy time required for growth, and risk of contamination leading to false positive results and subsequent redundant antimicrobial treatment, as well as the risk of exacerbating antimicrobial resistance (102). Also, the sensitivity of blood cultures in identifying a pathogen seems to be inferior to that of modern Polymerase Chain Reaction techniques (PCR), since 20% of culture negative sepsis patients were found to have positive whole-blood PCR (103). In addition, multiplex real-time whole-blood PCR may lead to a faster and more accurate diagnosis of bacteria and fungi, particularly in patients where antibiotic therapy has been started, resulting in a reduction of days on inadequate antimicrobial treatment (104, 105). On the downside, PCR analysis is costly, adequate DNA target sequences need to be identified, non-viable bacteria may lead to false positive results, and there are difficulties in identifying polymicrobial infections.

In conclusion, and to answer the question that began this section - Yes, blood cultures are necessary at the ED, and may even save lives.

#### **Risk factors**

An exact estimate of the prevalent risk factors for sepsis remains elusive, and although most are non-modifiable, risk factors add important information when evaluating patients at the ED. Advancing age increases the risk for sepsis, which may be partly explained by the increased burden of comorbid conditions (34, 35, 106). Patients  $\geq$ 65 years comprise 12% of the total population, but account for about 65% of sepsis cases (106). Further, women have been reported to have lower incidence of sepsis, although the cause of this gender difference remains uncertain. Hormonal effects on innate and/or adaptive immunity, cardiovascular responses, or differences in identification may explain some of the difference (14, 17, 34, 107, 108).

High risk features also include comorbidities that depress host defence such as cancer, renal and hepatic failure, diabetes type 2, obesity, asplenism and immunosuppressive and immunomodulating treatments. Moreover, presence of antimicrobial resistant bacteria, alcohol abuse, recent surgical interventions, indwelling catheters, or conditions associated with diminished skin integrity predispose patients to infections leading to sepsis (54, 109-112). Recent hospital stay and subsequent altered microbiome is another important risk factor associated with increased risk of sepsis. Prescott and colleagues reported a three-fold increased risk of sepsis within the first 90 days after hospital stay in this patient group (113).

Further, genetic factors including the innate and adaptable immune system have been associated with increased susceptibility to certain pathogens (114). The identification of subgroups of sepsis patients based on molecular endotypes has been suggested in order to add prognostic and pathophysiological value (115). On the upside, some risk factors are to some extent modifiable, such as alcohol abuse, cigarette smoking, and lack of exercise (116-118).

## Symptoms & signs

Despite the development of numerous triage and supportive systems at the ED, the words of Sir William Osler, *"Listen to your patient, he is telling you the diagnosis,"* remain highly relevant, and in low- and middle-income countries this method may be the only available way to assess the patient (119).

Since sepsis may be caused by virtually any infecting agent and include several different foci, the clinical presentation, varies extensively (6, 54, 120, 121). The patient may present with non-specific sepsis symptoms as fever, chills, hypothermia, and malaise, which are hallmarks of the proinflammatory state rendered by the host response to infection, or by symptoms related to the infected organ such as cough, headache, dysuria, and skin changes. Common sepsis symptoms also include acute muscular weakness, confusion, dyspnoea, vomiting, diarrhoea, and acute severe pain in muscles,

abdomen, or elsewhere (41). Occasionally patients with severe forms of sepsis say, "It feels like dying". This is vital information, since encountering a life-threatening infection as sepsis for the first (and hopefully the last) time may be a new experience.



Figure 4. Sympthoms of sepsis

To identify patients prehospitally and at the ED, vital signs are measured. The presence of changes in body temperature, tachycardia, lowered oxygen saturation and blood pressure, tachypnoea, altered mental status, oliguria, and increased capillary refill time are evaluated (122-124). High body temperature signals risk of severe infection, and hereby facilitates early recognition, which may be one of the reasons for the association between low body temperature (<36 °C) at ED and higher 30-day in-hospital mortality risk in patients with suspected sepsis (125-127).

The sepsis patient usually presents after a relative short period of illness, from hours to days, and the presentation is often characterised by severe signs and symptoms of sepsis, although the opposite case, where symptoms are more diffuse and difficult to interpret, occurs frequently (128). When evaluating patients with severe infections at the ED, the risk of getting an insufficient medical history from patients with communication difficulties, an altered mental status, or language barriers, needs to be highlighted (91).

# Organ dysfunction

Organ dysfunction is an important predictor of outcome in sepsis and is currently defined in accordance with Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA). The immune response in sepsis induces severe macro and microcirculatory dysfunction that leads to profound global hypoperfusion, injuring multiple organs as the kidneys, liver, lungs, heart, central nervous system, and hematologic system. Presence and extent of organ dysfunction constitutes the hallmark of sepsis and determines the prognosis in the sepsis patient (33, 41, 57, 111, 129). Given that sepsis is a continuum of processes occurring simultaneously throughout the body, the damage should not be considered as isolated events. To ensure accurate supportive treatment of sepsis-related organ dysfunction at the ED, early identification of organ dysfunction by measurement of vital signs is essential.

Central in sepsis-induced organ damage is a mismatch between the perfusion and the tissues metabolic requirements. This discrepancy is further exacerbated by the inflammation-induced dysfunction, the redistribution of systemic blood volume, and the impaired tissue oxygen utilization. A global hypoperfusion state exhibits in the patient as **hypotension**, decreased capillary refill time, cold extremities, and mottled skin (33, 129). Previously, septic shock in sepsis was considered solely a distributive shock with intact cardiac function. Today, we know that **systolic and diastolic dysfunction** may be present even in early stages of sepsis (130).

In the lungs, the altered barrier function due to endothelial changes leads to accumulation of protein-rich oedema fluid in the interstitial spaces and subsequent impaired gas exchange, hypoxemia, and hypercapnia. A similar process is present in the gut epithelium, leading to a vicious cycle of bacterial translocation and further gut injury by luminal contents (131). Although the intestinal system may not be considered in the SOFA evaluation, it represents an important body surface that contain high density of lymphatic tissue and immune cells and may be a target of therapeutic potential (132).

Sepsis related **acute kidney injury (AKI)** is common, and more than half of the patients with septic shock develop AKI leading to substantially increased risk of death (130, 133). Despite its high frequency, the mechanisms of sepsis-associated AKI are still not completely understood. Previously, septic AKI was thought to be attributed to impaired renal perfusion and tubular necrosis. However, AKI has recently been suggested to involve more complex mechanisms of cytokine and immune-mediated microvascular and tubular dysfunction (130, 134-135).

In the coagulation system, sepsis leads to a procoagulant up-regulation and a subsequent platelet consumption and coagulation factors depletion, leading to sepsis-associated thrombocytopenia and DIC associated with worse outcomes (130).

In the liver, hypoxic hepatitis due to reduced oxygen delivery and sepsis-induced cholestasis seem to explain the organ dysfunction in sepsis. Also, the profound hemodynamic alterations, microthrombi formation, sinusoidal obstruction, and endothelium dysfunction impairs liver perfusion leading to subsequent injury and hypoxic hepatitis (130).

Due to the impaired systemic perfusion compared to the metabolic requirement in the **central nervous system**, approximately 70 percent of critically ill patients with sepsis have some degree of sepsis-associated encephalopathy (130). In addition, cardiac arrhythmias and sepsis-induced coagulopathy may further increase the risk of ischemic and haemorrhagic stroke among patients with sepsis. Moreover, when areas like the brainstem are affected, the autonomic dysfunction is exacerbated, perpetuating the hemodynamic instability, and increasing the risk of death.

### Diagnosis & prognosis

Considering the time-critical clinical course of sepsis, in which the early stages are highly amenable to treatment, early and correct sepsis diagnose at the ED is of huge importance. Yet, as previously described, diagnosing sepsis at the ED renders its own unique difficulties, since sepsis diagnosis requires an SOFA score of  $\geq 2$  SOFA points, and all SOFA parameters are not available at attendance (3).

In addition to the clinical evaluation by the ED or ID physician, laboratory testing including lactate levels, white blood cell count (WBC), C-reactive protein (CRP) or procalcitonin (PCT) concentrations, and the laboratory-demanded complete SOFA score assessment (thrombocytes, bilirubin, creatinine) are required, as are relevant cultures (e.g., blood, urine, sputum, wound). Further, diagnostic imaging may be useful to obtain correct diagnosis and subsequent effective sepsis treatment, including removal of the source of infection by surgery, or non-invasive interventional techniques, antimicrobials, and supportive measures.

In addition to inadequate antibiotics, source control, or supportive care, increased risk of mortality in sepsis has been associated with the extent of organ dysfunction, site of infection, aetiology, socioeconomics, and gender (41, 55, 101, 136). The outcome is also related to pre-septic morbidity, age, whether the infection is community acquired or health associated, and the presence of antimicrobial resistant bacteria (137, 138).

Also, the level of consciousness at presentation to the ED has been identified as a relatively strong predictor of mortality. Further, sepsis associated with health care-associated infections is often severe and has a high fatality rate. It can also be concluded that, the more that vital signs deviate from normal ranges, the greater the likelihood of mortality or admission to the ICU (139).

In an attempt to grade and classify the heterogenous group of sepsis patients, in a similar way oncologist have classified cancer patients with the Classification of Malignant Tumours (TNM), the PIRO (predisposition, insult, response, organ dysfunction) model, where four different aspects of sepsis are assessed, has been suggested. Predisposing factors as age, gender, and comorbid condition are considered, as well as site of infection, current pathogen, and if the infection is community or hospital acquired. Host response factors and the severity of the disease also render a way to describe sepsis in a standardized manner. Several of the four elements described are available at attendance at the ED, and the PIRO model may be applicable at the ED to assist personnel in identifying certain sub-phenotypes of sepsis with poorer prognosis as early as possible (140).

Another way to assess and stratify sepsis patients at presentation to the ED, based on routinely available clinical data, is suggested by Seymour et al. as part of the Sepsis Endotyping in Emergency Care (SENECA) project, which presents four distinct clinical phenotypes based on host-response patterns and clinical outcome ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ) that may allow improved decisions on evaluation, treatment, and surveillance in sepsis (141).

#### Antibiotics, source control, and supportive measures

When considering the improvement in sepsis ED care in recent decades, it is notable that the situation used to be quite different, with huge delays in administration of antimicrobial treatment occurring after the initial encounter with the physician in severe infectious diseases such as meningitis (142). Antibiotic administration at the ward was the norm, and we have come a long way in this regard. Despite the failure of many novel therapeutics in clinical trials, sepsis care has improved considerably.

**Source control**, including drainage of abscesses, removal of foreign bodies, and debridement of devitalized tissue, was first described in cuneiform Mesopotamian and Egyptian hieroglyphs, circa 3 000–600 years B.C. Hippocrates also applied similar techniques, and drained empyema with a thin tube into the lower costal spaces. The phrase *"pus bonum et laudabile"*, was associated with pus which flowed, in contrast to

the malodorous and stagnant pus related to poor prognosis. Nearly 500 years later, the Roman physician Cornelius Celsus coined the phrase "*rubor et tumor cum calore et dolore*", i.e., the redness and swelling with heat and pain, describing the process of inflammation, and suggested further that pus should be allowed to exit from wounds by not suturing them too tight. Later, in the 19<sup>th</sup> century, microorganisms were discovered, and Virchow added the fifth sign of inflammation, "*functio laesa*", loss of function (143).

Source control includes all measures applied in order to control an infectious focus, and to restore optimal function in the area of infection. An experienced surgeon once explained source control in infectious diseases as "a clogged pipe, or a hose with a leak". Surely, surgery is a lot more complicated, and interventions range from percutaneous drainage with radiological guidance to open traditional surgery, like laparotomy and thoracotomy (144, 145).

Although the principles of source control have been known for centuries, sepsis research has mainly focused on other measures, such as early recognition and timely antibiotics. Surgical approaches have evolved through principle and tradition, and only a few randomised clinical trials are available, due to the need to tailor the intervention to the unique circumstances, making it hard to standardise surgical therapy. Nevertheless, the area is vital, since one-third of ICU-treated sepsis patients are reported to be in need of source control (145). The optimal timing for source control measures is unknown, since prospective randomised trials are lacking, but SSC guidelines suggest adequate measures within twelve hours after attendance to the ED. However, the general rule is that source control should be achieved as soon as possible (92).

At the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, Paul Ehrhlich coined the term 'chemotherapy'. Ehrhlich later developed the first treatments against Treponema Pallidum, Salvarsan and Neosalvarsan, transforming syphilis treatment completely, and for twenty years these were the only treatments available for bacterial infections.

The discovery of **antibiotics**, from an extract of agar plate mould, by Alexander Fleming in 1929, would change the course of medicine. Fleming determined the antibacterial effect of penicillin on *staphylococci* and other Gram-positive pathogens. However, difficulties in purifying the compound led to waning interest in 'chemotherapy', and a decade later, the German pathologist and bacteriologist Gerhard Domagk discovered sulfamidochrysoïdine (Prontosil), shown to be effective in treating bacterial infections caused by *streptococci* in the body, despite having no effect in a test tube. A French scientist later found that Prontosil needed to be metabolised into sulphanilamide to be active, and interest in bacteria chemotherapy returned. As the first broad-spectrum antibiotic available, years before penicillin, sulpha had a central role in preventing and treating wound infections during World War II (146). Domagk received the Nobel Prize in Medicine and Physiology for this discovery in 1939.

The success of sulpha sparked new interest in attempts to purify penicillin. In 1939, a research group in Oxford, including Ernst Chain and Howard Florey, purified penicillin from a strain saved from Fleming, and injected eight mice with virulent Streptococcus. Half of the mice received penicillin and the other four constituted an untreated control group. The next morning all control mice were dead, and the treated mice were alive. These experimental findings, and a description of production and purification of penicillin, were published in The Lancet in 1940, and in 1941 the first person to receive penicillin was a policeman exhibiting a serious infection with multiple abscesses. The policeman improved significantly, but the supply of penicillin was unfortunately not sufficient for a full treatment course, so he died a few weeks later. Other patients received the drug with sustainable and successful effects. The revolutionary effect of penicillin resulted in Alexander Fleming, Ernest Chain, and Howard Florey receiving the Nobel Prize in Medicine and Physiology in 1945. The secondary effects of penicillin research were huge, leading to discovery of many other antibiotics in the coming years, including streptomycin, chloramphenicol, erythromycin, and vancomycin (146).

Antibiotic treatment is a cornerstone of sepsis care, and the empirical choice of antibiotics is based on the likely pathogens, site of infection, pharmacokinetics, and whether the infection is acquired in the community or health care. The decision is a delicate balancing act between ensuring adequate acute treatment for the life-threatening sepsis patient with subsequent high mortality, and at the same time hindering the inappropriate and excessive use of antimicrobials which enhances the risk of antimicrobial resistance (147). Despite perennial attention, adherence to sepsis guidelines remains sometimes poor, and initiatives to implement and evaluate sepsis interventions are still needed (92, 148, 149). In antibiotic treatment, focus also needs to involve decisions on subsequent dosing, since this is essential to achieve adequate antibiotic blood concentration, which is of great importance in critically ill patients (149, 150). By introducing antimicrobial stewardship as an adjuvant in sepsis management, these aspects of antibiotic treatment may be more effectively handled (96, 151).

**Supportive measures** in sepsis care are more recent. In 1964, a vascular surgeon in Boston, USA, Edward Frank, published a protocol for the management of septic shock, including continuous bedside attendance by a senior physician. In addition to cardiac and respiratory resuscitation, he recommended correction of hypovolemia, support for respiratory insufficiency, inotropic support with cautious use of pressors for hypotension, and the identification and prompt treatment of the causative infections.

Few hospitals were able to follow these recommendations in the 1960s, and while some of Frank's suggested interventions were irregular, others remain accepted practice fifty years later (152).

The evidence bases for supportive measures in sepsis care remain relatively weak, despite being part of current daily clinical practice for decades. There is still controversy regarding, for example, what fluid to use, and when and how to exert vasoactive therapy (92). The Early Goal Directed Therapy (EGDT), including several different interventions within 6 hours, administration of fluids, vasopressors, and transfusions of red blood cells, was suggested by Rivers et al. in 2001 (148). In this randomised study, 263 patients with severe sepsis and septic shock were randomised to EGDT or standard care, resulting in a 16% absolute risk reduction in mortality in the EGDT arm. However, since 2001, the EGDT has been re-evaluated in several studies, including the Protocolised Care for Early Septic Shock (ProCESS) trial, Protocolised Management In Sepsis (ProMISe), and the Australasian Resuscitation in Sepsis Evaluation Randomised Controlled (ARISE) trial (120, 153, 154). In these studies, no mortality benefits were found when applying EGDT compared to standard care. In summary, current research supports fluid administration in septic patients with hypotension, however the amount of fluid administrated will vary due to comorbidities and severity of sepsis. Further, other previously accepted 'truths' have been reconsidered when research has shown interventions to be less beneficial. An example, not limited to sepsis patients, is oxygen therapy, which was shown to be associated with inferior survival rates when targeting the interval 97–100%, compared to 94–98% (155).

In addition to fluid resuscitation, other essential parts of the ICU care include vasoactive treatments, ventilators, and renal replacement therapy (RRT). Also, corticosteroids, glucose control, deep vein thrombosis prophylaxis, stress ulcer prophylaxis in patients with risk factors of gastrointestinal bleeding, and nutritional support should also be considered and sometimes initiated at the ED in severely ill sepsis patients (92, 111).

Advances in sepsis care involve individualised approaches to treatment. The trend from a protocol-based care comprising a one-size-fits-all approach to a more personalised treatment of sepsis is appealing. Also, antibiotic stewardship may contribute with knowledge regarding tailored decisions in sepsis care. Several immunomodulatory agents are available. However, it remains unclear which patients will benefit from individualised approaches to treatment, and, in the future, treatments may be based on genetic profiles (114, 115). Also, to enable administration of these modern interventions, early recognition at the ED and adequate monitoring of the sepsis patients in order to identify deterioration at an early phase is vital throughout the sepsis care chain.

# Sepsis at the ED vs. sepsis at the ward or ICU

### A sepsis snapshot - the importance of vigilant ED staff

Sepsis studies are often conducted from an intensive care perspective, for several reasons: the most severely ill sepsis patients are cared for at ICU, patients there form a well-defined cohort where vital signs and laboratories are frequently monitored, and patients are systematically evaluated by ICU personnel. However, when applying an ICU perspective on sepsis, in addition to a considerable selection bias, important upstream aspects in sepsis care as early recognition are left out. Moreover, the research findings risk being non-generalisable and less beneficial for large patient groups, as the elderly, patients with limitations of care, and misjudged patients. Ineligibility for ICU care certainly does not mean that patients would not benefit from high acuity levels and subsequent adequate sepsis care (14, 65).

To optimise sepsis care, it is important to identify sepsis patients with a high risk of poorer prognosis at the earliest time point prehospitally or at the ED since proper initial interventions will reflect throughout the sepsis care chain. Although labour intensive, research in the ED setting is needed to minimise selection bias in sepsis research. However, an ED perspective to sepsis also offers unique challenges, e.g., strain and overcrowding in an ED with a high turnover of severely ill patients with a wide spectrum of life-threatening conditions.

The exceptional situation at the ED is demanding for patients, relatives, and personnel. For patients and relatives, ED visits are often characterised by the waiting time, anxiety and concern they entail. For ED personnel, high stress levels are inevitable, since they must handle high workloads under pressure without reduced quality and efficiency. On a daily basis, the ED staff witness how life can change dramatically in a moment, while myriad benign conditions are handled skilfully and swiftly. The ED personnel are remarkable in this respect, treating patients from the complete medical strata, as well as dealing with the consequences of language barriers, drug-addicted patients, and the most vulnerable members of society. Also, vigilance and great efforts are required of the ED staff, who are first to encounter emerging infections, and who, during mass casualties and public health emergencies, must rapidly treat huge amounts of patients in need of urgent medical attention (156, 157).

Another important aspect at the ED is prevention of health care-associated infections, which have traditionally focused on in-patient care (158, 159). Since more than half of all health care-associated infections are estimated to be preventable, the ED, as a bridge between ambulatory and hospital care, offers an important opportunity to apply preventive measures early in the care chain (77).

Further, sepsis recognition and risk stratification at the ED place a great deal of responsibility on the individual ED physician, compared to other medical emergencies. For example, patients with ST-elevation acute myocardial infarction rapidly receive a relevant screening with ECG and troponin initiated by the ED physician, and thereafter the cardiologist decides on treatment, classifies the type of infarction, cardiovascular damage, etc. In contrast to the AMI situation, patients with sepsis need an extensive evaluation to address the sepsis severity and organ dysfunction at the earliest time point, without sufficient screening tools and without having access to adequate information to enable SOFA evaluation. Surely this aspect hampers improvement work and emphasises the importance of developing relevant sepsis triage tools applicable in the ED setting.

In sepsis patients, therefore, the principle of "treat first what kills first" can be supplemented with "judge first and calculate later."

#### Quinten et al. 2018

To enable successful implementation of the Sepsis-3 in health care, the criteria will need to be adapted to such various settings as the ED. Primarily, this concerns the evaluation and grading of respiratory failure and blood pressure. Since respiratory Sequential Organ Failure Assessment is based on analysis of arterial blood gas that is lacking in most sepsis cases at the ED, using pulse oximetry (Sp02), although less exact, will be needed. Another parameter that needs to be customised to care outside the ICU is the mean arterial pressure (MAP), which can be calculated if needed from systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Another complicating aspect of the Sepsis-3 definition is that specified time frames for the organ dysfunction are lacking, which further hampers the appropriate diagnosis of sepsis (3). Also, the fact that the criteria for shock in sepsis require vasopressor-sustained MAP *and* elevated lactate levels, somewhat inconsistent with shock due to other conditions, may also need to be addressed. In addition to patient or health care delay, the delay in sepsis care at the ED may also be influenced by the ICU capacity that varies greatly between different countries and hospitals, a fact highlighted during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic (160). Further, not all patients will benefit from ICU care, hence an important assignment for the ED and ID physicians is to identify which patients will benefit from intensive care and who can be adequately handled at the general ward, to add quality to the ICU consultations (161).

Last, but not least, a decisive part of the sepsis chain is prehospital care. Suspected infections are common in the prehospital setting, and up to 80% of patients with severe sepsis admitted to the ICU from the ED arrived at ED by ambulance (162, 163). It is of great importance to identify sepsis patients prehospitally, since time to treatment has been shown to be halved when the septic patient is identified prehospitally (164). However, sepsis recognition is highly variable in the prehospital setting, and about one third of patients with severe infections present with normal vital signs to the ambulance, hence the difficulties in applying Sepsis-3 in a prehospital setting render even more challenges (165-167).

# Timely interventions - how early is prompt?

Timely antibiotic treatment reduces pathogen burden, modifies the host response, and reduces the extent of organ dysfunction. However, the exact temporal benefits of antimicrobial treatment may be unattainable since randomised trials would be unethical. However, studies evaluating the outcome in sepsis patients receiving inappropriate antibiotics, showed increased organ dysfunction and mortality (168, 169). In septic shock, the importance of the timeliness of sepsis treatment and the appropriateness of the first dose of antibiotics has been clarified (88, 92, 170-174). Further, in sepsis patients without shock, mortality benefits may also be conceivable in other rapidly progressive infectious diseases (170, 171).

An interesting and abundantly cited protocol-based ED study was conducted in New York State, USA. In this study, a protocol including blood cultures, lactate, and broad-spectrum antibiotics within 3 hours, and assessment for the need of vasopressor within 6 hours, was applied, rendering a decrease in risk-adjusted in-hospital mortality from 28.8% to 24.4% in the group receiving the protocol-based sepsis care, while it remained unchanged in the control group (175).

In another ED study, conducted by Seymour and colleagues, about 50 000 patients with severe sepsis and septic shock were included. In this study, mortality correlated with delay in bundle application, including measurement of lactate, collection of blood

cultures and antibiotic treatment. However, the correlation was strongest in a subgroup of patients receiving vasopressor treatment, i.e., patients with suspected septic shock (171). Another ED study of 35 000 patients with sepsis that received antibiotic treatment within 6 hours, showed that every hour of delay of antibiotics increased the absolute mortality in uncomplicated sepsis patients by 0.3%, in severe sepsis by 0,4%, and by 1.8% in patients with septic shock (170).

One of few randomised controlled trials was conducted in a prehospital setting, randomising about 2 700 patients to pre-hospital antibiotics or antibiotic treatment at the ED. In this study, time to antibiotic treatment decreased significantly but no differences in outcome were found, regardless of the severity of sepsis (176).

Interestingly, the two central consensus groups SSC and Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) diverge in what level of urgency is needed in sepsis interventions. Currently, SSC recommends the use of bundles, including standardised broad-spectrum antibiotics to all patients with sepsis within one hour (92), whereas IDSA objects to this assessment, considering it being too rigid and standardised, and that the recommendations risk leading to antibiotic resistance and adverse effects for the patient (147). On the one hand, delays in antibiotic administration may lead to deleterious effects, while on the other hand focusing on speed in sepsis interventions may come at the expense of clinical accuracy.

### Lactate - an accessible & beneficial biomarker at the ED?

Lactate acid was isolated in 1780 in sour milk by Carl Wilhelm Scheele (177), a Swedish chemist, however it was the German physician–chemist Johann Joseph Scherer who in 1843 first demonstrated lactate in human blood, during deterioration in puerperal fever (178). Several hundred years later, understanding and use of lactate in health care has developed considerably, and today it is an elemental tool in the management of severely ill patients at the ED.

Lactate acid is formed in cell metabolism from pyruvate, which cannot be disposed via the citric acid circle. Initially, lactate was considered solely a metabolic waste product, but we now better understand lactate's role in energy use and oxidation/reduction reactions, even under aerobic conditions (179). And in contrast to previous understanding, lactate may not be elevated as a consequence of diminished perfusion, but rather is accelerated glycolysis from adrenergic stress, thought to be an important cause of hyperlactemia in sepsis patients, and particularly in sepsis patients without overt shock symptoms (180). Measurements of venous lactate correlates well to arterial lactate, and is preferable at the ED, since arterial measurements may be painful, time consuming, and challenging in certain patient groups (181). Venous lactate levels are easily taken and may be readily monitored for trends within minutes with "point of care models", with adequate correlation to traditional methods. In Sepsis-3, lactate is included in the septic shock definition, where a lactate level above 2 mmol/L, in combination with hypotension requiring vasopressor therapy to maintain a mean arterial blood pressure of 65 mmHg or greater, is a requisite for meeting the criteria. However, as a marker for organ dysfunction, lactate has been omitted from the updated guidelines (3).

The early measurement of lactate enriches the ED and prehospital risk stratification and is an important supplement to vital signs and other clinical findings to identify sepsis patients with poorer prognoses (182). Also, valuable clinical support from lactate in occult hypoperfusion is essential since elevated lactate may reflect a relatively high mortality rate despite normal blood pressure (183). While a value within normal range does not rule out sepsis, an elevated value may identify patients with non-specific ID presentation, a not-infrequent occurrence at the ED.

The inability to clear lactate is associated with poorer prognosis in several emergency conditions besides sepsis, including trauma and cardiac arrest (184, 185). Patients admitted with a lactate level greater than 4 mmol/L represent, in most cases, non-infectious conditions like seizures, mesenteric ischemia, trauma, burns, toxins, or thiamine deficiency (186). In patients with elevated levels of lactate with no evidence of circulatory shock or general hypoperfusion, the patients' medical history (e.g., hematologic malignancy), ongoing medication (e.g., biguanide therapy), and potential exposures must be thoroughly evaluated.

A prospective ED study of patients with infection and an initial lactate level  $\geq 4 \text{ mmol/L}$  showed that mortality rates increased with increasing levels of lactate, and mortality in patients with lactate level  $\geq 4 \text{ mmol/L}$  was associated with a 28% in-hospital mortality (187). In another study of patients with severe sepsis, the prognostic value of lactate was found to be independent of shock state (188). Thus, the prognostic value of lactate may best be viewed as a continuous variable rather than a dichotomous ditto. In SSC, evaluation of lactate is recommended within 2–4 hours after initiation of therapy, to assure the physician that initiated treatment is working well, but also to indicate the need of a higher level of surveillance (92). Although consensus regarding exact goals or time frames for the lactate clearance is missing, a normalisation of the lactate level as soon as possible appears to be a reasonable goal (189).

#### Not all sepsis is severe, and vice versa

As previously stated, due to inconsistency and inaccessibility, the diagnostic criteria for sepsis risk becoming less relevant in an ED setting. As clinicians, we aim at identifying patients with urgent severe infections with poor prognosis, regardless of classification, and, despite support from triage tools and biomarkers, a skilful clinical approach to the patient with severe infections is crucial (161).

#### "A good doctor takes care of the patient not the disease"

#### W. Osler

Several important urgent patient groups risk being omitted when applying the Sepsis-3 definitions at the ED, including patients with pneumonia without organ dysfunction, patients with (viral and) bacterial meningitis with predominating symptom being headache, patients in the early stages of necrotizing fasciitis without organ dysfunction, immunosuppressed patients with diffuse infectious presentation, and patients with inability to communicate their medical history (8, 128). Urgent infections are common in the elderly, and often have an atypical presentation in this patient group including altered mental status, lack of fever, lethargy, loss of appetite, and incontinence, which are all nonspecific markers of infection (190, 191). Importantly, these patients need to be properly addressed to achieve necessary interventions (128).

To date, it is uncertain whether Sepsis-2 or Sepsis-3 best identifies patients with severe infections in need of timely interventions. However, when considering sepsis in a dichotomous way, instead of a continuous spectrum from mild infectious disease to full-blown septic shock in patients without organ failure, this risk leading to delayed recognition and therapeutic intervention. Regardless of current definitions, the approach to the patient with suspected infection in the ED setting must be clinical and adapted to the ED situation.

# Implementing sepsis guidelines in an ED setting

In contrast to the considerable effort in clinical research, surprisingly limited attention has been paid to ensuring that research findings are appropriately implemented in daily health care routines. The health care system is complex and involves several vital interacting components, including different professions, generalists, and intensely specialised participants, as well as different organisational levels, all collaborating to ensure best treatment of patients (192). The ability to coordinate medical interventions requires knowledge, communication skills, and humility, and may be challenging, but the unique situation when implementing interventions at the ED adds an extra dimension of complexity to the process.

Although available research is limited regarding the cost effectiveness of implementation of interventions in health care, knowledge is steadily increasing. Implementation of new healthcare guidelines often renders modest changes in performance, which may be explained by the fact that research-distribution methods applied in daily healthcare include the passive dissemination of information by mailing of educational materials, and publication of consensus conferences in professional journals. Unfortunately, regardless of importance, the impact of these methods has been shown to be insufficient. To achieve altered practices and ensure sustainable results, specific and intensive implementation strategies are necessary (193).

At best, implementation at the local and regional level are actively coordinated. Factors associated with successful implementations include educational outreach visits, recurrent reminders, and workshops. A multifaceted approach combining audits, feedback, reminders, and local consensus processes has proven to be more effective (194). The use of local opinion leaders, local consensus processes, and patient-mediated interventions has shown variable effectiveness, and guidelines, lectures, and distribution of educational material are unlikely to make substantial impact. To achieve a successful and sustainable implementation, a relevant long-term plan, including key tasks and job descriptions, roles, and responsibilities is vital, and economical resources must also be ensured. Also, when planning implementation of new guidelines, it is vital to fully recognise and adequately address the influence and importance of health care organisational factors (193, 195).

When implementing changes in an ED setting, special considerations must be addressed, including high personnel turnover, overcrowding, poor patient flow, and the preparedness of the healthcare personnel (196, 197). The base-line situation should also be evaluated to identify if and where practice diverges from guidelines, although such evaluations are labour intensive. To determine the impact of the implementation, continuous monitoring of process outcomes must be assessed as compliance. The concurrent monitoring of patient-oriented outcomes ensures that the implementation strategy leads to the anticipated effect. Useful tools to evaluate and monitor the quality of sepsis care, such as real-time measurements of quality markers of sepsis care, are advantageous and a way to achieve quality in sepsis care at the ED.

Further, knowledge and behavioural gaps at each local ED need to be addressed accordingly, and since all relevant stakeholders should be involved in a team-based approach, strategies for communicating and facilitating the desired changes will be acquired simultaneously and at multiple levels (196). Also, interventions should target clinical problems where sufficient evidence is present, and where emergency care can be significantly improved. Although it may be enticing to apply general implementation strategies, a certain degree of tailoring is often advantageous when implementing at the ED, since local culture and circumstances play a significant role in the results of the intervention (198).

In the health care, skilful personnel are the most valuable resource, performing highly specialised sepsis care relentlessly. Hence, in improvement work, attention must also be paid to the individual human beings who bring their own values, attitudes, and opinions to daily practice. Professionalism in the ED, in addition to skills and experience, is also ensured by correct prioritisation that enables workflow. Due to the unique and often crowded ED environment, it is important that the ED staff are provided with adequate support to enable change, and that the ED workflow is not disrupted by new procedures, but that guideline changes rather facilitate daily routines and empower personnel (196).

It has proved difficult to implement SSC bundles at the ED. However, in a large Spanish prospective multicentre study, the SSC guidelines were implemented by applying a standardised protocol and special training of physicians and nursing staff, rendering improvement in sepsis management bundles and reduced mortality (172). Another important example of a multifaced intervention was conducted in an ICU setting to improve sepsis care in accordance with SSC (199). In this study, local interdisciplinary teams, education materials, audits, and feedback of bedside compliance were applied, leading to improved compliance with the resuscitation bundle, improved quality of sepsis care, and decline in mortality. Even though the study was not applied in an ED setting, it illustratively targets the important aspect of monitoring both process outcomes, as compliance, and patient related outcomes. Although not applying exclusively an ED perspective, a few studies have evaluated the implementation of improvement work for patients with sepsis by comparing costs and health effects before and after implementation (200-203).

To enable standardisation of reporting in evaluation of complex health care interventions, valuable guidelines adhering to the recommendations of the Equator NETWORK, such as the Criteria for Reporting the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions in healthcare (CReDECI), have been developed (204). The CReDECI consensus recommendations were developed in 2012 and include 13 guiding items for a comprehensive reporting of the development, feasibility and piloting, and evaluation of a complex intervention in health care (205).

# Triage

#### An introduction to sepsis triage

To realise that our present knowledge of health care triage originates from casualties of war is disheartening. Although much of its history remains obscure, the documentation of triage dates back to at least the Napoleonic era, when the urgent need to prioritise casualties was evident. The early triage models were represented by two different segments, one focusing on returning soldiers to the front despite war injuries, the other with a more philanthropic focus. The philanthropic focus was represented by military surgeon-in-chief to Napoleon's Imperial Guard, D.-J. Larry, who performed hundreds of amputations in battle, and developed a system that categorised patients into three groups according to the severity of their illnesses or wounds and established that the most seriously wounded soldiers should receive priority attention, regardless of rank or distinction. Simultaneously, another of Napoleon's military surgeons, Pierre-François Percy, developed the ambulance system, in which a four-wheeled vehicle that conveyed surgeons and their equipment to the battlefield was developed, and which enabled wounded soldiers to return to battle more promptly (206, 207). These two systems continued to develop throughout the military conflicts of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries (208).

In addition to military current triage systems, medical triage includes prehospital and ED triage, inpatient triage, and mass casualty triage, where needs exceed the available resources. The first triage system, The Simple Triage and Rapid Treatment, was developed in the US in the 1980s (209). Over the years, algorithms to increase the benefits for each individual patient, and to prioritise patients with the most urgent need based on physiological data, have been developed. The algorithms applied, such as the Emergency Severity Index, in the US (210), the Manchester Triage Scale (MTS), used in the United Kingdom (211), the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (212) and the Australian Triage Score (213), often use a 3- or 5-level system. In Sweden the triage system most often used in the EDs and prehospitally is the Rapid Emergency Triage and Treatment System (RETTS), and, in surveillance, National Early Warning Score (NEWS/NEWS2) is applied (214, 215).

The burden on emergency care is increasing and patient expectations are rising, as are demand, financial pressure, and the ability to apply advanced medical interventions in patients that previously would have been non-survivors. It is vital to separate demand from need when handling patients prehospitally and in the ED, to enable appropriate focus in accordance with the philanthropic approach by D.J. Larry. However, developing a system that can span the full strata from critical illness and injury to minor illnesses and minor injury is a true challenge. Adding additional focus on certain patient groups further complicates the task.

Further, the differences between a screening tool and a risk-stratification tool need to be acknowledged, since a screening tool aims to identify patients with a particular disease from a larger pool of patients. Once these patients are identified, a riskstratification tool can be applied to determine their likelihood of meeting a particular outcome. In addition to the initial triage prehospitally and at the ED, adequate surveillance of sepsis patients is necessary, since patients with less severe sepsis may progress to shock after attendance at the ED (58).

## Early identification & risk-stratification - vital signs

Although no standardised system can replace the evaluation of an experienced and skilful physician or nurse, an easy and accessible way to assist in identifying, prioritising, and monitoring sepsis patients is to measure vital signs. The advantages of this established routine are several: vital signs can be promptly and repeatedly measured by all health care workers, and may be used objectively for clinical evaluation, triage, decisions on treatment and in monitoring and surveillance. Also, in patients with language barriers or other communication difficulties, vital signs can contribute information to the initial and critical evaluation, pending interpreter or information from relatives.

Patients with sepsis are identified in all areas of health care, and since a majority of sepsis cases are community-onset, patients are often diagnosed at the ED (84). In order to reach the therapeutic goals of SSC and IDSA, it is therefore important to focus on early recognition and triage of sepsis in the unselected patient material present at the ED. Ideally, patients with severe infections should be identified before organ dysfunction is established, therefore it is questionable to have a sepsis definition that recognises organ dysfunction once it has occurred (3).

Despite being widely used at the ED, surprisingly limited knowledge about vital signs in relation to clinical outcomes is available (14, 216-218). Current screening scores lack

sensitivity or specificity, and, in some cases, both (219, 220). Another important limitation is that most available studies have evaluated need of ICU or mortality, rather than the identification of patients with the most urgent need (220). Since sepsis patients are often elderly, have comorbid conditions, and/or limitation of care, it is important to include the full spectrum of patients that present to the ED (14).

To identify, prioritise, and remedy sepsis patients adequately in the daily routine at the EDs, triage models with a common denominator of measuring vital signs to systematically divide emergency patients into categories based on medical degree of urgency, have evolved. The qSOFA was developed to replace SIRS in identifying sepsis patients outside the ICU. qSOFA includes values for circulation, respiration, and CNS, and concerns have been raised that a screening tool like this should not be limited to three organ parameters, but should rather include the whole spectrum, including respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic or MAP), heart rate, and conscious state (9, 15). Also, the qSOFA only evaluates whether mental status is abnormal, not whether it has changed from baseline sensorium (15).

Regrettably, both SIRS criteria and qSOFA have shown to be insufficient screening tools in sepsis, being too unspecific and/or insensitive (10-13, 221-223). The Modified Early Warning Score (MEWS) and the similar National Early Warning Score (NEWS) seem to perform somewhat better, compared to qSOFA (224-226). However, not much is needed to perform superior to the qSOFA in this aspect, thus the comparison adds little or no relevance to the clinician. In theory, an advantage of using NEWS throughout the care chain could be that evaluation over time would improve and applying an equivalent terminology may be beneficial. This may seem appealing, but one must be aware of the difference between triaging an unselected large group of patients and monitoring or risk-stratifying patients with an established or suspected diagnosis. Some triage models add information about presenting symptoms and medical history to the information provided by the vital signs, a fact that may increase valuable focus on, e.g., immunosuppressed patients, patients at increased risk of bacteria with antimicrobial resistance, or patients who have visited endemic risk areas (214).

**NEWS (National Early Warning Score)** developed in 2012 and updated 2017, is based on the measurement of six physiological parameters (respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, body temperature, systolic blood pressure, pulse rate, and level of consciousness). The color-coded risk scale is divided into four categories, low, low/medium, medium, and high, and each parameter is graded from 1–3 with a total value of 20 (215). The guidelines also contain advice on adequate urgent measures and follow-up evaluations.



NEWS' ability to predict cardiac arrest, death, or unplanned intensive care of critically ill patients on a ward has a certain scientific basis (227). However, the corresponding research in sepsis patients is limited, and NEWS guidelines in sepsis care are essentially based on clinical consensus rather than prediction models (215). The scientific basis for NEWS' ability as a triage tool is often studied in non-representative, small patient cohorts and it is sometimes combined with a triage system like the Manchester Triage Scale (MTS) (11, 228). In several studies, NEWS has shown good sensitivity at the cutoff of 3–5 points, however, the specificity is very low at this level, which inevitably risks leading to depleted triage function in both the ED and ward (11, 228-231). Hence, establishing an appropriate cut-off for NEWS has proved to be problematic. A recent Swedish study comparing the ability of NEWS2 and RETTS to identify sepsis patients has been conducted. Unfortunately, in this study severe sepsis within 72 hours is evaluated, thus reflecting NEWS2' ability in monitoring rather than its triage function, which renders the results from this study less relevant in terms of ED triage (232).

In Sweden the triage system **RETTS** (Rapid Emergency Triage and Treatment System), which combines vital parameters and acute symptoms in accordance with *Emergency Symptoms and Signs* (ESS) to categorise emergency patients of different acuity levels, is used at the majority of EDs (214). The combination of vital parameters and symptoms prehospitally, or at arrival to the ED, results in one of five priority levels (red, orange, yellow, green, and blue) which determines the urgency of medical assessment, the level of monitoring required, and recommended blood tests. The blue

acuity level is often omitted in research, since patients in this category are referred to treatment outside the ED. Patients classified in the highest priority level, red, have a potentially life-threatening condition, and should be evaluated immediately by a physician, while patients in the next priority level should be evaluated by a physician within 20 minutes, with a decreasing need for early assessment for each colour.

To date, a Norwegian study showed good sensitivity for red and orange RETTS in identifying seriously ill sepsis patients in the ED. However, the evidence bases for RETTS as a sepsis triage tool remains sparse (13).

**BAS 90-30-90** is another Swedish model used to identify severe sepsis patients in healthcare. The model focuses on the occurrence of either systolic blood pressure <90 mm Hg, respiratory rate > 30 / min, or oxygen saturation <90%. The model has been evaluated in a couple of retrospective studies and has lower sensitivity than modern triage systems (124).

**MEDS** (Mortality in Emergency Department Sepsis score) is another validated scoring system at the ED. Here, the focus has been on patients with suspected sepsis in the ED, and independent risk factors for death have been identified in this population (233). In addition to vital signs and predictors of mortality, the model relies on lab values, which inevitably leads to delay in triage decisions.

Importantly, when implementing sepsis bundles in an ED setting, complicating factors may affect the initial diagnosing. In patients with suspected sepsis admitted to the ICU, only half had a diagnosis of probable or proven infection at the ICU (90). It is a delicate balancing act to identify as many sepsis patients as possible, but at the same time consider the risk for alert fatigue (234-236). Concurrently, the risk of under-triage in patients without fever, or in patients with a diffuse presentation, must be taken into consideration (123, 128, 167). Quite dispiriting is the fact that, despite the latest SSC guidelines endorsing re-evaluation of vital signs as parameters for response to treatment, the corresponding recommendation for the vital role of early recognition of sepsis at the ED is not as clear (92). To support emergency personnel further in early identification and adequate monitoring of patients with sepsis, various electronic support systems are becoming more frequent. Hopefully, these will simplify identification and monitoring and contribute to adequate focus on patients at risk of poor prognosis (237).

However, any sepsis tool or surveillance model used must be validated in the emergency setting. Also, to attain a global focus, models for early recognition need to be low-cost, and to utilise non-invasive and easily measurable physiological parameters with high sensitivity outside the hospital setting. Here, models based on vital signs may be advantageous, however, large multicentre trials are needed to explore whether these models are applicable globally (7, 238).

#### The infectious diseases physician - a key feature at the ED

In addition to the dedicated work carried out around the clock by ED colleagues, the ID physicians may contribute special knowledge to ensure that serious and sometimes rare and complicated infectious diseases are adequately cared for, in a similar way that cardiologists and neurologists assist in the treatment of patients with acute myocardial infarction or stroke. Also, a well-established collaborative relationship between ED and ID colleagues is advantageous and increases preparedness for different kind of infectious disease scenarios (239).

There have been several interventional studies to improve sepsis care at the ED in accordance with SSC, involving early recognition, Rapid Response team (RRT), and automatised algorithm sepsis screening, leading to shortened ICU length of stay and overall hospital stay, reduced mechanical ventilation use, and lower mortality (199-201, 240-244). Recent sepsis studies have often focused on speed, but by adding routine bedside or virtual/on-line/telephone consultation with an ID physician to the therapeutic arsenal, a balanced focus between speed and accuracy may result. There is growing evidence supporting the association between early engagement of ID physician and improved outcomes, including reduced mortality, shortened length of hospital stay, fewer readmissions, and subsequent lower health care cost (96, 151, 203, 245, 246).

At the ED, the ID physician may contribute knowledge on appropriate antibiotic treatment. In the majority of sepsis cases, the empirical antibiotic therapy needs to be directed against a broad range of pathogens and spectrum, route, dose, and dosing intervals need to be addressed. Indeed, the empirical antibiotics initiated at the ED have major impact, since it is often continued in the first days after admission. The importance of avoiding otiose antibiotic treatment and applying appropriate and rapid de-escalation of antimicrobial therapy to reduce the risk of antibiotic resistance, negative effects on the microbiota, drug intolerances, toxicity, and other side-effects, also needs to be properly highlighted (247). Importantly, nearly a tenth of patients with infections that presented to the ED were shown to be misdiagnosed at the site of infection, a finding associated with a >10% increase in in-hospital mortality (91). Also, as previously stated, one-third of all sepsis patients in the ICU are in need of source control, consultation with other specialists, in addition to the ID physician, may also be indicated (145).

Although every day clinical practice cannot be rigged for a pandemic, more common ID events, such as outbreaks of antimicrobial resistant bacteria and influenza epidemics, may motivate the regular presence of ID physicians at the ED. Most countries in Europe have acknowledged infectious diseases as an independent specific specialty, often within general internal medicine. However, in absence of ID physicians, a physician with special interest in infections and antimicrobial treatment may also be of great value at the ED when evaluating patients with severe infections. Despite the fact that the necessary number of ID physicians in a population is not established, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic quite clearly illustrates an unprecedented demand for ID physicians, and deficits in the ID-physician workforce in some countries have resulted in insufficient preparedness for the current situation (239, 248).

The increasing incidence of antibiotic resistance will probably further complicate the treatment of patients with severe infections, and ID physicians play a central role in ensuring sustainable use of antibiotics and preventing antibiotic resistance and health-associated infections. Also, the importance of minimising the inappropriate and inconsistent use of antibiotic applies to both humans and animals (249).

#### The triage nurse - another key feature at the ED

As previously stated, both ED and ID physicians are vital in the initial sepsis care at the ED, however, without appropriate triage to identify which patients to treat first in a strained and overcrowded ED, this task is difficult. As the first health-care professional to encounter patients at the ED, the triage nurse has a unique opportunity to initiate and facilitate a process that will lead to prompt evaluation of the sepsis patient (250-254). The triage nurse contributes clinical experience and being 24-hour availability, seven days per week, providing an important role in enabling correct and continuous generation of alerts. To enable this task, the triage nurse relies on symptoms and physiological indicators as vital parameters, and consciousness according to different scoring systems that reflect the need for time-sensitive interventions. Also, measurement of lactate may be advantageous in highlighting sepsis patients with poor prognosis and hence a helpful tool for the triage nurse and, when needed, to correctly alert the ED or ID physician (92, 182, 183, 187).

Triage decisions are complex, and the body of evidence in the role of the triage nurse in sepsis care is scarce and often linked to (electronic) tailored protocols that are used, in addition to current triage system, rather than the role of the individual triage nurse (255). However, in cardiology and other well-defined areas, the scientific yield is greater, and here decisions on triage have been shown to be influenced by several factors, both patient-related and contextual. Although knowledge of the varying presentation related to age and sex is increasing, general appearance, communication barriers, physiological markers are factors that also may affect the triage decision (256-259). Contextual factors include overcrowding and when and how the patients arrive at the ED (260).

In sepsis triage, it is a strength that the triage nurse is used to apply methods for the rapid identification and management of other medical conditions, such as the golden hour in multi-trauma patients, and the need for timely percutaneous coronary intervention in acute myocardial infarction. Given that the most common reason for delay in sepsis interventions relates to insufficient recognition, the combination of education and easily applicable triage tools to identify sepsis patients with high acuity is probably the most efficient way of improving this time-critical aspect of the sepsis care chain (203, 219, 220, 261). Also, to continuously evaluate why some patients are misclassified (for example, patients with immunosuppressive treatment, and patients with hypothermia) by triage audits or follow-up with nurses, is of huge importance to promote further improvement in this area (262).

In the future, support from electronic systems in screening for sepsis at the ED may further decrease the time to evaluation and intervention, and by applying sepsis-response teams at the ED, sepsis bundle compliance may improve further (200, 263-265)

# Biomarkers

#### An introduction to biomarkers

A biomarker is an objective, quantifiable, and reproducible indicator of biological state or condition, and these have a long history of use in clinical medicine, for example, the measurement of blood pressure as an established surrogate marker to determine adverse cardiovascular outcomes (266).

The concept of biomarkers was applied as early as the 1940s, by Mundkur et al. who first used the term biochemical markers (267). In rheumatology, the detection of certain autoantibodies as rheumatoid factor has been a reliable and important diagnostic marker for rheumatoid arthritis for over 50 years. Today, laboratory-measured biomarkers are important tools in most medical areas, are continuously being developed and refined, and form an essential part of the future of 'personalised' medicine.

In 2000, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) convened a Biomarkers Definitions Working Group that defined a biomarker as "a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indication of normal biologic processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention" (268). A few years later, the WHO defined a biomarker as "any substance, structure, or process that can be measured in the body or its products and influence or predict the incidence of outcome or disease" (269). WHO further stated that a true definition of biomarkers includes "almost any measurement reflecting an interaction between a biological system and a potential hazard", including everything from pulse and blood pressure, through basic chemistries, to more complex laboratory tests of blood and other tissues (270).

A plethora of biomarkers for a variety of diseases has been discovered and evaluated last decades, and in several medical fields, the development of biomarkers has revolutionised care in, for example, diabetes, cancer, neurodegenerative and cardiovascular disease. However, due to the complex nature of disease pathogenesis and outcome, in-depth knowledge of the underlying abnormalities associated with the condition is a prerequisite. However, we rarely or never have the complete picture of a pathophysiological process, hence continuous evaluation of biomarkers as surrogate

markers is needed, and studies using biomarkers should preferably apply clinically meaningful outcomes (271, 272).

### Early identification & risk-stratification - biomarkers

In addition to clinical scores, biomarkers constitute a helpful tool in risk-stratification of sepsis patients at the ED, assisting in detection, risk assessment, prognosis, diagnosis, and therapeutic guidance. Biomarkers may also identify patients at risk of deterioration and the need for early escalation of interventions and surveillance, and accurately differentiate the 'ill-looking well' from the 'well-looking ill', which sometimes may be difficult in vital parameter-based models or in patients with communication barriers. In sepsis, biomarkers may, in addition to risk stratification, assist in identifying specific types of infections and guide targeted antibiotic therapy, or identify septic patients at risk of certain organ dysfunction, and biomarkers may, in the future, enable physicians to develop individualised treatment plans (273-277)

The ideal biomarker in infectious diseases would rapidly identify and differentiate bacteria, virus, parasite, and fungi, including susceptibility and resistance patterns. It should also be highly sensitive and specific to enable tailored antimicrobial therapy leading to diminished risk of antibiotic overuse and antimicrobial resistance. To enable implementation in low-income countries, the methods also need to be simple to use and associated with relatively low cost. Also, in the ED, practicability is important when using biomarkers. Tests should optimally be non-invasive, and easy to execute, and the results should be rapidly available. Ideally, the test should be suitable for point-of-care testing (278).

Several potential biomarkers have been suggested in sepsis care. In a study from 2010, Pierrakos and colleagues evaluated 178 biomarkers, including WBC, PCT, lactate, interleukins and other cytokines, CRP, and procoagulant factors, and concluded that few had sufficient specificity or sensitivity to be routinely applied in clinical practice. Ten years later, the same authors conclude that progress in identifying biomarkers with clinical significance has been limited. Perhaps it is not unexpected that a heterogenous and dynamic condition such as sepsis would fail to be identified by one single biomarker, the large number of pathogens, sites of infection, host-related factors, and treatments altogether rendering a somewhat unique situation. Hence, measuring a set of biomarkers involved in different sepsis pathways may be an appealing future approach (279).

Pierrakos highlight the methodological insufficiency in current biomarker studies, where only few biomarkers had been assessed in studies of more than 300 patients, sepsis biomarkers rarely exceed Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve (AUROC) above 70, and many of the biomarkers have been evaluated in a limited number of clinical studies and one third in just a single study. Further, biomarker studies need to have a more standardised methodology to accurately evaluate effects on relevant clinical outcomes, and to ensure random distribution of risk factors, a significant number of patients needs to be included (274, 275).

Current biomarkers used at the ED include, leukocytes, CRP, PCT, lactate, thrombocytes, creatinine (SCr), and bilirubin. CRP, lactate, and PCT are by far the most widely used biomarkers in an international spectrum (280). In Scandinavian countries, CRP is a natural part of daily clinical practice, however, in other parts of the world the situation is somewhat different, and PCT or other biomarkers are more common in the ED setting.

The currently available biomarkers have been used in clinical daily practice for decades, and thoughtful clinicians are aware of their clinical use and shortcomings. However, to establish the clinical value of novel biomarkers is quite challenging due to insufficient research. For example, PCT, the pre-hormone of calcitonin, which is elevated in various inflammatory and infectious situations, was initially suggested as useful in diagnosing and assessing prognosis in sepsis at the ED, since high levels were found in patients with sepsis and multiorgan failure (281). However, due to moderate diagnostic accuracy, and difficulties in establishing an appropriate cut-off for sepsis, PCT has shown to be less useful in the ED setting (282). On the other hand, in the ICU, a PCT-based algorithm has been shown to reduce antibiotic treatment without compromising outcomes, and SSC recommends PCT as guidance for the discontinuation of antibiotic therapy in the ICU (92).

Further, in a Cochrane analysis including 32 studies in 12 countries in primary care, ED, and ICU settings, when PCT was used to guide antibiotic treatment in acute respiratory infections participants compared to control participants, a reduction of total antibiotic exposure, and a reduction of side effects, with lower mortality, was shown. Since patients with immunosuppression and non-respiratory infections were not included, further research is needed to assess these patient groups (283).

# Mid-regional proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM)

Adrenomedullin (ADM) is a 52 amino acid peptide hormone, and a member of the calcitonin peptide family, that was originally identified in 1993 in a patient with pheochromocytoma (284). ADM is produced throughout the body by cells as endothelial cells, monocytes and macrophages, and circulates at low picomolar concentrations in healthy persons. However, plasma concentrations are significantly elevated during pathological events, and the dynamic ADM concentrations reflect disease severity. Since measurement of ADM has been shown to be difficult due to its rapid blood clearance ( $T\frac{1}{2}$  22 minutes), the more stable and reliable precursor, midregional pro-adrenomedullin (MR-proADM), is used to estimate ADM in a 1:1 ratio (285-287).

ADM is a multifaceted regulatory peptide involved in several biological processes, including vasodilatation, inotropic, diuretic, natriuretic, and bronco dilating effect (288). ADM has also been shown to be a molecule capable of ameliorating endothelial dysfunction, seize anti-inflammatory effect, and to exert bactericidal effects through activation of complement. Potential clinical application of MR-proADM measurements in diagnosis and risk stratification has been suggested in acute myocardial infarction and congestive heart failure and, in sepsis, elevated MR-proADM levels has shown to reflect the early microvascular changes that subsequently lead to organ damage in sepsis (287, 289-291).

MR-proADM is emerging as a promising biomarker for early identification of organ failure and has been shown to be rapidly elevated in the initial sepsis stages following burns, in invasive fungal infections, and in patients with septic shock (292, 293). Albeit conflicting evidence, MR-proADM has been shown to have a more accurate disease severity and mortality risk stratification compared to clinically established biomarkers and scores in several studies (294-298). Also, changes in MR-proADM kinetics may be used to identify patients at risk of treatment failure, who are in need of alternative therapeutic interventions despite ongoing antibiotics (295). Hence, MR-proADM may be of clinical utility in the early risk stratification of sepsis patients, however, interventional studies are needed to confirm current hypotheses, and take further steps to enable incorporation of MR-proADM measurements in clinical daily practice.

Since ADM has shown several beneficial effects in sepsis, including stabilising the microcirculation in inflammation, protecting against endothelial permeability and deleterious effects in organs in response to bacterial induced shock, and restoring endothelial stability in infected organs, an interesting target for therapeutic intervention

has arisen. However, since ADM causes vascular smooth muscle cell vasodilation, increasing its concentration may be harmful in patients with septic shock. To avoid the hypotensive effects and increase the beneficial effects of ADM, different efforts have been made to counteract this effect. Adrecizumab, a non-neutralizing adrenomedullin-specific antibody that inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, restoring endothelial integrity without leading to vasodilatation, has shown beneficial effects on hemodynamics and mortality in animal models of septic shock. Adrecizumab redistributes ADM from the extravascular to the intravascular space and hereby promotes the valuable effects of closing endothelial gaps, while preventing vasodilatation. An ongoing randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled, biomarker guided, phase II study, is currently evaluating Adrecizumab in patients with early septic shock and high concentrations of circulating biologically active plasma adrenomedullin (299-301).

Interestingly, in addition to its suggested role in sepsis, MR-proADM concentrations in patients with COVID-19 seems to be constantly elevated in non-surviving patients at the ICU and may predict mortality more accurately than other biomarkers (302).

# Proenkephalin A 119-159 (penKid)

Proenkephalin A 119-159 (penKid) is a 5-kDa peptide first identified in 1980 in the adrenal gland (303). PenKid is part of the enkephalin family, derived from the same precursor as met- and leuenkephalins, and is stable for at least 48 hours, to be compared to the more unstable enkephalins, which have a half-life of less than 15 minutes. PenKid is considered a reliable surrogate marker for enkephalins (304).

Enkephalins are small endogenous opioid peptides that are involved in a wide range of biological processes by acting on delta opioid receptors (305). Second to the central nervous system, the highest density of delta opioid receptors is found in the kidneys (306). Despite knowledge gaps regarding the exact effect of enkephalins on the kidneys, studies suggest a possible regulatory role of diuresis, natriuresis, or by inhibiting antidiuretic hormone (307, 308). Since penKid is not influenced by age or sex and is protein-bound in plasma, and filtrated in the glomerulus, it is an interesting biomarker for kidney function in critical illness, sepsis, heart failure, and in CKD (309-313). Further, penKid has shown to be a specific biomarker for renal function and associated with AKI in septic patients at the ICU (309, 310, 313).

The gold standard method to determine GFR is through inulin or iohexol clearance, methods that are labour intensive and unfeasible in acute clinical settings. Assessment of kidney function at the ED has to date been based on urine output and creatinine-based methods to estimate glomerular filtration rate (GFR). Due to confounding factors as muscle mass, volume status, nutrition, and medication, creatinine-based methods tend to be unreliable. In addition to the confounding factors, latency in elevation of SCr inevitably leads to delays in recognition of AKI (314). Particularly, the shortcomings of SCr are most deleterious in critically ill patients where kidney function can change rapidly (315).

An accurate and rapid estimation of the non-steady state of kidney function in acute sepsis care is crucial. In patients at risk of AKI, early preventive and therapeutic strategies in accordance with "Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Bundles" are of huge importance. Unfortunately, the importance of early recognition of AKI, still seem to be insufficient. Current evidence suggests that penKid is a more accurate surrogate marker to estimate GFR or to detect AKI compared to SCr-based methods. In the future, measurements of penKid may be part of the daily handling of sepsis patients. However, as with the majority of sepsis biomarkers, the availability, price, and limited data on penKid-based management on clinical outcomes must be further addressed (316).

# The present investigation

#### Aims

The overall aim in this thesis was to improve early recognition and initial sepsis care at the ED by a region-wide implementation of a novel triage algorithm, Sepsis Alert, and by identifying biomarkers for risk stratification in sepsis patients at the ED.

The specific aims of this thesis were:

- I. To study whether a newly established triage model, Sepsis Alert, affected time to antibiotics, number of blood cultures and lactate measurements taken, length of hospital stay, and mortality at the Emergency Department at Skåne University Hospital, Malmö.
- II. To investigate whether the triage model, Sepsis Alert, affected fulfilment of the current Surviving Sepsis Campaigns process measures of sepsis care, length of hospital stay (including ICU care), and mortality at the Emergency Departments in the Skåne Region.
- III. To evaluate whether a single assessment of MR-proadrenomedullin taken at arrival at the ED may guide the need of antibiotic treatment in patients with sepsis.
- IV. To investigate whether a single assessment of proenkephalin A 119-159 (penKid) taken at arrival at the ED predicts sepsis related acute kidney injury, multi-organ failure, and 28-day mortality.
## Materials & methods

#### Study designs & settings

The patients in Studies I-III included in this thesis were recruited at the Emergency Department of Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, a tertiary academic centre that serves about 350 000 inhabitants, with approximately 85 000 visits per year. In Study IV, the patients were included from eight EDs in Skåne Region, a region with 1.3 million inhabitants and approximately 400 000 annual ED visits, including two tertiary academic care centres, three secondary care hospitals, and three community hospitals. At the tertiary academic centres, ID physicians were available all day and night. At the secondary care hospitals, ID physicians were available from about 8 am–10 pm, and otherwise available for phone consultation. At the community hospitals, the consultations were solely conducted by phone.

Study I was a retrospective, observational, interventional study, and Study IV was an interventional multicentre study that was prospectively planned and retrospectively evaluated. In Study IV, the development of new Regional Sepsis Care Guidelines, the ethical committee application, the formation of the regional and local sepsis care teams, the start-up meetings at each hospital engaging the ED head and management, the special education program, the presentation of base-line values for quality markers of sepsis care at each hospital, and, finally, the execution of the model, all constituted prospective efforts. However, since data were collected retrospectively, the setting did not fulfil the demands of a prospective study. Studies II & III were observationally and prospectively designed, and in addition Study II included a post-hoc analysis.

The most important purpose of the study designs chosen was to diminish selection bias and enable inclusion of patients often left out of sepsis studies, such as those with language barriers, impaired consciousness, and patients that died during ED stay. Randomised Clinical Trials (RCT) are often considered superior to other available study designs. This may withstand discussion when aiming at conducting studies in unselected patient cohorts, since the need of informed consent inevitably leads to selection. Also, when applying a randomised clinical trial setting to an implementation process including educational efforts, the educational effects will inevitably be contagious and carry over to the control group.

### Participants

Patients attending the EDs in the Skåne Region are registered in a database at presentation to the ED and categorised in accordance with urgency by the RETTS system as red, orange, yellow, or green (blue). The RETTS is based on vital parameters at presentation at the ED or prehospitally. Patients that present with one or more of the following criteria are categorised as red RETTS (highest priority group), i.e., SBP <90 mmHg, venous oxygen saturation <90% despite oxygen treatment, respiratory rate >30 breaths per minute, HR >130 beats per minute, seizures, or unconscious state. A more complete description of the different RETTS categories is provided in the Supplementary material in Study IV. Patients included in the final analysis were selected according to this initial RETTS registration by staff not engaged in the study, which should diminish the risk for selection bias.

We extracted the ED charts from 58 436 and 195 607 unselected patients  $\geq$ 18 years presenting at the ED with red RETTS. In **Study I**, 1 837 patients, and in **Study IV**, 5 321 patients were identified as red RETTS from the electronic ED database register "Liggaren". A triage nurse then manually reviewed these charts to search for information regarding fever  $\geq$ 38°C or history of fever/chills within the past 24 hours. In Study I, hypothermia, <35°C, was also evaluated. Of the 1 837 and 5 321 patients, 221 and 1 066, respectively, fulfilled the fever criteria. Medical records from three 3month periods between 1 January and 31 March, prior to start-up 2010, at start-up 2012, and after implementation, in 2014, of the Sepsis Alert, were further analysed in Study I. And in Study IV, three-month periods were evaluated in a similar way before 2015, and after implementation in 2017. Patients with predominating surgical conditions or trauma were not included.



Figure 5. Flow chart participants 2015 and 2017, Study IV.

Inclusion criteria for **Studies II and III** were suspicion of infection as judged by the research nurses at the ED. In addition, the patient needed to fulfil two or more of the following SIRS criteria: body temperature >38°C, <36 °C or self-reported fever within 24 h, respiratory rate >20 breaths per minute or heart rate > 90 beats per minute, hence meeting the definition of sepsis in accordance with Sepsis-2. Leucocytosis and leucopoenia were not used due to unavailability during triage. The study patients were enrolled upon admission to the ED at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, 6 am–6 pm. During the recruitment phase from 1 December 2013 to 1 February 2015, a total of 647 patients  $\geq$  18 years old were enrolled. Patients with predominating surgical condition or trauma were not included.

#### Data collection

In all four studies, research nurses manually reviewed the medical charts to collect data regarding comorbidities, concurrent medication, clinical parameters, vital signs, standard blood tests, culture results, limitation of care, and RETTS acuity level. Time to antibiotics, type of antibiotic treatment, and non-specific supportive therapy, such as oxygen, intravenous fluids, vasopressor treatment, mechanical ventilation, renal replacement therapy (RRT), length of hospital stay, level of care, in-hospital and 28-day all-cause mortality were also recorded. In addition, in Study IV, 90-day mortality was documented. Also, in Studies II and III, the research nurses interviewed patients about, i.a., social factors. All patients were followed for at least 28 days.

Laboratory results including haemoglobin, WBC, platelet count, CRP, SCr, serum bilirubin, serum lactate, activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), and International Normalized Ratio (INR), were recorded. Further, microbiological tests and radiological examinations were noted. For some of the criteria defining organ dysfunction, the data set was incomplete. Laboratory values for estimation of coagulation and liver function (bilirubin) were absent in 20% of the cases in Study IV, and in Study I the values for estimation of coagulation were absent in 35%, and for liver function (bilirubin) in 50%.

Missing values (i.e., data collected at the ED or blood samples for biomarker analysis) in studies II-III occurred mainly in the early phase of the patient collection. In study 2 (final n=213), fifty subjects were excluded due to missing data. The subjects with missing data vs those included in study II did not differ significantly in terms of 28-day mortality (9.8% vs 8.9%) or age 74 (62-82) vs 71 (60-84) years. In Study III, fifty-six patients were excluded due to incomplete data sets. The subjects with missing data vs those included in study III differed slightly but not significantly in terms of 28-day mortality (10.5% vs 8.5%) and age 72 (55-80) vs 73 (61-82) years.

In all four studies, the study physician examined the medical charts to evaluate clinical, microbiological, laboratory, and radiological findings to establish infectious diagnosis and organ dysfunction in accordance with consensus criteria and the current Surviving Sepsis Guidelines (111). In patients not clearly meeting criteria for the infectious diagnosis or organ dysfunction, two ID physicians reviewed the data independently and determined the final classification.

#### The biobank

Samples for analysis of biomarkers were collected within one hour after attendance to the ED, including 2 EDTA tubes, 1 serum tube and 1 citrate tube. After centrifugation, the plasma was pipetted aliquoted into 250 ul microliter to REMP-plates. The blood samples were centrifuged and stored at -80°C until analysis.

The routine laboratory analysis was conducted at the local certified laboratory at the Department of Clinical Chemistry of Skåne University Hospital. MR-proADM was analysed using a commercially available double sandwich immunoassay (KRYPTORT<sup>TM</sup> Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany) at the Clinical Research Center, Lund University, Malmö. PenKid was measured in duplicates using chemiluminescence immunoassay (Sphingotec GmbH, Hennigsdorf, Germany) at ASKA Biotech, Hennigsdorf, Germany, in June 2018. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was determined by the formula derived from the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) Study.

#### Sepsis Alert – the triage model

When developing the Sepsis Alert, we emanated from the available RETTS system, that was used at all the EDs in the Skåne Region during the study periods. For proper focus on patients with severe infections, we added information regarding fever  $\geq$ 38°C or history of fever/chills within the past 24 hours to existing RETTS categorisation. If both the red RETTS criteria (described at p. 72) and the fever criteria were fulfilled, the Sepsis Alert would be triggered, and the patient was triaged to a designated sepsis line for immediate evaluation by the attending physician supported by an infectious diseases (ID) specialist at the ED. When an ID physician was not available, consultation by phone was conducted. The ID physician advised on diagnostic procedures, antibiotic and supportive treatment, level of care, and surveillance.

Also, an interactive mandatory educational program consisting of one-hour case-based seminars for smaller groups of ED personnel (15–20 participants), was conducted by the local sepsis care team supported by the regional coordinators. These seminars covered the definitions, recognition, and treatment of sepsis patients, and briefing on the new triage algorithm. Having authentic and credible patient cases that represented each ED, was emphasised. In addition, all prehospital personnel received a one-hour lecture on sepsis and Sepsis Alert, which was conducted as part of their continuing education. Also, a physician or an ED nurse attended weekly meetings to remind the ED staff of the new triage line and to provide feed-back on quality markers of sepsis care.

## Sepsis Alert - the implementation

When implementing the triage algorithm Sepsis Alert regionally, a coordinator (the study physician) was appointed to lead the process. The coordinator initiated the process by creating a small regional sepsis team consisting of an experienced ED nurse with research experience and an experienced ED medical secretary, to prepare for the upcoming implementation.

Thenceforth, at an early stage of the planning, the coordinator engaged all ED management levels in a considerable information campaign. Thereafter, sepsis teams consisting of one physician (either an ID or an ED physician, or a specialist in internal medicine), one ED nurse, one ED nursing assistant, and one ED medical secretary, was appointed by the ED management at each ED. The local sepsis care teams participated in a specialised educational program before the start-up of the intervention. Also, the regional coordinators hosted group-specific coaching when needed throughout the study period.

During the implementation process, the ED management and local sepsis care teams decided on "how" and "when" to implement the Regional Sepsis Care Guidelines, while the Regional Sepsis Care Guidelines provided "what" was to be implemented.

The implementation was then carried out at one ED at a time. This allowed for focus to shift to the current ED and also contributed to valuable experiences along the way. A combination of well-known strategies for implementation were applied, including specialised educational programs for the sepsis teams, group-specific coaching, mandatory interactive case-seminars, weekly reminders, recurrent feed-back on key performance indicators, e-learning, and use of leaflets and posters.

All personnel were included in the implementation process, a team-based approach that we believe facilitated the implementation process. Although the triage nurse and the ID physicians were essential features of this work, our experience has been that it is a great advantage to involve all personnel categories when implementing new ED processes. As an example, in Study I, the medical secretaries were not engaged in the local sepsis care team at start-up. However, the medical secretaries often participate actively in the emergency room, assisting in for example documentation and x-ray referrals. When the medical secretaries were included in the process, the team became more complete, and the handling of data more accurate, and subsequently compliance improved.



The group of ED heads in the region consisting of representatives from each emergency hospital, were involved early on in this work. The group was an important facilitator for the implementation. Also, broad anchoring, and close collaboration between the regional coordinators, the local sepsis care teams, and the different management levels at the ED and ID clinics, was vital throughout the process. A more detailed description of the implementation process in accordance with CReDECI, is provided in the Supplementary material in Study IV.

## Outcomes and quality markers of sepsis care

In Study 1 the primary outcomes were the time from admission to the first dose of antibiotics, LOS (including ICU care), and 28-day mortality, and the primary outcomes in Study IV were the time from admission to the first dose of antibiotics, LOS (including ICU care), and 28-day and 90-day mortality. The secondary or process outcomes were measurement of lactate at admission, blood culture drawn before the start of antibiotics, administration of iv fluids prehospitally or at the ED, and appropriate initial antibiotic treatment based on blood culture results and resistance.

Study endpoints in Study II were need of and time to administration of antibiotics, 28day mortality, and ICU care. Uncomplicated infections were defined as absence of ICU admission and survival by day 28.

In Study III, the primary outcomes were AKI development within either 48 hours or 7 days, as defined by SCr increase of > 44  $\mu$ mol/L (> 0.5 mg/dL) between any two

measurements or need for acute RRT, or an increase in creatinine corresponding to 1.5-fold of baseline with an initial value of > 160  $\mu$ mol/L (> 2.0 mg/dL). The secondary outcomes were multi-organ failure (MOF), defined as four or more failing organ systems, and 28-day all-cause mortality.

#### Statistics

In all studies, baseline characteristics were summarised using descriptive statistics. Data were reported as mean (standard deviation, SD) for symmetrically distributed variables, and for variables with a skewed distribution, median (interquartile range, IQR) was used. When comparing groups regarding normally distributed continuous variables, the Student T-test was used. For non-normally distributed variables, the Mann-Whitney u-test was applied. For differences in dichotomous variables, the Chi2-test was used. However, when the minimum expected number of a category was less than five, Fisher's Exact test was applied.

For continuous outcomes, multivariate linear regression analysis with the dependent variable log-transformed was applied in Studies I and IV and study period as the main independent variable. Variables that were further adjusted for were age, gender and each of the variables that differed significantly between the study periods. All tests were two-sided, and p-values <0.05 were considered significant. Bonferroni corrected p-values were calculated for the primary outcome measures in Study IV. Bivariate correlations were analysed with Pearson's or Spearman's correlations, depending on distribution of residuals. Also, we calculated odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for each of the binary EGDT outcomes and adjusted for all covariates differing between 2015 and 2017 using logistic regression.

Further, in Study II, Youden's criterion was used to establish optimal cut-off values (in terms of balance between sensitivity and specificity of MR-proADM vs outcome), and univariate and multivariate logistic regression was used to relate levels of MR-proADM with requirement for antibiotic administration, ICU care, and 28-day mortality.

In Study III, logistic regression analysis was used to correlate levels of penKid at presentation to AKI, multi-organ failure, 28-day mortality and progression of renal SOFA score. Odds ratios were expressed per number of SDs from the mean of log-transformed penKid (Z-score of ln-penKid). Moreover, quartiles of penKid were related to outcomes with the first quartile (lowest value) defined as reference. We also applied a dichotomised cut-off value of above vs below 100 pmol/L. Also, Kaplan-Meier plots were calculated with the lowest quartile as a reference.

## Ethical considerations

All studies were approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board at Lund University in Lund, Sweden 2013/635 and 2016/546. The Ethical Review board did not recommend informed consent in 2016/546. The studies were otherwise conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration. In 2013/635, an oral informed consent was requested from patients or next of kin. If patients were unable to consent, and no next of kin was available, the Ethic committee agreed on including patients if no evident opinion against participation was present.

## Main results

### The Sepsis Alert studies - Papers I & IV

The care bundles recommended by SSC were part of the local guidelines before the start of Sepsis Alert, but compliance was unsatisfactory. When reviewing patient records from the ED at Skåne University Hospital Malmö in 2010, it emerged that one of SSCs quality goals for sepsis care, antibiotics within one hour, were met in only 22% of patients in the highest RETTS priority with  $\geq$ 38°C or history of fever/chills within the past 24 hours. The results reflected suboptimal acute sepsis care and formed the basis for the upcoming improvement work.

In Study I, a total of 58 436 patients visited the ED during the study periods, and of these 1 837 (3,1%) patients presented abnormal vital signs according to red RETTS. Of the 1 837 patients, 221 (12%) patients fulfilled the fever criteria. The 28-day mortality in the total cohort was 16.3%. Eighty-six percent of the patients were diagnosed with an infection; the most frequent being pneumonia, followed by upper respiratory infection, urinary tract infection, and skin and soft tissue infection. Blood cultures were positive in 25.1% of cases, and the most prevalent pathogens were *Escherichia coli*, followed by *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*.

After implementation of the Sepsis Alert, the time from admittance to the first dose of antibiotics was significantly reduced, to 24.5 minutes from 190 minutes. The proportion of patients receiving antibiotics within 60 minutes was 22% before, 53% during the start-up period, and 90% after the implementation. The length of hospital stay (LOS) was significantly reduced following implementation, from 9 to 7 days in median. The proportion of patients treated in the ICU was unchanged between the studied periods. The compliance to apply the Sepsis Alert was low at the start-up, 22%, however, two years later, compliance had increased to 70%. Further, outcomes such as measurement of lactate and blood culture drawn before the start of antibiotics at admittance, were continuously improved even two years after the initiation of the project.

The results and experiences from Study I emanated in regional financing of a project to enable the implementation of the Sepsis Alert at all Skåne's EDs (Study IV).

However, at three of the study hospitals, a sepsis triage line was already present at startup. Two of the hospitals used the Sepsis Alert, the pilot tertiary academic care centre (Hospital A) and a secondary care hospital (Hospital C). Hospital B, a tertiary academic care centre, had a triage model based on different infectious diseases, sepsis being one infectious diagnose out of several. These three hospitals showed the best base-line situation, probably due to previous focus on sepsis patients. Two of ten EDs in the region were not included in Study IV due to local circumstances, leading to delayed implementation at one ED, and the other ED was a private hospital which made data collection difficult.

In Study IV, a total of 195 607 patients visited the ED during the study periods, and of these 5 321 (2.7%) patients presented abnormal vital signs according to red RETTS. Of the 5 321 patients, 1 066 (20%) patients fulfilled the fever criteria. The 28-day mortality was 17.7% in 2015, and 15.2% in 2017, respectively. One-thousand and twenty-five (96%) of study patients were diagnosed with infection, the most frequent being pneumonia, followed by upper respiratory infection, urinary tract infection, and skin and soft-tissue infection. Blood cultures were positive in 26.3% of the cases, and the most prevalent pathogens were *Escherichia coli*, followed by *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*.

The regional implementation of Sepsis Alert resulted in shorter time to antibiotics, 37 minutes before, and 26 minutes after the implementation, and the proportion of patients receiving antibiotics within 60 minutes were 68% before, and 89% after the implementation. Also, the proportion of patients receiving correct empirical antibiotics at the ED, when compared to subsequent blood culture results, increased significantly after the implementation, to 90.2% from 78.6%. The LOS was not significantly changed between the study periods, 7 to 6 days in median. However, several quality markers of sepsis care improved after the implementation (Table 6). The compliance to apply the Sepsis Alert was high at follow-up in 2017, 81.7%.

	2015	2017	
Quality Markers of Sepsis Care	( <i>n</i> = 508)	( <i>n</i> = 558)	р
Lactate, n (%)	485 (95.5)	554 (99.3)	< 0.001
Fluid administrated IV, n (%)	382 (75.2)	491 (88.0)	< 0.001
Amount of fluid administrated IV <sup>a</sup>	1.01	1.27	< 0.001
Blood cultures, n (%)			
Obtained	448 (88.2)	546 (97.8)	< 0.001
Positive	114 (25.4)	147 (26.9)	NS
Significantly positive blood culture <sup>b</sup>	88 (19.6)	106 (19.4)	NS
Patients with sign positive blood culture <sup>b</sup>	84 (18.8)	102 (18.7)	NS
Appropriate antibiotics (patients)°	66 (78.6)	92 (90.2)	0.027
All items, n (%) <sup>d</sup>	237 (46.7)	422 (75.6)	< 0.001
In ward, ICU, <i>n</i> (%)	56 (11.0)	52 (9.3)	NS
Sepsis International Classification of Diseases: diagnose at discharge, n (%)	49 (9.6)	59 (10.6)	NS

<b>I able 6.</b> Quality Markers of Sepsis Care before and after the implementation of Sepsis A
---

NS = not significant.

\*Ringer acetate, liters.

<sup>b</sup>Excluding positive cultures that were judged as being contaminated.

°Empirical antibiotic based on subsequent culture results.

Including antibiotic treatment within 60 min, IV fluid administrated, lactate and blood cultures taken.

In Study IV, the number of patients with shock at presentation was low, about 10% presented with blood pressure  $\leq$ 90 mmHg prehospitally or at the earliest time point at the ED, and of these 50% presented blood pressure below 90 mmHg. Limitation of care orders were present in 27.5% of the patients at attendance to the ED, and in 40.4% of the patients during hospital stay. The percentage of patients that reached the ICU was unchanged between the study periods, 11,0 and 9,3%, respectively. Interestingly, in a subgroup of 5/8 EDs without previous sepsis triage, the need for ICU care declined significantly after the implementation of Sepsis Alert, to 6.5% from 12.2% (p = 0.04) without affecting 28-day mortality. On demand, we complemented the analysis posthoc and adjusted for all variables that differed in-between the study periods, after which the statistical significance remained (p=0.003).

Despite the improvements in processes of sepsis care, the 28-day and 90-day mortality rates were not significantly reduced after the implementation of Sepsis Alert (17.7% vs 15.2% and 24% vs 22.8%). Although caution should be applied when evaluating subgroups, interestingly, at one of the secondary care hospitals (Hospital D) the base-line situation differed from the other hospitals, with poorer values for sepsis quality markers and higher 28-day and 90-day mortality. In this hospital, median (IQR) time to antibiotics and the percentage of patients receiving antibiotic treatment within one hour after ED admittance at the ED were 49 (34-112) minutes and 59 percent, respectively. This start-up situation was significantly inferior to the situations at the other hospitals. Also, 28-day and 90-day mortality were significantly higher at this

hospital before start-up, 28.7% (p=0,005) and 36.3% (p=0,005) respectively. At this hospital 28-day mortality was significantly reduced after the intervention, to 16% versus 28,7% before the intervention (p=0,016). On demand, we adjusted for all variables that differed in-between the study periods, and the significance remained (p=0,001).

The proportion of patients that presented with severe sepsis *at arrival* at ED was 77.2% in 2015 and 75.3% in 2017, respectively. When evaluating patients not presenting with severe sepsis at triage, almost all patients had an infectious diagnosis, however forty-one of 1 066 (3.8%) patients were shown not to have an infectious diagnose at presentation. These 41 patients had acute internal medical diseases that may include fever or history of fever/chills such as pulmonary embolism, rheumatic diseases, stroke, COPD, and heart failure.

#### Sepsis Alert - sensitivity

In an attempt to evaluate sensitivity, a novel cohort was identified consisting of 850 consecutive patients with severely deviating vital signs (red RETTS) from study hospital A during the study period 1 January–31 March 2015. Thus, this cohort also contained patients without fever  $\geq$ 38°C or history of fever/chills. First, an experienced ED nurse reviewed all 850 ED charts and excluded obvious non-infectious diagnoses. A detailed review was made by ID physician of the remaining 190 patients. 146 patients with severe sepsis within 48 hours, in accordance with the Sepsis-2 guidelines, were identified. Of these, 116 had  $\geq$ 38°C or history of fever/chills within the past 24 hours and would have been identified by Sepsis Alert if properly applied.

The sensitivity for the Sepsis Alert to identify severe sepsis within 48 hours in this cohort was calculated at 79.5%. Hence, 30 patients with severe sepsis *within 48 hours* presented without fever or history of fever/chills at the ED. Interestingly, the 28-day mortality among these 30 severe sepsis patients was 30%, higher than the 28-day mortality in the Sepsis Alert triggered cohort. There were some explanations for this, such as higher age, rate of terminal illnesses, and percentage of limitation of care. However, all 30 were handled immediately upon presentation to the ED and were evaluated by ED physicians, and even if sepsis was one of the final diagnoses, it was not the primary diagnosis except in one case of necrotizing fascilitis.



**Figure 6.** Symptoms or keywords found when reviewing the ED charts from patients not identified by current trigger of the Sepsis Alert n=30 (more than one keyword or symptom per patient).

Interestingly, seven of the thirty severe sepsis patients in this group presented with hypothermia (<35°C), a finding that highlights the complex presentation of severe sepsis and the need to consider including a hypothermia criterion in the Sepsis Alert algorithm in the future (Figure 6). Also, the inability to report history of fever/chills due to language barriers and/or unconscious state are important aspects to take into consideration when evaluating sepsis patients at the ED.

## The Biomarker studies - Papers II & III

Due to challenges in diagnostic criteria for sepsis, identifying biomarkers that may assist in diagnosis, assessment of organ dysfunction, and prognosis in sepsis, would be desirable. In the following two studies, we evaluated the ability of the biomarker MRproADM to guide antibiotic administration at the ED (Study II). We also investigated the biomarker Proenkephalin A 119-159 (penKid)'s ability to predict AKI, MOF, and mortality in unselected sepsis patients at the ED (Study III).

In Study II, presented as a letter, two-hundred and thirteen patients with sepsis in accordance with Sepsis-2, were included in the post-hoc analysis, of which 187 (87.8%) received antibiotics at the ED. The median time to administration was 93 min, and 43.8% of patients received antibiotics within 60 min. In this study, MR-proADM had the strongest association with the requirement for antibiotic administration at the ED, (OR 3,1, CI 1,9-4,9; p<0.001) (Table 7).

**Table 7.** Univariate and Multivariate analyses found that MR-proADM had the strongest correlation with the requirement for antibiotic administration during ED treatment.

Biomarker	Patient population (N)	Antibiotic administration (N)	p value	C index	Univariate OR [95% CI]	Multivariate OR [95% CI]
MR-proADM	213	164	< 0.001	0.76	3.1 [1.9-4.9]	3.3 [1.9–5.9]
PCT	213	164	< 0.001	0.74	2.7 [1.7-4.3]	2.7 [1.7-4.5]
CRP	207	159	< 0.001	0.68	1.8 [1.3-2.5]	1.9 [1.4-2.8]
Lactate	204	158	0.002	0.66	1.8 [1.2–2.6]	1.6 [1.1–2.5]

Age, cardiovascular, neurological, renal and malignancy comorbidities were used as adjusting variables within the multivariate regression analysis, as previously outlined [4]. Univariate and multivariate odds ratios were expressed per 1 SD increment of the log-transformed value for each respective biomarker. CI confidence interval, CRP C-reactive protein, DF degrees of freedom, MR-proADM mid-regional proadrenomedullin, N number, OR odds ratio, PCT procalcitonin

When an optimised MR-proADM cut-off for antibiotic administration (1.27 nmol/L) was applied, ICU care and 28-day mortality was zero in patients with low MR-proADM despite lower percentage of antibiotic administrations and significantly longer time to antibiotic administration. This observation was independent on PCT levels, and similar when the pre-established cut-off for mortality was applied (1.54 nmol/L).

In Study III, a total of 647 patients with sepsis were enrolled, of which 59 patients were excluded due to incomplete data, leaving 588 sepsis patients for the final analysis. The 28-day mortality in the total cohort was 8.5%. Five-hundred and twenty-three (88.9%) patients were diagnosed with an infection; the most frequent being pneumonia, followed by urinary tract infection, skin and soft tissue infection, and upper respiratory tract infections. The most prevalent pathogens were *Escherichia coli*, followed by

*Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Limitation of care was present in 15.3% of patients at admission. The percentage of patients receiving ICU care was 4.6%, and 0.3% received RRT during the study period. The cohort may be deemed rather healthy in comparison to patients receiving care in the ICU, presenting lower mortality rate and fewer interventions as RRT, reflecting the significant differences that exist in the heterogenous ED patient material compared to the ICU ditto.

Of patients included in the study, 13.4% developed AKI within 48 hours, and an additional 2.6% after 48 hours but within 7 days. In age and sex adjusted models, penKid strongly predicted AKI within 48 h and 7 days, however these associations were attenuated when adjusting for estimated creatinine-based glomerular filtration rate (eGFR). Also, penKid significantly predicted progression from rSOFA = 0 and  $\leq$  1 to higher rSOFA. When applying previously established cut-off for level penKid and poor outcome (100 pmol/L), the prediction of worsening renal function among patients with SOFA  $\leq$ 1 remained significant, in non-eGFR adjusted analysis the OR was 10.1, (CI 3.2-31.7; p< 0.0001), and the OR when adjusted for eGFR was 3.7 (CI 1.0-13.1; p=0.045). Thirty-three patients (5.6%) developed severe MOF within 48 hours. In models adjusted for age, sex and eGFR, patients in the highest penKid quartile had an OR for developing MOF of almost 30, compared to the lowest penKid quartile (reference). In continuous analysis, each 1 SD increment of log-transformed penKid yielded an OR of about 3.6. Further, the OR for mortality within 28 days was 1.5 per 1 SD increment of log-transformed penKid quartile (Table 8).

P for trend
3) < 0.001
=0.079
,

Table 8. Proenkephalin A 119–159 (penKid) for prediction of MOF and 28-day all-cause mortality

<sup>a</sup> Severe multi-organ failure defined as  $\geq$ 4 organ systems failing. Organ failure constitutes seven categories: central nervous system, circulatory failure, respiratory failure, kidney failure, liver failure, coagulopathy, metabolic dysfunction. bN events (% of total) refers to the number of participants (proportion of total number participants) for each respective endpoint. cOR (95% CI) are expressed per one standard deviation (SD) increment of log-transformed penKid and in analyses of quartiles the lowest quartile (1) was defined as the reference category and the OR (95% CI) for each of quartiles 2, 3 and 4 were compared with the reference quartile. Analyses were adjusted for age, sex and eGFR calculated through the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) Study formula

## Discussion

### The Sepsis Alert studies - Papers I & IV

About ten years ago, several severe sepsis patients with a particularly aggressive disease course were treated in our hospital. These cases drew attention to severe infectious disease with organ failure. Did we treat these patients correctly? Were they treated quickly enough, and did we perform adequate processes of care? As at many centres around the world, the guidelines of the Severe Sepsis Campaign were introduced in our region in 2006. However, adherence to the guidelines had not been evaluated during the years after implementation.

In sepsis, the multifaceted presentation and volatile definitions complicate patient care and research, difficulties that probably become most apparent at the ED, where time constraints and overcrowding further complicates the assignment. To save lives, a screening tool that exhibits high sensitivity, even at the expenses of specificity, is preferred. Although the up-dated definitions may be of great help in an ICU setting, they may not be representative of the wider clinical community. Regrettably, the Sepsis-3 deemphasizes interventions at earlier stages of sepsis when the syndrome is most efficiently treated (3). The qSOFA was designed to fulfil this task, however methodological shortcomings and lack of validation resulted in significant sensitivity limitations, which diminished its value at the ED (10-13, 15, 224, 225). Further, lactate, previously an important part of determining organ dysfunction, and in addition a valuable parameter in risk-stratification of sepsis patients at the ED, is missing in the updated guidelines (2, 3, 92, 182, 183, 187, 188).

In 2012, the novel triage model Sepsis Alert for early identification of patients with severe infections, was introduced at the ED at Skåne University Hospital Malmö. In this triage model, the most severely ill sepsis patients (categorised as red RETTS) are rapidly evaluated by ED physician supported by an ID physician, assuring that the processes of care in accordance with SSC are properly initiated; measurement of lactate at admission, blood culture drawn before the start of antibiotics, appropriate broad-spectrum antibiotics within one hour, and administration of intravenous fluids (111). The encouraging outcomes of the implementation at this single centre were presented

in Study I, and resulted, a few years later, in regional implementation of the triage model at all EDs in Skåne. The two Sepsis Alert studies presented in this thesis show that the implementation of the triage model Sepsis Alert led to improved compliance with the SSC bundles, including prompt and appropriate antibiotics, improved quality markers of sepsis care, shortened LOS and, in 5/8 EDs with no prior sepsis triage, the need for ICU care decreased significantly without affecting mortality. Interestingly, in Study IV, when matching empirical antibiotics administrated at the ED to subsequent blood culture results, the proportion of patients receiving appropriate antibiotics was significantly improved after the implementation of Sepsis Alert, 78,6% and 90,2%, respectively. It is possible that the input from ID physicians in the ED may explain this finding.

Several previous studies describe the effects of quality improvement work on sepsis as leading to reduced mortality (96, 151, 175, 201, 203), however, 28-day mortality was not significantly reduced after the implementation of Sepsis Alert, 17,7% and 15,2%, respectively. One may ask why, and insufficient power may be one aspect. Another aspect may be a rather good start-up situation, with 68% patients receiving antibiotics within one hour, a finding that may have been attributed to carry over effects from Study I. Also, two hospitals in Study IV applied the Sepsis Alert at study start-up, and a third had an infectious diseases triage, which may have influenced the results.

Interestingly, at one of the studied EDs with a significantly poorer goal completion of quality markers of sepsis care, compared to the other EDs at start up, the 28- and 90day mortality was significantly higher. Opposed to the other EDs, the 28-day mortality declined significantly at this hospital after the start of Sepsis Alert, from 28.7% to 16%. Although basing assumptions on a subgroup requires caution, this may indicate that quality markers of sepsis care need to be below a certain threshold to enable positive impact on mortality.

Further, a significant amount of the patients included in the study had limitation of care, 27.5% of the patients at attendance to the ED, and 40.4% of the patients during hospital stay, which may diminish the possibility to affect mortality. Also, we evaluated sepsis patients from a cohort of unselected ED patients, reflecting real-life setting, which may have influenced the outcomes in comparison to studies targeting certain subgroups of patients. Since sepsis mainly affects patients with comorbidities and/or high age, the percentage of patients with limitation of care found in our studies may not be a surprise (13, 34, 35, 64, 106). Importantly, the multimorbid elderly patient seems to have a lot to gain on appropriate initial sepsis treatment. Studies report small differences in mortality after hospital discharge in patients aged 50–75 compared to patients  $\geq$ 75, a fact that motivates focus on this patient group (65, 88).

As highlighted in the background of this thesis, sepsis treatment is complex and can hardly be reduced to a simple table, and to avoid a one-size-fits-all approach, the early evaluation of ID physician is paramount (96, 151, 201, 245-247). In addition to advice on diagnostic procedures, antibiotic and supportive treatment, level of care, and surveillance, the ID physician may contribute to secure and evaluate the need of care at an ID ward, whether isolation is necessary, and, when needed, contribute with decisions on limitation of care. Another decisive task for the ID physician is to contribute on a macro level to overall decisions on development of patient safety of ID, and fellow patients at the ED, for example to create isolation rooms with camera and surveillance of vital signs. By being regularly visible at the ED, a beneficial ID physician "side-effect" is lowering the bar for consultations from ED physicians and staff, as well as for other specialists at the ED.

The presented Sepsis Alert studies add to the mounting evidence that the additional support from an ID physician at the ED, is associated with improved outcomes, and needs to be considered in addition to sepsis bundles (96, 151, 201, 245-247). By working with tailored implementation, adjusting in collaboration with local sepsis care teams and management in the different EDs, the Sepsis Alert can be rewardingly adapted, even in settings where bedside evaluation by an ID physician is not feasible.

#### **Comment on inclusion**

Sepsis studies use various definitions of infection, and often the inclusion "blood culture taken and antibiotic treatment for four days" is applied (26). However, to enable evaluation of missed patients or patients with viral sepsis in the unselected ED patient cohort, these inclusion criteria may be less relevant (27). By evaluating all patients within one acuity segment, in contrast to most previous sepsis studies, the Sepsis Alert studies allowed for inclusion of a broad spectrum of patients, including for example unconscious patients, patients with limitation of care, and patients receiving palliative care.

Hence, when considering criteria for triggering the Sepsis Alert, great effort was put into including as many severe sepsis patients as possible, while at the same time avoiding alert fatigue and displacement effects. To enable this, we decided to use the highest priority group (red RETTS), which was already an alert group, and to add a fever criterion to this group (214). In the early stages of developing the Sepsis Alert, a more complicated trigger for Sepsis Alert was evaluated. In one of the pre-pilots in Malmö, we applied the inclusion "signs of infection", including for example fever/history of fever, hypothermia, catarrhalia, influenza symptoms, cough, urinary tract symptoms, flank pain, vomiting, diarrhoea, new severe pain, arthritis, severe headache, cerebral dysfunction, exanthema, and cellulitis. When applying this detailed inclusion criteria, we learned that multiple triggers for Sepsis Alert were less easily implemented and risked diminishing the alert frequency. In addition, it is important to identify history of fever since sepsis symptoms may fluctuate. Also, supportive measures, analgesics, and antipyretics administrated prehospitally or at the ED may normalise symptoms and vital signs, rendering a "false" positive measurable effect in the patients.

With these aspects in mind, we chose to apply a low cut-off for fever,  $\geq 38$  °C, and the additional instructions to trigger Sepsis Alert if information of history of fever/chills were present. In Study I, hypothermia <35 °C was used as a trigger for Sepsis Alert, but in Study IV this inclusion criterion was omitted in accordance with the Regional Sepsis Care Guidelines. However, to apply a fever criterion as a trigger for Sepsis Alert has obvious limitations, since several sepsis patients do not exhibit fever, including patients with extremes of age, chronic liver or renal dysfunction, or patients on immunosuppressive treatment (127, 128, 167, 190, 191). Also, a linear association between increased body temperature at ED and survival has been shown, a finding that targets the complex presentation of severe sepsis (123). To try improving the Sepsis Alert model, such additional triggers as hypothermia or suspicion of infection may need to be considered. This may lead to better sensitivity, however the subsequent consequences on specificity may be untenable.

#### Comment on implementation

Previous studies have evaluated the importance of ID support in handling patients with severe infections/sepsis (96, 151), however to the best of our knowledge, there are no previous studies corresponding to the regional implementation of Sepsis Alert.

When implementing the Sepsis Alert, we aimed at working in a fashion contrary to a 'top-down' approach and placed considerable responsibility on the competence of local sepsis care teams, while, at same time, the regional coordinator was continuously available for support and educational efforts. The ED management and local sepsis care teams decided on "how" and "when" to implement the Regional Sepsis Care Guidelines, while the Regional Sepsis Care Guidelines provided "what" was to be implemented. Several innovative solutions to achieve the set goals of sepsis care emerged during the implementation process, perhaps due to the free rein given the local sepsis care teams. An example of this ingenuity was the "sepsis kit" (containing material for relevant cultures, referral documents, fluids for resuscitation, and care guidelines in print), that a local sepsis nurse at one of the community hospitals prepared. Since the community hospitals handled sepsis patients less frequently, this was a brilliant way to always be prepared for the next sepsis patient.

To adjust to each ED's prerequisite, and achieve tailored implementation, the coordinators focused on implementing Sepsis Alert at one ED at a time, enabling close collaboration with the local sepsis care team and the ED management during a limited time period. The coordinators customized the implementation according to the significant differences between a tertiary academic care centre and a community hospital, and carefully analysed the current ED's strengths and weaknesses before startup. The coordinators attentively supported the local sepsis care teams during educational sessions and in preparing cases, etc. However, the aim was for the local sepsis care teams to be as autonomous as possible, while receiving support from the regional coordinating team as necessary. An unforeseen plethora of events were handled by the regional coordinators, e.g., when members of the local sepsis care team resigned in the middle of the implementation process, and when a member of the local sepsis care team got sick just before lecturing. Hence, the regional coordinators were available for all EDs during and after the implementation and had an ambitious and vital policy of answering all questions (by e-mail or telephone) within 24 hours. Now, five years later, the coordinators still support the local sepsis care teams, but at a lower intensity.



While implementing and coordinating Sepsis Alert since 2011, one important lesson learned was to "keep it simple". When considering criteria for triggering Sepsis Alert in Study I, several pre-pilots and discussions with ID colleagues were conducted. We investigated, i.a., the possibility of applying the trigger "suspected infection", including the forementioned list of infectious disease symptoms, as an inclusion criterion. However, the more detailed inclusion criteria risked containing measures of subjectivity and would also risk making the evaluation less stringent, hence the fever criterion  $\geq$ 38°C or history of fever/chills within the past 24 hours was chosen henceforth, to facilitate the algorithm and to enable evaluation of the process.

Another important lesson was the importance of engaging all personal categories when implementing new ED processes. As previously stated in the Methods section, the medical secretaries were not engaged in the local sepsis care teams at start-up in Study I. When the medical secretaries were included in the process, the team became more complete, and the handling of data more accurate, and subsequently compliance improved. There may be several explanations for this, however, as the role of the medical secretaries indicate, reflecting the importance of the complete chain.

The medical secretaries also assisted in documenting vital signs, lactate levels, time to antibiotics, etc., in a novel electronic application, enabling real-time measurement of key performance indicators to facilitate adequate, and continuous feed-back. This system was not fully adopted during the implementation in Study IV, but it has greatly simplified concurrent self-evaluation for the EDs, which is probably one important factor in the encouraging and sustainable goal fulfilment of quality markers of sepsis care five years after the implementation.

By simultaneously improving patient care and workflow with knowledge of the unique situation of each ED, and with the support of local opinion leaders, the ED personnel swiftly adopted the new model. "We have been wating for this kind of model", was an opinion expressed at several of the case-seminars. Perhaps due to the ED personnel's persistent concern about this highly diverse patient group, compliance for Sepsis Alert soon rose to about 82%, a rather high compliance compared to previous studies on implementation of sepsis improvement programs (220).

Also, applying a simple algorithm that harmonised with the current ED triage system, as opposed to applying a parallel triage line, is probably advantageous to achieve continuous compliance and sustainable results in the unique ED setting. Also, the coordinators adjusted the time of implementation to the request of each hospital, a fact that may have contributed to the compliance. Further, the importance of endurance when implementing new models and/or guidelines in health care, also needs to be properly addressed. The implementation strategies applied in current Sepsis Alert studies have been used advantageously, and are thoroughly described in previous studies (194-198, 201, 203, 204). For further reading regarding the Sepsis Alert implementation process, please see the implementation report in accordance with CReDECI provided in the Supplementary material in Study IV.



#### **Comment on NEWS/NEWS2**

NEWS was initially constructed in 2012 by Royal College of Physicians (RCP) to standardise different early warning scores (EWS) systems in the UK, and hereby provide consistency in assessment of illness severity (215, 227). With the aim of applying the same model and nomenclature for sepsis identification throughout the care chain, in the updated RCP guidelines from 2017, the NEWS2 has been suggested as a triage tool for sepsis at the ED.

However, to date, research evaluating the ability of NEWS/NEWS2 as a triage tool for sepsis at the ED is insufficient (219). Current studies are conducted in non-representative, often small patient cohorts, and often combined with some form of triage system. In some studies, NEWS has shown appropriate sensitivity at cut-off of 3–5 points, however the specificity is very low at this level, which will risk leading to alert fatigue in the ED. Hence, an appropriate cut-off for NEWS/NEWS2 in sepsis triage at the ED is yet to be established (11, 228-231).

In addition to the stated shortcomings, it is rather concerning that in the Royal College of Physicians NEWS2 document, one of the highlighted studies has been falsely cited, rendering an overestimation of the risk of ICU care and 28-day mortality. In the NEWS spans 5–6 and 7–8, the risk of ICU care and 28-day mortality in this document

is almost twice as high as the risk presented in the original manuscript (215, page 25 Table 3, 230).

Although applying the same system and nomenclature for evaluating sepsis throughout the care chain may be appealing, it may risk neglecting the important and fundamental differences between a screening tool, identifying a certain disease within a larger pool of patients, and the monitoring and risk-stratifying of a patient with a certain (or suspected) disease. Further, to abandon one system in favour of another, without the needed prospective validation, seems rash. Hence, we patiently await ongoing studies that may clarify the role of NEWS2 in sepsis triage at the ED, but in the meantime, active expectance is probably the most appropriate way forward.

#### Limitations

Deeper analysis of the sub-group of patients with hypotension at admittance, and patients admitted to the ICU, has yet to be accomplished. In addition, the importance of consultation by phone versus bedside has not been evaluated so far. Another interesting aspect that needs to be addressed is whether and how the prescribing patterns of empirical antibiotics differed in between the study years. Further limitations of the Sepsis Alert studies include the before-after design, hence unmeasured confounding factors as outbreaks and personnel turnover cannot be ruled out. Also, sepsis patients presenting with less severe vital signs may not be identified by Sepsis Alert. However, a study evaluating the patients in the second highest RETTS (orange) priority group is currently taking form (214). Also, due to, i.a., carry-over effects, three of the eight centres had some form of sepsis triage system at start-up. Interestingly, when these three centres were excluded from the analysis, the outcomes became more distinct. Another limitation in the Sepsis Alert studies is the lack of assessment of severity, however, consecutive patients for both the 2015 and the 2017 cohorts were selected according to the RETTS registration by staff not engaged in the study. This should diminish the risk for selection bias. Further, the cohorts were similar in terms of patient characteristics and comorbidity, including presence of severe sepsis and limitation of care orders. They also showed similar vital signs and laboratory values at admission, including lactate and CRP.

## The Biomarker studies - Papers II & III

With the objective to create broad knowledge, and to develop clinically applicable biomarkers for early identification and risk stratification of common acute conditions, in 2013 Prof. Melander and colleagues started a biobank for patients with dyspnoea, arrhythmia, diabetes, and sepsis at the ED in Malmö. About 3 000 patients have been enrolled in this biobank, of which more than 800 patients are included in the sepsis biobank. The aim of the sepsis biobank has been to identify biomarkers for early identification of sepsis, sepsis-related organ dysfunction, and risk stratification of sepsis patients at the earliest time point at the ED with a single assessment of biomarker(s).

In previous studies, MR-proADM's ability as a prognostic marker stratifying mortality and degrees of organ failure has been identified (292-297). MR-proADM may also identify patients at risk of treatment failure in need of alternative therapeutic interventions despite ongoing antibiotics (295). Study II was based on a previous multicentre study involving about 2 000 patients included at nine EDs across Europe and the US. In this study, the ability of PCT, CRP, lactate, and MR-proADM to assess disease progression, and hospitalisation in patients with suspected infection at the ED, was evaluated. Here, MR-proADM was shown to accurately assess disease severity in patients with suspected infectious disease at the ED. Further, levels of MR-proADM assisted in identifying subgroups of patients with risk of disease progression (Saeed K et al 2019, related paper I, not included in this thesis).

In a subset of patients from this study, consisting of 213 patients attending the ED at Skåne University Hospital Malmö with sepsis in accordance with Sepsis-2, a post-hoc analysis was conducted to evaluate MR-proADM's ability to guide the need of antibiotic therapy. Also, the ability of MR-proADM to assess low risk of ICU care and/or 28-day mortality was studied. Here, we found that MR-proADM had the strongest association with the requirement for antibiotic administration at the ED, compared to the other biomarkers PCT, CRP, and lactate. Also, ICU care and 28-day mortality were zero in patients with low MR-proADM, irrespective of PCT levels. Hence, our results suggest that reduced levels of MR-proADM may identify a group of sepsis patients with low-risk of poor prognosis. Although MR-proADM may be considered a promising biomarker for early risk-stratification in sepsis, systematic randomised multicentre trials are needed to confirm these findings. Also, to enable clinical use, available diagnostic platforms are needed, as is point of care diagnostic testing.

Sepsis frequently leads to organ failure, and the kidney is an organ that is often affected, as more than half of patients with septic shock develop AKI, leading to substantially

increased risk of death (130, 133). The current definition of AKI, Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) and Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss of kidney function, and End-stage kidney disease (RIFLE), is based on SCr and urine output (317). However, in clinical daily practice, ED physicians in general solely rely on SCr to assess renal function, since urine output often is inaccessible. A fact that is clearly illustrated in Study III, where the definition of AKI is reliant on SCr in plasma, since evaluation of urine output in most cases was not present at the ED. One needs to consider that SCr-based definitions may involve confounders such as muscle mass, hydration status, diet, rhabdomyolysis, and use of nephrotoxic agents. Also, the SCr increase is delayed, and repeated values are required to evaluate the extent of kidney damage (317).

In previous studies, penKid has been shown to be a specific marker for renal function and associated with AKI in the ICU setting. Also, penKid has been shown to be highly specific for renal function, despite the dysregulated immunological response that is present in sepsis (309, 310, 313). In contrast to other biomarkers for AKI prediction, concentrations of penKid remain low in the absence of renal dysfunction in septic patients (309).

In Study III, we investigated penKid's ability to predict AKI, MOF, and 28-day mortality in unselected sepsis patients at the ED at Skåne University Hospital Malmö. In this study, we found that penKid predicted AKI, however, these findings were attenuated when adjusting for eGFR. However, in unselected sepsis patients with subclinical AKI at the ED, penKid predicted progression from renal-SOFA  $\leq 1$  to higher renal-SOFA scores, which may provide relevant clinical information to the ED physician. Also, penKid predicted MOF and 28-day mortality at the ED.

Although the primary outcomes were traditional in present biomarker studies and chosen in accordance with international guidelines, these outcomes in sepsis care may be considered hard, albeit a bit rough. Conceivably, more granularity in this regard may be of benefit to patients, focusing on deteriorations upstream of MOF, ICU care, and 28-day mortality (despite treatment) to avoid these endpoints. Study III illustrates this ambition, since levels of penKid may raise awareness of septic patients with subclinical AKI and identifying these patients early on may prevent further renal deterioration, RRT, and serious sequelae such as chronic kidney disease (CKD). Hence, we believe that penKid may provide valuable insights when monitoring sepsis patients, which may enable early nephroprotective strategies as discontinuing or dose-adjusting potentially harmful drugs as renin-angiotensin blockers and aminoglycosides, and to enable adequate intravenous fluid treatment.

Despite the encouraging results of our two biomarker studies, Pierrakos and colleagues add an interesting, although a bit discouraging, temporal aspect to the search for useful sepsis biomarkers. In 2010, they published a review of 178 biomarkers, and at that time, as well as a decade later, they conclude that progress in identifying biomarkers with clinical significance in sepsis has been limited. The same authors also adequately highlighted the methodological insufficiencies in several available biomarker studies: few biomarker studies include more than 300 patients, sepsis biomarkers rarely exceed AUROC above 70, and many of the biomarkers have been evaluated in a limited number of clinical studies, and one-third in just a single study (274, 275).

Sepsis may, as previously stated, be considered an entity of its own, due to its lack of pathognomonic symptoms and the complex, varied, and multifaceted host response to infection that is dependent on the type of pathogen, site of infection, host-related factors, and treatments, which altogether render a unique situation. Finding biomarkers that adequately manage to identify the full spectrum of sepsis patients, from an 18-year-old patient with meningococcal sepsis to a multimorbid 90-year-old patient with pneumonia, although a paramount objective, may not be possible due to different pathophysiological processes (41). Hence, a more personalised approach guided by one or a combination of several biomarkers may be beneficial (279). Focusing on early identification of subgroups of patients, such as patients with increased risk of developing septic shock, may prevent further deterioration and in the best-case lead to none or less organ dysfunction. Also, a more accurate identification of patients with uncomplicated infections with low risk of deterioration, i.e., rule-out, may increase the number of out-patient treatments with subsequent positive consequences for patients and health care.

#### **Comment on inclusion**

The intention of the present biomarker studies was to apply as broad inclusion of patients with suspected or established infectious diagnose as possible, preferably "suspected infection". However, patients attending with "suspected infection" in the ED, often presented with tropical infections, enteroviruses, and Borrelia, hence a highly selected patient group which inevitably should have led to selection bias. As previously stated, patients with sepsis often attend with non-specific symptoms such as general weakness, nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, and, in the majority of cases, patients are triaged to the internal medicine line. After weighing the pros and cons of different inclusion criteria, we decided to apply the current Sepsis-2 guidelines, 2 SIRS criteria plus suspected infection, and to include sepsis patients in the medicine and infectious flow at the ED (2). A huge effort was made to include patient groups that are frequently

excluded from research studies, such as patients with limitations of care, pregnant women, patients with ongoing substance abuse, or with a need for interpreters. Here, the engagement and the continuity of the three ED research nurses collecting data ensured broad inclusion and the data quality.



#### Limitations

In these biomarker studies, applying a single assessment biomarker approach was a conscious choice. The objective for this setting was to support the ED physician in assessing the sepsis patients at presentation, and before therapy would be initiated. However, additional serial assessment of biomarkers would probably be beneficial, since only assumptions may be made concerning disease progression and sepsis development and association with biomarker level. In addition, the non-consecutive setting (6 am– 6 pm) may have contributed to selection bias. Another difficulty was that sepsis criteria were changed during the study period. However, we decided to apply the Sepsis-2 criteria throughout the study, and for compatibility with the updated Sepsis-3 criteria, the renal Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (rSOFA) sub-score within 48 h was calculated. Finally, sepsis is defined as an infection leading to dysregulated host response including organ dysfunction, however whether the organ dysfunction is due to the infection or caused by dehydration, comorbid condition or pharmacological effects may be uncertain. This difficulty remains in most sepsis studies, and consequently also in the studies included in this thesis.

## Conclusions

- I. The implementation of the novel triage algorithm Sepsis Alert at the ED at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö resulted in a larger proportion of sepsis patients receiving antibiotic treatment within one hour, more blood cultures and lactate measurements being taken, and the length of hospital stay being decreased. Mortality was not affected.
- II. The establishment of the triage algorithm Sepsis Alert at eight EDs in Skåne Region resulted in a larger proportion of sepsis patients receiving timely and appropriate antibiotics and supportive care. Also, fulfilment of the Surviving Sepsis Campaigns' process measures of sepsis care improved significantly. In a subgroup of 5/8 EDs, the proportion of patients in need of ICU care decreased. A trend towards decreased length of hospital stay was noted. Mortality was not affected.
- III. Low concentration of the biomarker MR-proadrenomedullin, on arrival at the ED, was associated with significantly reduced use of, and longer time to antibiotic therapy. Also, irrespective of PCT concentrations, in patients with low levels of MR-proadrenomedullin, ICU care and 28-day mortality was zero.
- IV. High concentration of the biomarker penKid on arrival at the ED predicts acute kidney injury. However, the association decreases after adjustment of eGFR. Also, penKid predicts progression from rSOFA = 0 and ≤ 1 to higher rSOFA score, multi-organ failure, and mortality, independently of eGFR.

# Final reflections & future perspectives

This thesis explores aspects of early identification and risk-stratification of patients with sepsis at the ED by investigating the role of vital signs and biomarkers. Inspired by cardiologists and neurologists, we created and implemented a novel triage model, Sepsis Alert, which includes early identification and evaluation by an infectious disease physician, to raise the minimum level of care and improve process quality. In return, we gained valuable insights about implementation of new models and guidelines in healthcare which may be valuable for other (urgent) conditions. Additionally, a biobank for future research was created and the risk stratification impact of the biomarkers MR-proADM and penKid was studied. The intention of this thesis has been to conduct sepsis research in unselected ED cohorts, applying as few exclusion criteria as possible. By applying this setting, we hope that the research findings may benefit as many patients as possible, regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, multi-morbidity, treatment limitations, economic conditions, etc.

The research work associated with the sepsis biobank has just begun. The biobank now contains samples from over 800 sepsis patients and may hopefully continue to contribute to identifying biomarkers for early identification and risk-stratification of sepsis patients for a long time. It may also assist in achieving greater understanding of early immunological or other predisposing factors and assist in early identification of sepsis patients with increased risk of long-term consequences of sepsis. Also, point of care measurements of biomarkers (as MR-proADM and penKid) may in the future add valuable support to enable risk stratification of sepsis patients in different settings outside the ED, such as in ambulances, home settings and virtual care.

During a decade of working with early identification of sepsis at the ED, several lessons have been learned. Improving health care requires broad anchoring, and the courage to implement and adjust models, in addition to sufficient research supporting the interventions. The focus and ingenuity of the local sepsis care teams has greatly benefited the implementation process. The engagement and knowledge of the members of these teams provides a solid ground for further improvement of sepsis care in the region. Also, in bridging ambulatory and hospital care, the ED offers a unique opportunity to apply, for example, measures preventing health associated infections early in the care chain.

The triage model Sepsis Alert has been shown to improve quality markers of sepsis care, decrease length of stay, and, in 5/8 EDs with no prior sepsis triage, the need for ICU care was significantly reduced. By applying inclusion criteria already qualifying for generating an alert, the risk of alert fatigue and displacement effects have been minimised. Sepsis Alert is today an integrated part of the daily routine at the EDs in the Skåne Region, and it is gratifying that the experiences and knowledge from the Sepsis Alert studies has fortified the national work on "Personcentrerat och sammanhållet vårdförlopp för sepsis". These national guidelines have recently been established, and a national implementation plan is currently taking form.

In the more resource-rich parts of the world, the focus may well be on introducing standardised care chains for early identification and treatment of sepsis at the ED, as suggested by SSC and IDSA. Unfortunately, sepsis care guidelines developed for emergency care in high-income countries may, due to the discrepancies in health care systems, not be applicable in low- or middle-income countries, where most of the sepsis burden lies. As WHO states, approximately 85% of sepsis cases and sepsis-related mortality occur in low- or middle-income countries, hence guidelines must be regionally and locally modified to be applicable and beneficial in the unique emergency setting.

In anticipation of more personalised sepsis treatments and pharmacological agents, early recognition of sepsis and preventive measures remain the most important aspects requiring research focus. Also, the research community must put effort into studying not only sepsis patients in the ICU setting, but rather the entire sepsis population, including the multimorbid elderly, patients with limitation of care, and other patient groups often excluded from sepsis research. Since early identification is imperative to enable early and appropriate antibiotic treatment, source control, and supportive care, we need to reconsider and adjust the present triage models to achieve the best possible outcomes for sepsis patients.

If you want to go fast, go alone – if you want to go far, go together.

# Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ)

# Q: When implementing a Sepsis Alert, isn't there a risk for alert fatigue and displacement effects?

Certainly, these are very important aspects when implementing the Sepsis Alert at EDs. In the present studies, we applied the Sepsis Alert in the highest priority group (red RETTS) that was already generating a medical alert. Consequently, the same number of alerts were triggered before and after the implementation. However, if one would choose to apply another trigger for Sepsis, not currently generating an alert, the risk of alert fatigue is evident. Further, a physician must always prioritise which patients to attend first, and the ID physician may have to prioritise attending the Sepsis Alerts at the expense of other tasks, with a risk that displacements effects may appear. To prevent this, resources need to be allocated to compensate for the additional workload of the ID physicians.

# Q: Isn't there a risk of increased unnecessary antimicrobial treatments when applying the Sepsis Alert?

I would claim the contrary. When applying the Sepsis Alert, an ID physician is involved in the initial evaluation of patients with severe infections. The ID physician contributes knowledge regarding appropriate decisions about diagnostic procedures, surveillance, antibiotic, and supportive treatment. The early evaluation by an ID physician ensures that appropriate antibiotics are initiated when needed, and the ID physician simultaneously prevents unnecessary antibiotic treatment. In this study, the proportion of patients receiving correct empirical antibiotics at the ED, compared to subsequent blood culture results, increased significantly after the implementation, from 78.6% to 90.2%. Since the antibiotic treatment initiated at the ED is often continued after admission, the initial decisions on diagnostics and treatment have major impact throughout the care chain. However, an interesting study remains to be concluded after finalising this thesis, namely evaluating prescribing patterns of antibiotics before and after the implementation of Sepsis Alert.
### Q: Why were patients with primarily surgical conditions excluded from Sepsis Alert?

We agree that it would be preferred to include all sepsis patients that present to the ED, including those with surgical conditions. However, the EDs in our region have to date been divided into medical and surgical lines, and including the surgical lines was not considered feasible at start-up. In the pilot study, conducted at the ED at Skåne University Hospital Malmö, we reasoned that it was more efficient to focus on the nonsurgical line, in order to attain satisfactory compliance with the algorithm, and that we could thereafter consider broadening the inclusion criteria to include patients with predominating surgical conditions. Today, the Swedish Government and Sweden's Municipalities and Regions (SKR) has launched national sepsis guidelines "Personcentrerat och sammanhållet vårdförlopp för sepsis" that also includes patients with predominating surgical conditions in the guidelines, a positive and welcome development that creates an opportunity to allocate resources for education, and to improve sepsis care for these patients.

The link to "Personcentrerat och sammanhållet vårdförlopp för sepsis" in Swedish:

https://d2flujgsl7escs.cloudfront.net/external/Personcentrerat\_och\_sammanhallet\_var dforlopp\_Sepsis.pdf

### Q: Was mortality reduced after implementation of Sepsis Alert?

Previous studies have shown that reducing time to antibiotics have resulted in reduced mortality. In our studies, the early engagement of ID physicians either bedside at the ED, or by phone, led to improved compliance to the SSC bundles including prompt and appropriate antibiotics, rendering higher quality in sepsis care, shortened length of stay, and decreased need for ICU care (at 5/8 EDs with no prior sepsis triage). However, mortality was not significantly reduced after the implementation, 17.7% and 15.2%, respectively. The reasons for this may include insufficient power in the study, or the high proportion of limitation of care, amounting to 40.4% of the patients during hospital stay. This issue is further discussed in the thesis, please see page 92

### Q: Wasn't lactate $\geq$ 3.5 mmol/L included as an additional trigger for the Sepsis Alert?

Yes. Patients with  $\geq$ 38°C or history of fever/chills within the past 24 hours and lactate level  $\geq$ 3.5 mmol/L would be appointed to the designated sepsis line for immediate evaluation of ED and ID physician, regardless of RETTS colour. However, when evaluating the Sepsis Alert project overall, this particular aspect was difficult to evaluate, since we were not able to identify all patients with lactate levels  $\geq$ 3.5 mmol/L. The patients with elevated lactate levels are distributed across all RETTS priority groups, and we decided early in the pilot-study (Study I) to only evaluate patients in accordance with vital signs. While we unfortunately cannot present the exact number of patients who fulfilled this lactate criteria, however, they were few. Importantly, patients with elevated lactate levels constitute a high-risk group of sepsis patients that deserves extra attention. Hopefully, this aspect can be further evaluated in the future.

# Q: Is it reasonable for a busy ID physician to prioritise attending a Sepsis Alert in very old multimorbid patients?

As clinicians we always need to prioritise which patients to attend first, and the Sepsis Alert is no exception. The ID patient in most need of ID expertise should be prioritised. Old and multimorbid patients often have several risk factors for sepsis, and research has shown that patients with limitation of care benefit from early evaluation and treatment. Also, attendance by ID physicians should always be adapted to the demands of the specific situation. Hence, some consultations may take a few minutes only, while others take hours. Also, since the patients triggering Sepsis Alert are already evaluated by an ED physician, the patient is still prioritised. If the ID physician needs to prioritise another task, ID consultation by phone may be conducted.

### Q: Is NEWS/NEWS2 superior to RETTS in triaging sepsis patients?

NEWS/NEWS2 has mostly been evaluated in its ability to monitor patients with a (suspected) disease, and relevant research supporting NEWS/NEWS2 as a triage tool for sepsis patients at the ED is to date insufficient. To identify one patient in a large population is quite different from monitoring a patient with a known or suspected disease. This issue has been discussed in greater detail in this thesis, please see page 59 and 97.

# Q: Were all personnel categories at all EDs receptive to implementation of the Sepsis Alert?

Barriers to implementing the Sepsis Alert were few. As stated previously, sentiments of "We have been waiting for this" were expressed several times during the case-seminars at implementation. However, when work processes are changed, there is often some reluctance, especially if the changes are associated with increased workload. However, with the encouraging results from Study I, the limited initial resistance was gradually resolved.

#### Q: Do sepsis teams need to include all professions? Our hospital is so small.

My answer is a definite yes, sepsis teams must include all the involved professions. We believe that the conscious choice to include all personnel categories is an important factor contributing to the positive and sustainable outcomes of Sepsis Alert. In smaller hospitals, the amount of time needed to be engaged in the local sepsis care team may be limited, and consequently the cost and efforts will be less. But our experience is that the advantages of creating a complete sepsis team at each hospital, regardless of size, are considerable.

# Q: What are the costs for implementing the Sepsis Alert, are the associated costs motivated?

The Centre for Health Economics, Informatics, and Healthcare Research (CHIS) at Region Stockholm, Sweden, has recently conducted an analysis that highlights the health economic aspects of implementing Sepsis Alert, based on, i.a., the studies from Skåne. Encouragingly, they conclude that the costs for coordination were shown to be relatively small in relation to the estimated cost savings. They also concluded that previous follow-up studies of similar initiatives indicate that the effects on length of stay that would be required to recoup costs for the intervention Sepsis Alert are achievable. As limitations, they note that the two Sepsis Alert studies were conducted from the same research groups, and that the studies had a before-after design.

The link to "Konsekvensbeskrivning för personcentrerat och sammanhållet vårdförlopp - Sepsis" in Swedish:

https://kunskapsstyrningvard.se/download/18.5ab5d19617988faf97273f85/1622200 963008/Vardforlopp-sepsis-konsekvensbeskrivning.pdf

### Q: How long will regional sepsis coordinators be needed?

Having worked with the Sepsis Alert since 2012, monitoring a process like this to achieve long-term sustainable results is of great importance. The project was initially regionally financed. However, the cost of the last few years of financing, including ID physician (25%), regional sepsis nurse (25%), and medical secretary (4 weeks) annually, has been attributed to the three heads of administration in Skåne Region. Our experience is that a continuous monitoring of Sepsis Alert frequency and quality markers of sepsis care is needed. Since the alert is a prerequisite to enable timely identification and treatment, the coordinators monitor the Sepsis Alert frequency to ensure that it is adequate and stable. When (or if) the Sepsis Alert frequency declines,

the coordinators may for example assist in supporting the local sepsis care teams to address the reasons for the decline and participate in educational efforts as needed. When considering previously suggested cost savings, the cost of these coordinators may be considered well-motivated.

# Tack

Denna avhandling har möjliggjorts tack vare ett hängivet och mångårigt teamarbete för att förbättra den akuta vården för patienter med allvarliga infektioner. Många personer, kompetenser och chefsled har varit engagerade i processen och även om inte alla namn ryms här vill jag vill rikta ett stort och varmt tack till var och en av er. Tack.

**Olle Melander**, du är en förebild på så många sätt. Du är engagerad, generös och inkluderande. Ditt lugn, din närvaro och din förmåga att ta fram det bästa ur dina "spelare" är imponerande. En bättre förbundskapten, läs huvudhandledare, kunde jag inte haft. Tack för den tillit du visat mig genom doktorandåren och för att du trodde på mig och mina forskningsidéer. Det betyder allt. Tack.

Mina bihandledare, **Per Åkesson**, för din noggrannhet och sunda skepticism. För kloka synpunkter längs vägen och för din förmåga att se olika perspektiv på ett ödmjukt och givande sätt. **Peter Lanbeck**, för att du hjälpte mig att etablera viktiga regionala kontaktnät inledningsvis, för ditt skarpa öga vid granskning av omfångsrika dokument och inte minst för att du lyssnade den där morgonen efter nattjouren, den dagen projekten tog sin början. Tack till er båda.

**Peter Lanbeck, Poul Kongstad**, **Arne Olofsson** och **Emma Fagerstrand**, det var med hjälp av ert engagemang och viljan att förbättra den initiala sepsisvården som vi inledde arbetet med det första sepsisspåret i Malmö. Tänk att vi nått längre än vi nog någonsin trodde var möjligt, då för tio år sedan. Tack.

Det regionala sepsisteamet, **Maria-Bengtsson Toni**, **Mette Wendt** och **Sofie Pihlqvist**, hur ska jag kunna tacka er? Ni lojala, hårt arbetande och professionella kvinnor. Vilken insats det innebar att införa Sepsiskedjan i hela Skåne och så många nya stigar vi fick trampa upp tillsammans. Att få dela detta pionjärarbete för att förbättra den initiala sepsisvården med er har varit en unik och fantastisk upplevelse. Det var inte alltid lätt, men alltid värt det. Tack.

De tio **lokala sepsis(dream)teamen**, för att ni arbetat oförtrutet med att förbättra den akuta sepsisvården. För ert engagemang och för er förmåga att hitta innovativa lösningar för att anpassa sepsisprocessen till er egen akutmottagning. Tack.

Kevin Bronton som delar första-författarskapet i Studie III, för din ödmjukhet, skärpa och ditt smittande skratt. Johan Tham, för ditt engagemang, din klokskap och ditt robusta stöd i arbetet med och kring Studie IV. Ovärderligt. Tack. Till medförfattarna Juan Gonzalez del Castillo, Kordo Saeed och Darius Wilson för gott samarbete i Studie II och till Andreas Bergmann, Oliver Hartmann och Joachim Struck, för gott samarbete i Studie III. Muchas gracias. Thank you. Vielen Dank.

Forskningssköterskorna, **Lena Tegnér**, **Maria Bengtsson-Toni** och **Marjaneh Peyman** som inkluderade patienterna i biobanksstudien. En extra eloge till er för ert idoga arbete att inkludera patienter ur ett brett och oselekterat akutperspektiv, vilket kommer att få stor betydelse för forskningsresultatens användningsområde. Tack.

De tre **förvaltningscheferna**, den **Regionala akutchefsgruppen** och **infektionscheferna** i Skåne, för gott samarbete. För er lyhördhet, viljan att anamma ett nytt arbetssätt och för att ni varit tillgängliga för diskussioner kring sepsisarbetet, för utveckling och utvärdering av detsamma. Tack också till den **Regionala vårdprogramsgruppen för sepsis**, för lika givande samarbete.

Stödet från olika regionala aktörer har varit viktigt under implementeringsprocessen; Hälso- och sjukvårdsnämnden, Koncernledningen, Enheten för kunskapsstyrning, Melior-support, IT-support och medarbetare som varit behjälpliga med att ta fram och uppdatera realtidsmätningen i QlikView. Tack.

Halvtidsopponenterna **Bodil Ohlsson** och **Jonas Ahl** för värdefulla och konstruktiva synpunkter inför slutfasen av avhandlingsarbetet. Tack.

**Louise Wester,** för fantastiskt roliga och givande samtal under slutspurten av skrivprocessen. För ditt bidrag med pedagogiska och förtydligande illustrationer. Tack.

**Gunilla Hughes Wulcan** för din närmast overkliga hjälpsamhet och vänlighet. Oavsett ärende, har du alltid ett förslag på lösning. **Carina Linder**, för fina och uppiggande samtal och för att du hållit koll på det administrativa. **Giesela Brodd**, för din tillgänglighet, handlingskraft och noggrannhet. **Peter Almgren**, för din kloka och eftertänksamma input när vi byggde databasen inför biobanksstudien. Tack.

Mina chefer genom åren (det har blivit några stycken), tack för att ni stöttat både arbetet med Sepsiskedjan och biobanksforskningen; **Lars Stavenow**, **Maria Ohlson-Andersson**, **Oskar Hammar, Peter Lanbeck, Peter Wiksell, Maria Josephson** och **Anna Jerkeman**. Till de kloka och engagerade kollegorna på medicin- och akutkliniken i Malmö. Till akutcheferna **Peter Ek** och **Carina Wahlgren** som varit engagerade i arbetet med Sepsiskedjan från start. Till akutchefer, akutläkare, internmedicinare, akutpersonal, prehospitala aktörer och till infektionskollegorna runt om i Skåne. För att ni tagit till er arbetssättet med Sepsiskedjan och därigenom möjliggjort det regionala förbättringsarbetet. Tack.

Kollegorna på infektionskliniken i Malmö, som var beredda att prova ett nytt arbetssätt trots ökad arbetsbörda och som deltog engagerat i utvärderingen av de inledande prepiloterna. Det ständigt pågående samtalet med er och återkopplingen kring modellens föroch nackdelar har bidragit till att stärka och utveckla Sepsiskedjan. Ett extra stort tack till er alla för att ni fått mig att känna mig som en del av kliniken trots att jag i stor utsträckning arbetat på distans. Era sms, telefonsamtal, uteluncher och hejarop har betytt mycket under processen. Ni är ovärderliga och ett helt unikt gäng med hjärtat på rätta stället. Jag ser mycket fram emot att få arbeta kliniskt tillsammans med er igen. Tack.

Fredrik Månsson och Johan Tham, utan er uppmuntran hade pilotstudien troligen aldrig sett dagens ljus. Tack.

Till mina älskade barndomsvänner från Svedala med familjer, **Liselott**, **Carina**, **Jenny** och **Camilla**. Det är ett privilegium att ha fått vara valp tillsammans med just er och att sen få följas åt i livet. **Tina** med familj, min helt egna amerikanska storasyster. Mina kära kursare och pluggkompisar genom studieåren, **Anna**, **Helen** och **Lina**, som jag uppskattar er och våra samtal. Våra personlighetsdrag har väl knappats vattnats ur genom åren, men det gör ju bara det hela ännu bättre. Onsdagsgänget, med familjer, **Susanne**, **Toia**, **Jessica**, **Helene** och **Linda**. Man är alltid full av energi efter våra träffar. **Familjen Rönnblom**, för vänskap, växter och fantastiska grönsaksleveranser. **Palle** för överraskningsbesök som genererat välbehövliga pauser och intressanta diskussioner under avhandlingsarbetet. Tack.

Våra fantastiska nuvarande och före detta grannar i åldrarna <1 till 89 år. Grannbarnen **Edvard, Vilhelm, Lovis, Olle, John** och **Vince** som med sina försiktiga knackningar på dörren alltid hämtar en tillbaka till Lillgrändens magi eller en givande träff i "luckan". Speciellt tack för alla fina skatter ni lämnat vid min dator senaste månaderna. Tack.

**Till den lilla och stora familjen** för er ovillkorliga kärlek och omsorg, mitt fundament. Min pappa som inte längre finns med oss, min käre bror med familj och den utökade familjen med de bästa av svärföräldrar och Die Schwägerin med familj. Filippa och Vera, är så glad att våra killar träffat just er. Tack.

**Mamma**, en stor förebild, inte minst när det gäller att anpassa sig till livets skiftningar och i att aldrig upphöra med att förgylla vardagen med guldkanter. Många guldkanter. Tacksam att ha fått en dos av din "Margareta spirit" med mig i bagaget. Tack.

**Albin** och **Hampus**, ni gör mig stolt och lycklig. Tack för fina meddelandelappar och blåbärsleveranser. För er kärlek och omtanke. Fortsätt vara precis de ni är och fortsätt lysa upp vår värld på ert helt unika sätt. Ni är bäst.

Min make **Johan**, du är en klippa med "rätt" mycket humor och en sällsynt positiv livssyn. Tack för att du varit med hela vägen, trott på mig och hjälpt mig att se hinder ur nya perspektiv. Med din förmåga att fånga det medicinska (patognomona) språket, skulle du troligen kunna hålla dig flytande på vilken sepsiskongress som helst. Men kanske ska vi hellre än att besöka sepsiskongresser ge oss ut på det där äventyret med Folkabussen i Europa?

# References

- Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest 1992; 101:1644-55.
- 2. Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International sepsis definitions conference. Crit Care Med 2003; 31:1250-6.
- 3. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW et al. The third international consensus definitions for espsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 2016; 315(8):801-810.
- 4. Horan TC, Andrus M, Dudeck MA. CDC/NHSN surveillance definition of health care-associated infection and criteria for specific types of infections in the acute care setting. Am J Infect Control 2008; 36:309-32.
- 5. Susanne Straif-Bourgeois, Raoult Ratard, and Mirjam Kretzschmar; Handbook of Epidemiology. 2014 : 2041–2119.
- 6. Wallgren UM, Antonsson VE, Castrén MK et al. Longer time to antibiotics and higher mortality among septic patients with non-specific presentations--a cross sectional study of Emergency Department patients indicating that a screening tool may improve identification. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2016; 24:1.
- Sartelli M, Kluger Y, Ansaloni L et al. Raising concerns about the Sepsis-3 definitions. World J Emerg Surg 2018; 13:6.
- 8. Verboom DM, Frencken JF, Ong D et al. Robustness of sepsis-3 criteria in critically ill patients. J Intensive Care 2019; 29; 7:46.
- Williams JM, Greenslade J, McKenzie JV et al. Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome, Quick Sequential Organ Function Assessment, and Organ Dysfunction: Insights from a prospective database of ED patients with infection. Chest 2017;151(3):586-596.
- Dorsett M, Kroll M, Smith CS et al. qSOFA has poor sensitivity for prehospital identification of severe sepsis and septic shock. Prehosp Emerg Care 2017; 21(4):489-497.
- 11. Churpek MM, Snyder A, Han X et al. Quick Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment, Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome, and Early Warning Scores for detecting clinical deterioration in infected patients outside the intensive care unit. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2017; 195(7): 906-911.
- 12. Simpson SQ. Diagnosing sepsis: a step forward, and possibly a step back. Ann Transl Med 2017;5(3):55.

- Askim Å, Moser F, Gustad LT et al. Poor performance of quick-SOFA (qSOFA) score in predicting severe sepsis and mortality – a prospective study of patients admitted with infection to the emergency department. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2017; 9;25(1):56.
- 14. Ljungstrom L, Andersson R, Jacobsson G. Incidences of community onset severe sepsis, Sepsis-3 sepsis, and bacteremia in Sweden A prospective population-based study. PLoS One 2019;14(12).
- Seymour CW, Liu VX, Iwashyna TJ et al. Assessment of clinical criteria for sepsis: For the third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 2016; 315:762–774.
- 16. Shankar-Hari M, Phillips GS, Levy ML et al. Developing a new definition and assessing new clinical criteria for septic shock for the third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 2016; 23:315: 775-87.
- 17. Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM et al. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990-2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 2020;395(10219):200-211.
- Aravind M, Chung KC. Evidence-based medicine and hospital reform: Tracing origins back to Florence Nightingale. Plast Recustr Surg 2010; 125(1): 403-409.
- 19. https://www.who.int/standards/classifications/classification-of-diseases
- 20. CD-11 for Mortality and Morbidity Statistics (ICD-11 MMS) 2020 version. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en).
- 21. Mariansdatter SE, Eiset AH, Søgaard KK et al. Differences in reported sepsis incidence according to study design: a literature review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2016;16(1):137.
- 22. Todorovic Markovic M, Pedersen C, Gottfredsson M et al. Epidemiology of community-acquired sepsis in the Faroe Islands a prospective observational study. Infect Dis 2019;51(1):38-49.
- 23. Henriksen DP, Laursen CB, Jensen TG et al. Incidence rate of community-acquired sepsis among hospitalized acute medical patients-a population-based survey. Crit Care Med 2015;43(1):13-21.
- 24. Mellhammar L, Wullt S, Lindberg A et al. Sepsis incidence: a population-based study. Open Forum Infect Dis 2016;3(4).
- 25. Valik JK, Ward L, Tanushi H et al. Validation of automated sepsis surveillance based on the Sepsis-3 clinical criteria against physician record review in a general hospital population: observational study using electronic health records data. BMJ Qual Saf 2020;(9):735-745.
- 26. Rhee C, Dantes R, Epstein L et al. Incidence and trends of sepsis in US hospitals using clinical vs claims data, 2009-2014. JAMA 2017;318(13):1241-9.
- Rhee C, Dantes RB, Epstein L et al. Using objective clinical data to track progress on preventing and treating sepsis: CDC's new 'Adult Sepsis Event'surveillance strategy. BMJ Qual Saf 2019;(4):305-9.

- 28. Blanco J, Muriel-Bombín A, Sagredo V et al. Incidence, organ dysfunction and mortality in severe sepsis: a Spanish multicentre study. Crit Care 2008;12(6).
- 29. Kaukonen K-M, Baily M, Suzuki S et al. Mortality related to severe sepsis and septic shock among critically ill patients in Australia and New Zealand, 2000-2012. JAMA 2014;311(13):1308.
- 30. Fleischmann-Struzek C, Mikolajetz A, Schwarzkopf D et al. Challenges in assessing the burden of sepsis and understanding the inequalities of sepsis outcomes between National health systems: secular trends in sepsis and infection incidence and mortality in Germany. Intensive Care Med 2018; 44:1826–35.
- 31. Rhee C, Murphy MV, Li L et al. Improving documentation and coding for acute organ dysfunction biases estimates of changing sepsis severity and burden: a retrospective study. Crit Care 2015; 19:338.
- 32. Kadri SS, Rhee C, Strich JR et al. Estimating ten-year trends in septic shock incidence and mortality in United States Academic Medical Centers using clinical data. Chest 2017; 151:278–85.
- Gotts JE, Matthay MA. Sepsis: pathophysiology and clinical management. BMJ 2016; 23;353.
- 34. Kempker JA, Martin GS. The changing epidemiology and definitions of sepsis. Clin Chest Med 2016;37(2):165-79.
- 35. Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J et al. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit Care Med 2001;29(7):1303-10.
- 36. Angus DC, Kelley MA, Schmitz RJ et al. Caring for the critically ill patient. Current and projected workforce requirements for care of the critically ill and patients with pulmonary disease: can we meet the requirements of an aging population? JAMA 2000;248(21):2762-70.
- Adekoya N. Medicaid/State Children's Health Insurance Program patients and infectious diseases treated in emergency departments: U.S., 2003. Public Health Rep 2007; 122(4): 513–20.
- Hasegawa K, Tsugawa Y, Cohen A et al. Infectious Disease-related Emergency Department Visits Among Children in the US. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2015;34(7):681-5.
- 39. Ittisanyakorn M, Ruchichanantakul S, Vanichkulbodee A et al. Prevalence and factors associated with one-year mortality of infectious diseases among elderly emergency department patients in a middle-income country. BMC Infect Dis 2019;19(1):662.
- 40. Shankar Hari M, Harrison DA, Rubenfeld GD et al. Epidemiology of sepsis and septic shock in critical care units: comparison between sepsis-2 and sepsis-3 populations using a national critical care database. Br J Anaesth 2017;119(4):626-636.
- 41. Cecconi M, Evans L, Levy M et al. Sepsis and septic shock. Lancet 2018; 392(10141):75-87.
- 42. van der Poll T, van de Veerdonk F, Scicluna BP et al. The immunopathology of sepsis and potential therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Immunol 2017; (7):407-420.

- 43. Schulte W, Bernhagen J, Bucala R. Cytokines in sepsis: potent immunoregulators and potential therapeutic targets--an updated view. Mediators Inflamm 2013;165974.
- 44. Moine P, Abraham E. Immunomodulation and sepsis: impact of the pathogen. Shock 2004;(4):297-308.
- 45. Hotchkiss RS, Moldawer LL, Opal SM et al. Sepsis and septic shock. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2016; 2:16045.
- 46. Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell 2010; 140(6):805-20.
- 47. Aird WC. The role of the endothelium in severe sepsis and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. Blood 2003;101(10):3765-77.
- 48. Clark SR, Ma AC, Tavener SA et al. Platelet TLR4 activates neutrophil extracellular traps to ensnare bacteria in septic blood. Nat Med 2007; (4): 463–9.
- 49. Otto GP, Sossdorf M, Claus RA et al. The late phase of sepsis is characterized by an increased microbiological burden and death rate. Crit Care 2011;15(4): R183.
- 50. Delano M, Ward PA. The immune system's role in sepsis progression, resolution, and long-term outcome. Immunol Rev 2016; 274(1): 330–353.
- 51. Drewry AM, Samra N, Skrupky LP et al. Persistent lymphopenia after diagnosis of sepsis predicts mortality. Shock 2014; 42(5):383-91.
- 52. Walton AH, Muenzer JT, Rasche D et al. Reactivation of multiple viruses in patients with sepsis. PLoS One 2014;9(2): e98819.
- 53. Takasu O, Gaut JP, Watanabe E et al. Mechanisms of cardiac and renal dysfunction in patients dying of sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013; 187(5):509-17.
- 54. Vincent J-L, Sakr Y, Sprung CL et al. Sepsis in European intensive care units: results of the SOAP study. Crit Care Med 2006;34(2): 344–53.
- 55. Shapiro N, Howell MD, Bates DW et al. The association of sepsis syndrome and organ dysfunction with mortality in emergency department patients with suspected infection. Ann Emerg Med 48(5):583-590.
- 56. Yende S, Austin S, Rhodes A et al. Long-term quality of life among survivors of severe sepsis: analyses of two international trials. Crit Care Med 2016;44(8):1461-1467.
- 57. Shapiro NI, Trzeciak S, Hollander JE et al. A prospective, multicenter derivation of a biomarker panel to assess risk of organ dysfunction, shock, and death in emergency department patients with suspected sepsis. Crit Care Med 2009; 37(1):96-104.
- 58. Glickman SW, Cairns CB, Otero RM et al. Disease progression in hemodynamically stable patients presenting to the emergency department with sepsis. Acad Emerg Med 2010;(4):383-90.
- Stevenson EK, Rubenstein AR, Radin GT et al. Two decades of mortality trends among patients with severe sepsis: a comparative meta-analysis. Crit Care Med 2014; 42(3):625-631.
- 60. Gaieski DF, Edwards JM, Kallan MJ et al. Benchmarking the incidence and mortality of severe sepsis in the United States. Crit Care Med 2013; 41(5):1167-1174.

- 61. Feinstein AR, Sosin DM, Wells CK. The Will Rogers phenomenon. Stage migration and new diagnostic techniques as a source of misleading statistics for survival in cancer. N Engl J Med 1985; 312(25):1604-8.
- 62. Chang Y-C, Fang Y-T, Chen H-C et al. Effect of do-not-resuscitate orders on patients with sepsis in the medical intensive care unit: a retrospective, observational and propensity score- matched study in a tertiary referral hospital in Taiwan. BMJ Open 2019; 9(6): e029041.
- 63. O'Brien JM, Aberegg SK, Ali NA et al. Results from the national sepsis practice survey: predictions about mortality and morbidity and recommendations for limitation of care orders. Crit Care 2009;13(3): R96.
- 64. Ehlenbach WJ, Barnato AE, Curtis JR, et al. Epidemiologic study of in-hospital cardiopulmonary resuscitation in the elderly. N Engl J Med 2009; 361(1):22–31.
- 65. Godfrey G, Pilcher D, Hilton A et al. Treatment limitations at admission to intensive care units in Australia and New Zealand: prevalence, outcomes, and resource use. Crit Care Med 2012; 40(7):2082–9.
- 66. Prescott HC, Angus DC. Enhancing Recovery From Sepsis: A Review. JAMA 2018;319(1):62-75.
- 67. Prescott HC, Osterholzer JJ, Langa KM et al. Late mortality after sepsis: propensity matched cohort study. BMJ 2016; 17:353: i2375.
- 68. Prescott HC, Langa KM, Iwashyna TJ. Readmission diagnoses after hospitalization for severe sepsis and other acute medical conditions. JAMA 2015;313(10):1055-7.
- 69. Huang CY, Daniels R, Lembo A et al. Life after sepsis: an international survey of survivors to understand the post-sepsis syndrome. Int J Qual Health Care. 2019;31(3):191-8.
- 70. Iwashyna TJ, Ely EW, Smith DM et al. Long-term cognitive impairment and functional disability among survivors of severe sepsis. JAMA 2010;304(16):1787-94.
- 71. Prescott HC, Langa KM, Liu V et al. Increased 1-year healthcare use in survivors of severe sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014;190(1):62-9.
- 72. Prescott HC, Langa KM, Iwashyna TJ et al. Readmission diagnoses after hospitalization for severe sepsis and other acute medical conditions. JAMA 2015; 313(10): 1055-7.
- 73. Sokol D. A guide to the Hippocratic Oath. 2008. [Accessed April 3, 2018]. Available from: http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/7654432.stm.
- 74. Klevens RM, Edwards JR, Richards CL. Estimating health care-associated infections and deaths in U.S. hospitals, 2002. Public Health Rep 2007;122(2):160–166.
- 75. Thorrington D, Andrews N, Stowe J et al. Elucidating the impact of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine programme on pneumonia, sepsis and otitis media hospital admissions in England using a composite control. BMC Med 2018; 16(1):13.
- 76. Martischang R, Pires D, Masson-Roy S et al. Promoting and sustaining a historical and global effort to prevent sepsis: the 2018 World Health Organization SAVE LIVES, Clean Your Hands campaign. Crit Care 2018; 22(1):92.

- Liang SY, Riethman M, Fox J et al. Infection Prevention for the Emergency Department: Out of Reach or Standard of Care? Emerg Med Clin North Am 2018; 36(4):873-87.
- 78. Conway LJ, Larson EL. Guidelines to prevent catheter-associated urinary tract infection: 1980 to 2010. Heart Lung 2012; 41(3):271-83.
- 79. Lemaster CH, Agrawal AT, Hou P et al. Systematic review of emergency department central venous and arterial catheter infection. Int J Emerg Med 2010; 3(4):409-23.
- 80. Hoot NR, Aronsky D. Systematic review of emergency department crowding; causes, effects, and solutions. Ann Emerg Med 2008; 52(2):126-36.
- McNaughton C, Self WH, Jones ID et al. ED crowding and the use of nontraditional beds. Am J Emerg Med 2012; 30(8):1474-80.
- 82. "WHO Constitution, BASIC DOCUMENTS, Forty-ninth edition" (PDF). Archived (PDF) *from the original on 1 April 2020*
- 83. Resolution WHA70.7. In: Seventieth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 22-31 May 2017 (http://apps.who. int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA70/A70\_R7-en.pdf, accessed 13 August 2020).
- Reinhart K, Daniels R, Kissoon N et al. Recognizing Sepsis as a Global Health Priority
  A WHO Resolution. N Engl J Med 2017; 377(5):414-7.
- 85. Vincent J-L, Rello J, Marshall J et al. International study of the prevalence and outcomes of infection in intensive care units. JAMA 2009; 302: 2323–29.
- Calandra T, Cohen J. The international sepsis forum consensus conference on definitions of infection in the intensive care unit. Crit Care Med 2005; 33(7):1538– 48.
- 87. Motzkus CA, Luckmann R. Does infection site matter? A systematic review of infection site mortality in sepsis. J Intensive Care Med 2017; (8) 473-479.
- 88. Nygård ST, Langeland N, Flaatten HK et al. Aetiology, antimicrobial therapy and outcome of patients with community acquired severe sepsis: a prospective study in a Norwegian university hospital. BMC Infect Dis 2014; 14:121.
- 89. Aillet C, Jammes D, Fribourg A, et al. Bacteraemia in emergency departments: effective antibiotic reassessment is associated with a better outcome. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2018; 37(2):325–31.
- 90. Klein Klouwenberg PMC, Cremer OL, van Vught LA et al. Likelihood of infection in patients with presumed sepsis at the time of intensive care unit admission: a cohort study. Crit Care 2015;19(1): 319.
- 91. Abe T, Tokuda Y, Shiraishi A et al. In-hospital mortality associated with the misdiagnosis or unidentified site of infection at admission. Crit Care 2019; 23(1):202.
- 92. Rhodes A, Evans LE, Alhazzani W et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: International Guidelines for Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock: 2016 Intensive Care Med 2017;43(3):304-377.
- 93. Long B, Koyfman A. Best Clinical Practice: Blood Culture Utility in the Emergency Department. J Emerg Med 2016; 51(5):529-39.

- 94. Panday RSN, Lammers EMJ, Alam N et al. An overview of positive cultures and clinical outcomes in septic patients: a sub- analysis of the Prehospital Antibiotics Against Sepsis (PHANTASi) trial. Critical Care 2019; 23(1):182.
- 95. Lamy B, Dargère S, Arendrup MC et al. How to Optimize the Use of Blood Cultures for the Diagnosis of Bloodstream Infections? A State-of-the Art. Front Microbiol 2016; 7:69.
- 96. Viale P, Tedeschi S, Scudeller L et al. Infectious Diseases Team for the Early Management of Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock in the Emergency Department. Clin Infect Dis 2017; 65(8), 1253-1259.
- 97. Gaieski DF, Agarwal AK, Mikkelsen ME et al. The impact of ED crowding on early interventions and mortality in patients with severe sepsis. Am J Emerg Med 2017; 35(7):953-960.
- Choi EC, Chia YH, Koh YQ et al. Appropriateness of blood culture: A comparison of practices between the emergency department and general wards. Infect Dis Health 2019;24(1):49-55.
- Kerremans JJ, van der Bij AK, Goessens W et al. Immediate incubation of blood cultures outside routine laboratory hours of operation accelerates antibiotic switching. J Clin Microbiol 2009; 47(11):3520–3.
- Kumar A, Ellis P, Arabi Y et al. Initiation of inappropriate antimicrobial therapy results in a fivefold reduction of survival in human septic shock. Chest. 2009;136(5):1237–48.
- 101. Ani C, Farshidpanah S, Stewart AB et al. Variations in organism-specific severe sepsis mortality in the United States: 1999-2008. Crit Care Med 2015; 43(1): 65–77.
- 102. Bloos F, Hinder F, Becker K et al. A multicenter trial to compare blood culture with polymerase chain reaction in severe human sepsis. Intensive Care Med 2010; 36(2):241–7.
- Lehmann LE, Alvarez J, Hunfeld K-P et al. Potential clinical utility of polymerase chain reaction in microbiological testing for sepsis. Crit Care Med. 2009; 37(12):3085–90.
- 104. Suberviola B, Márquez-López A, Castellanos-Ortega A et al. Microbiological diagnosis of sepsis: polymerase chain reaction system versus blood cultures. Am J Crit Care. 2016;25(1):68–75.
- 105. Louie RF, Tang Z, Albertson TE et al. Multiplex polymerase chain reaction detection enhancement of bacteremia and fungemia. Crit Care Med 2008; 36(5):1487–92.
- 106. Martin GS, Mannino DM, Moss M. The effect of age on the development and outcome of adult sepsis. Crit Care Med 2006; 34(1):15-21.
- 107. Angele MK, Pratschke S, Hubbard WJ et al. Gender differences in sepsis: cardiovascular and immunological aspects. Virulence 2014; 5(1):12-19.
- Sunden-Cullberg J, Nilsson A, Inghammar M. Sex-based differences in ED management of critically ill patients with sepsis: a nationwide cohort study. Intensive Care Med. 2020; 46(4): 727–736.

- Brun-Buisson C, Doyon F, Carlet J et al. Incidence, risk factors, and outcome of severe sepsis and septic shock in adults. A multicenter prospective study in intensive care units. JAMA 1995; 274(12):968-74.
- Tolsma V, Schwebel C, Azoulay E et al. Sepsis severe or septic shock: outcome according to immune status and immunodeficiency profile. Chest 2014; 146(5): 1205-13.
- Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock, 2012. Intensive Care Med 2013;39(2): 165–228.
- 112. Vincent JL, Bihari DJ, Suter PM et al. The prevalence of nosocomial infection in intensive care units in Europe. Results of the European Prevalence of Infection in Intensive Care (EPIC) Study. EPIC International Advisory Committee. JAMA 1995; 274(8): 639–44.
- 113. Prescott HC, Dickson RP, Rogers M et al. Hospitalization Type and Subsequent Severe Sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015; 192(5): 581–588.
- 114. Netea MG, van der Meer J. Immunodeficiency and genetic defects of patternrecognition receptors. N Engl J Med 2011; 364(1):60-70.
- 115. Scicluna BP, van Vught LA, Zwinderman AH et al. Classification of patients with sepsis according to blood genomic endotype: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Respir Med 2017; (10):816-826.
- 116. O'Brien JM, Lu B, Ali NA et al. Alcohol dependence is independently associated with sepsis, septic shock, and hospital mortality among adult intensive care unit patients. Crit Care Med 2007; 35(2):345-50.
- 117. Arcavi L, Benowitz NL. Cigarette smoking and infection. Arch Intern Med 2004; 164(20):2206-16.
- 118. Williams PT. Inadequate exercise as a risk factor for sepsis mortality. PLoS One 2013; 8(12): e79344
- 119. www.oslersymposia.org/about-Sir-William-Oslere 2019
- 120. Yealy DM, Kellum JA, Huang DT et al. A randomized trial of protocol-based care for early septic shock. N Engl J Med 2014 May 1;370(18):1683-93.
- 121. Quinten VM, van Meurs M, Ter Maaten JC et al. Trends in vital signs and routine biomarkers in patients with sepsis during resuscitation in the emergency department: a prospective observational pilot study. BMJ Open 2016;6(5): e009718.
- 122. Gille-Johnson P, Hansson KE, Gårdlund B. Clinical and laboratory variables identifying bacterial infection and bacteraemia in the emergency department. Scand J of Infect Dis 2012; 44 (10): 745-752.
- 123. Sundén-Cullberg J, Rylance R, Svefors J et al. Fever in the Emergency Department Predicts Survival of Patients With Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock Admitted to the ICU. Crit Care Med 2017;45(4):591-599.
- 124. Bayer O, Schwarzkopf D, Stumme C et al. An early warning scoring system to identify septic patient in the prehospital setting: the PRESEP score. Acad Emerg Med 2015;(7):868-87.

- 125. Buist M, Bernard S, Nguyen TV et al. Association between clinically abnormal observations and subsequent in-hospital mortality: a prospective study. Resuscitation 2004;62(2):137-41.
- 126. Yamamoto S, Yamazaki S, Shimizu T et al. Body Temperature at the Emergency Department as a Predictor of Mortality in Patients With Bacterial Infection. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016:95(21): e362.8
- 127. DeWitt S, Chavez SA, Perkins J et al. Evaluation of fever in the emergency department. Am J Emerg Med 2017;35(11):1755-1758.
- 128. Filbin MR, Lynch J, Gillingham TD et al. Presenting symptoms independently predict mortality in septic shock: importance of a previously unmeasured confounder. Crit Care Med; 2018;46(10):1592–9.
- 129. Gyawali B, Ramakrishna K, AS Dhamoon et al. Sepsis: The evolution in definition, pathophysiology, and management. SAGE Open Med 2019 Mar 21;7.
- 130. Caraballo C, Jaimes F. Organ Dysfunction in Sepsis: An Ominous Trajectory From Infection To Death. Yale J Biol Med 2019; 92(4): 629-640.
- 131. Hussner F, Chakraborty S, Halbgebauer R et al. Challenge to the Intestinal Mucosa During Sepsis. Front Immunol 2019;10: 891.
- 132. Haak BW, Prescott HC, Wiersinga WJ. Therapeutic Potential of the Gut Microbiota in the Prevention and Treatment of Sepsis. Front Immunol 2018; 9:2042
- Alobaidi R, Basu RK, Goldstein SL et al. Sepsis-associated acute kidney injury. Semin Nephrol 2015; 35(1):2-11.
- 134. Wan L, Bagshaw SM, Langenberg C et al. Pathophysiology of septic acute kidney injury: what do we really know? Crit Care Med 2008;36: S198-203.
- Bellomo R, Kellum JA, Ronco C et al. Acute kidney injury in sepsis. Intensive Care Med 2017;43(6):816–28.
- 136. Rush BR, Wiskar K, Celi LA et al. Association of Household Income Level and In-Hospital Mortality in Patients With Sepsis: A Nationwide Retrospective Cohort Analysis. J Intensive Care 2018; 33:551-556.
- Shorr AF, Tabak YP, Killian AD et al. Healthcare-associated bloodstream infection: A distinct entity? Insights from a large U.S. database. Crit Care Med 2006;34(10):2588-95.
- 138. Markwart R, Saito H, Harder T et al. Epidemiology and burden of sepsis acquired in hospitals and intensive care units: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46(8):1536-51.
- 139. Ljunggren M, Castrén M, Nordberg M et al. The association between vital signs and mortality in a retrospective cohort study of an unselected emergency department population. Scand J Trauma, Resusc and Emerg Med 2016; 24:21.
- 140. Marshall JC. The PIRO (predisposition, insult, response, organ dysfunction) model: toward a staging system for acute illness. Virulence. 2014;5(1):27-35.
- 141. Seymour CW, Kennedy JN, Wang S et al. Derivation, Validation, and Potential Treatment Implications of Novel Clinical Phenotypes for Sepsis. JAMA 2019;321(20):2003-17.

- 142. Talan DA, Guterman JJ, Overturf GD et al. Analysis of emergency department management of suspected bacterial meningitis. Ann Emerg Med 1989; 18:856-62.
- 143. Cooper RL and Constable IJ. Draining pus from the cornea. Aust J Ophthal 1983; 11(4):287-294.
- 144. Bloos F, Ruddel H, Thomas-Ruddel D et al. Effect of a multifaceted educational intervention for anti-infectious measures on sepsis mortality: a cluster randomized trial. Intensive Care Med 2017; 43(11):1602–1612.
- 145. Martínez ML, Ferrer R, Torrents E et al. Impact of Source Control in Patients With Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock. Crit Care Med 2017; 45(1):11–19.
- 146. https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/23/5/16-1556\_article
- 147. Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) POSITION STATEMENT: Why IDSA Did Not Endorse the Surviving Sepsis Campaign Guidelines. Clin Infec Dis 2018;66(10):1631–5.
- 148. Rivers E, Nguyen B, Havstad S et al. Early goal-directed therapy in the treatment of severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med 2001;345(19):1368-77.
- 149. Andersson M, Östholm-Balkhed Å, Fredriksson M et al. Delay of appropriate antibiotic treatment is associated with high mortality in patients with community-onset sepsis in a Swedish setting. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2019;38(7):1223-1234.
- 150. Leisman D, Huang V, Q Zhou et al. Delayed Second Dose Antibiotics for Patients Admitted From the Emergency Department With Sepsis: Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Outcomes. Crit Care Med 2017;45(6):956-965.
- 151. Madaline, T, Wadskier Montagne F, Eisenberg R et al. Early Infectious Disease Consultation Is Associated With Lower Mortality in Patients With Severe Sepsis or Septic Shock Who Complete the 3-Hour Sepsis Treatment Bundle. Open Forum Infec Dis; 2019; 6(10).
- 152. Frank ED. Septic shock, 1964. Int Anesthesiol Clin 1999; 37(1): 129-136.
- 153. Mouncey PR, Osborn TM, Power GS et al. Protocolised Management In Sepsis (ProMISe): a multicentre randomised controlled trial of the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of early, goal-directed, protocolised resuscitation for emerging septic shock. Health Technol Assess 2015; 19(97): 1-150.
- 154. Peake SL, Delaney A, Bailey M et al. Goal-directed resuscitation for patients with early septic shock. N Engl J Med 2014; 16;371(16):1496-506.
- 155. Siemieniuk RAC, Chu DK, Kim LHY et al. Oxygen therapy for acutely ill medical patients: a clinical practice guideline. BMJ 2018;363: k4169
- 156. Morley C, Unwin M, Peterson GM et al. Emergency department crowding: A systematic review of causes, consequences and solutions. PLoS One. 2018; 13(8): e0203316.
- 157. Jenkins LJ, McCarthy ML, Sauer LM et al. Mass-casualty triage: time for an evidencebased approach. Prehosp Disaster 2008;23(1):3-8.
- 158. https://www.cdc.gov/winnablebattles/report/HAIs.html

- 159. Haque M, Sartelli M, McKimm J et al. Health care-associated infections an overview. Infect Drug Resist 2018;11: 2321-33.
- 160. https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/en/data-insights/intensive-care-beds-capacity
- 161. Quinten VM, van Meurs M, Wolffensperger A et al. Sepsis patients in the emergency department: stratification using the Clinical Impression Score, Predisposition, Infection, Response and Organ dysfunction score or quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score? Eur J Emerg Med 2018; (5):328-334.
- 162. Guerra WF, Mayfield TR, Meyers MS et al. Early detection and treatment of patients with severe sepsis by prehospital personnel. J Emerg Med 2013;44(6):1116-25.
- 163. Studnek JR, Artho MR, Garner CL Jr et al. The impact of emergency medical services on the ED care of severe sepsis. Am J Emerg Med 2012; 30(1):51-6.
- 164. Studnek JR, Artho MR, Garner CL et al. The impact of emergency medical services on the ED care of severe sepsis. Am J Emerg Med 2012; 30(1):51-6.
- 165. Smyth MA, Brace-McDonnell SJ, Perkins GD et al. Identification of adults with sepsis in the prehospital environment: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2016;6(8): e011218.
- 166. Wallgren UM, Sjölin J, Järnbert-Pettersson H et al. The predictive value of variables measurable in the ambulance and the development of the Predict Sepsis screening tools: a prospective cohort study. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2020; 28(1):59.
- 167. Wallgren UM, Bohm KEM, Kurland L. Presentations of adult septic patients in the prehospital setting as recorded by emergency medical services: a mixed methods analysis. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2017;25(1):23.
- 168. Yokota PKO, Marra AR, Martino MDV et al. Impact of appropriate antimicrobial therapy for patients with severe sepsis and septic shock – a quality improvement study. PLoS One 2014;9(11):e104475.
- 169. Garnacho-Montero J, Guiterrez-Pizarraya A, Escoresca-Ortega A et al. Adequate antibiotic therapy prior to ICU admission in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock reduces hospital mortality. Crit Care. 2015; 19(1): 302.
- 170. Liu VX, Fielding-Singh V, Greene JD et al. The Timing of Early Antibiotics and Hospital Mortality in Sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2017; 196(7): 856-863.
- 171. Seymour CW, Gesten F, Prescott HC et al. Time to treatment and mortality during mandated emergency care for sepsis. N Engl J Med 2017; 376(23):2235–44.
- 172. Ferrer R, Martin-Loeches I, Phillips G et al. Empiric antibiotic treatment reduces mortality in severe sepsis and septic shock from the first hour: results from a guideline-based performance improvement program. Crit Care Med 2014; 42(8):1749–55.
- 173. Gaieski DF, Mikkelsen ME, Band RA et al. Impact of time to antibiotics on survival in patients with severe sepsis or septic shock in whom early goal-directed therapy was initiated in the emergency department. Crit Care Med 2010; 38(4):1045–53.
- 174. Puskarich MA, Trzeciak S, Shapiro NI et al. Association between timing of antibiotic administration and mortality from septic shock in patients treated with a quantitative resuscitation protocol. Crit Care Med 2011; 39(9):2066–71.

- 175. Levy MM, Gesten FC, Phillips GS et al. Mortality Changes Associated with Mandated Public Reporting for Sepsis. The Results of the New York State Initiative. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2018; 198(11):1406-12.
- 176. Alam N, Oskam E, Stassen PM et al. Prehospital antibiotics in the ambulance for sepsis: a multicenter, open label, randomized trial. Lancet Respir Med 2018;6(1):40-50.
- 177. Scheele KW (1788–1789) Opuscula chemica et physica. Leipzig
- 178. Scherer JJ (1851) Eine Untersuchung des Blutes bei Leukämie. Verhandlungen der Physikalisch-Medicinischen Gesellschaft im Würzburg 2:321–325
- 179. Brooks GA. Cell-cell and intracellular lactate shuttles. J Physiol. 2009;587(pt 23):5591-600.
- 180. Gibot S. On the origins of lactate during sepsis. Crit Care 2012;16(5):151.
- 181. Bloom B, Pott J, Freund Y et al. The agreement between abnormal venous lactate and arterial lactate in the ED: a retrospective chart review. Am J Emerg Med 2014; 32(6):596-600.
- 182. Casserly B, Phillips GS, Schorr C et al. Lactate measurements in sepsis-induced tissue hypoperfusion: results from the Surviving Sepsis Campaign database. Crit Care Med 2015; 43(3): 567–73.
- Puskarich MA, Trzeciak S, Shapiro NI et al. Outcomes of patients undergoing early sepsis resuscitation for cryptic shock compared with overt shock. Resuscitation 2011; 82:1289-1293.
- 184. Donnino MW, Miller J, Goyal N et al. Effective lactate clearance is associated with improved outcome in post-cardiac arrest patients. Resuscitation 2007; 75(2)229-234.
- 185. Regnier M-A, Raux M, Le Manach Y et al. Prognostic significance of blood lactate and lactate clearance in trauma patients. Anesthesiology 2012; 117(6):1276-88.
- 186. Contenti J, Occelli C, Lemoel F et al. Blood lactate measurement within the emergency department: a two-year retrospective analysis. Am J Emerg Med. 2019; 37(3):401-6.
- 187. Shapiro NI, Howell MD, Talmor D et al. Serum lactate as a predictor of mortality in emergency department patients with infection. Ann Emerg Med 2005; 45(5):524-8.
- 188. Mikkelsen ME, Miltiades AN, Gaieski DF et al. Serum lactate is associated with mortality in severe sepsis independent of organ failure and shock. Crit Care Med 2009; 37(5):1670-7.
- Nguyen HB, Rivers EP, Knoblich BP et al. Early lactate clearance is associated with improved outcome in severe sepsis and septic shock. Crit Care Med 2004; 32(8):1637-42.
- 190. Clifford, KM, Dy-Boarman EA, Haase KK et al. Challenges with Diagnosing and Managing Sepsis in Older Adults. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 2016;14(2):231-41.
- 191. Inghammar M, Sundén-Cullberg J. Prognostic significance of body temperature in the emergency department vs the ICU in patients with severe sepsis or septic shock: A nationwide cohort study. PLoS One 2020; 29;15(12): e0243990.

- 192. Thursky K, Lingaratnam S, Jayarajan J et al. Implementation of a whole of hospital sepsis clinical pathway in a cancer hospital: impact on sepsis management, outcomes and costs. BMJ Open Qual 2018; 7(3): e000355.
- 193. Bero LA, Grilli R, Grimshaw JM et al. Closing the gap between research and practice: an overview of systematic reviews of interventions to promote the implementation of research findings. The Cochrane Effective Practice and Organization of Care Review Group. BMJ 1998; 15;317(7156):465-8.
- 194. Ebben RHA, Siqeca F, Madsen UR et al. Effectiveness of implementation strategies for the improvement of guideline and protocol adherence in emergency care: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2018; 8(11)
- 195. Yano EM. The role of organizational research in implementing evidence-based practice. QUERI Series. Implement Sci 2008;29; 3:29.
- 196. Kirk JW, Nilsen P. Implementing evidence-based practices in an emergency department: contradictions exposed when prioritising a flow culture. J Clin Nurs 2016; 25(3-4):555–65.
- 197. De Wit K, Curran J, Thoma B et al. Review of implementation strategies to change healthcare provider behavior in the emergency department. CJEM 2018;20(3):453-60.
- 198. Tavender EJ, Bosch M, Fiander M et al. Implementation research in emergency medicine: a systematic scoping review. Emerg Med J; 2016; 33(9):652-9.
- 199. Levy MM, Rhodes A, Phillips GS et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: association between performance metrics and outcomes in a 7.5-year study. Intensive Care Med 2014; 40(11): 1623–33.
- 200. Cannon CM, Holthaus CV, Zubrow MT et al. The GENESIS project (GENeralized Early Sepsis Intervention Strategies): a multicenter quality improvement collaborative. J Intensive Care Med 2013;28(6):355-68.
- 201. Noritomi DT, Ranzani, OT, Monteiro MB et al. Implementation of a multifaceted sepsis education program in an emerging country setting: clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness in a long-term follow-up study. Intensive Care Med 2014; 40(2), 182-191.
- 202. Afshar M, Arain E, Ye C et al. Patient Outcomes and Cost-Effectiveness of a Sepsis Care Quality Improvement Program in a Health System. Crit Care Med 2019;47(10):1371-79.
- 203. Guirgis FW, Jones L, Esma R et al. Managing sepsis: Electronic recognition, rapid response teams, and standardized care save lives. J Crit Care 2017;40:296-302.
- 204. Moher D, Schulz KF, Simera I et al. Guidance for developers of health research reporting guidelines. PLoS Med; 2010;16;7(2): e.1000217.
- 205. Möhler R, Bartoszek G, Köpke S et al. Proposed criteria for reporting the development and evaluation of complex interventions in healthcare (CReDECI): guideline development. Int J Nurs Stud 2012; 49(1):40–6.
- 206. Nakao H, Ukai I, Kotani J. A review of the history of the origin of triage from a disaster medicine perspective. Acute Med Surg 2017; 4(4): 379–38.

- 207. Skandalakis PN, Lainas P, Zoras O et al. "To Afford the Wounded Speedy Assistance": Dominique Jean Larrey and Napoleon. World J Surg 2006; 30(8): 1392–9.
- 208. Robertson-Steel I. Evolution of triage systems. Emerg Med J 2006; 23(2):154-5.
- 209. https://www.remm.nlm.gov/startadult.htm
- 210. https://www.ahrq.gov/patient-safety/settings/emergency-dept/esi.html
- 211. Manchester Triage Group. Emergency triage. Manchester: BMJ Publishing Group, 1997.
- 212. Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians. Implementation guidelines for the Canadian Emergency Department Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS), 1998, Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians. http://www.caep.ca/ 002.policies/002-02.ctas.htm November 2004 (accessed 9 December 2005).
- 213. Australian College of Emergency Medicine. Guidelines for the implementation of the Australian Triage Score 98, http://www.acem.org.au/ open/documents/triageguide.htm. November 2004 (accessed 9 December 2005).
- 214. Widgren BR, Jourak M. Medical Emergency Triage and Treatment System (METTS): a new protocol in primary triage and secondary priority decision in emergency medicine. J Emerg Med 2011;40(6):623–8.
- 215. Royal College of Physicians. National Early Warning Score (NEWS) 2: Standardising the assessment of acute-illness severity in the NHS. Updated report of a working party 2017.
- 216. Farrohknia N, Castrén M, Ehrenberg A et al. Emergency department triage scales and their components: a systematic review of the scientific evidence. Scand. J. Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2011; Jun 30; 19:42.
- 217. Lambe K, Currey J, Considine J. Frequency of vital sign assessment and clinical deterioration in an Australian emergency department. Australas Emerg Nurs J 2016;19(4):217-22.
- 218. Hong W, Earnest A, Sultana P et al. How accurate are vital signs in predicting clinical outcomes in critically ill emergency department patients. Eur J Emerg Med 2013;20(1):27-32.
- 219. Gerry S, Bonnici T, Birks J et al. Early warning scores for detecting deterioration in adult hospital patients: systematic review and critical appraisal of methodology. BMJ 2020; 20;369: m1501.
- 220. Uffen JW, OOsterheert JJ, Schweitzer VA et al. Interventions for rapid recognition and treatment of sepsis in the emergency department: a narrative review. Clin Microbiol Infect 2021; (2):192-203.
- 221. Simpson SQ. SIRS in the Time of Sepsis-3. Chest 2018;153(1):34-38.
- 222. Churpek MM, Zadravecz FJ, Winslow C, et al. Incidence and prognostic value of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome and organ dysfunctions in ward patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015; 192(8):958–64.
- 223. Kaukonen K-M, Bailey M, Pilcher D et al. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome criteria in defining severe sepsis. N Engl J Med 2015; 23;372(17):1629-38.

- 224. Redfern OC, Smith GB, Prytherch DR, et al. A Comparison of the Quick Sequential (Sepsis-Related) Organ Failure Assessment Score and the National Early Warning Score in Non-ICU Patients With/Without Infection. Crit Care Med 2018;46(12):1923-33.
- 225. Mellhammar L, Linder A, Tverring J et al. NEWS2 is Superior to qSOFA in Detecting Sepsis with Organ Dysfunction in the Emergency Department. J Clin Med.2019; 29;8(8):1128.
- 226. Usman OA, Usman AA, Ward MA. Comparison of SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS for the early identification of sepsis in the Emergency Department. Am J Emerg Med 2019;37(8):1490-97.
- 227. Smith GB, Prytherch DR, Meredith P et al. The ability of the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) to discriminate patients at risk of early cardiac arrest, unanticipated intensive care unit admission, and death. Resuscitation 2013;84(4):465-70.
- 228. Keep JW, Messmer AS, Sladden R et al. National early warning score at Emergency Department triage may allow earlier identification of patients with severe sepsis and septic shock: a retrospective observational study. Emerg Med J 2016; 33(1):37-41.
- 229. Albur M, Hamilton F, MacGowan AP et al. Early warning score: a dynamic marker of severity and prognosis in patients with gram-negative bacteraemia and sepsis. Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob 2016;15:23.
- 230. Corfield AR, Lees F, Zeally I et al. Utility of a single early warning score in patients with sepsis in the emergency department. Emerg Med J 2014; 31(6):482–7.
- 231. Szakmany T, Lundin RM, Sharif B et al. Sepsis Prevalence and Outcome on the General Wards and Emergency Departments in Wales: Results of a Multi-Centre, Observational, Point Prevalence Study. PLoS One 2016; 1;11(12): e0167230.
- 232. Mellhammar L, Linder A, Tverring J et al. Scores for sepsis detection and risk stratification construction of a novel score using a statistical approach and validation of RETTS. PLoS One 2020; 20;15(2): e0229210.
- 233. Shapiro NI, Wolfe RE, Moore RB et al. Mortality in Emergency Department Sepsis (MEDS) score: a prospectively derived and validated clinical prediction rule. Crit Care Med. 2003;31(3):670-5.
- 234. Harrison AM, Gajic O, Pickering BW et al. Development and implementation of sepsis alert systems. Clin Chest Med 2016; 37(2):219-29.
- 235. Nelson JL, Smith BL, Jared JD et al. Prospective trial of real-time electronic surveillance to expedite early care of severe sepsis. Ann Emerg Med 2011; 57(5):500-4.
- 236. Austrian JS, Jamin CT, Doty GR et al. Impact of an emergency department electronic sepsis surveillance system on patient mortality and length of stay. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018; 25(5):523-29.
- 237. Islam MM, Nasrin T, Walther BA et al. Prediction of sepsis patients using machine learning approach: A meta-analysis. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2019; 170:1-9.

- 238. Kruisselbrink R, Kwizera A, Crowther M et al. Modified early warning score (MEWS) identifies critical illness among ward patients in a resource restricted setting in Kampala, Uganda: a prospective observational study. PLoS One 2016;11(3): e0151408.
- 239. Walensky RP, McQuillen DP, Shahbazi S et al. Where Is the ID in COVID-19? Ann Intern Med 2020;173 (7):587-89.
- 240. Gatewood MO, Wemple M, Greco S et al. A quality improvement project to improve early sepsis care in the emergency department. BMJ Qual Saf 2015;24(12):787–95.
- 241. Armen SB, Freer CV, Showalter JW et al. Improving Outcomes in Patients With Sepsis. Am J Med Qual 2016;31(1):56-63.
- Idrees M, Macdonald SPj, Kodali K. Sepsis early alert tool: early recognition and timely management in the emergency department. Emerg Med Australas 2016; 28(4):399–403.
- 243. Rhodes A, Phillips G, Beale R et al. The Surviving Sepsis Campaign bundles and outcome: results from the International Multicentre Prevalence Study on Sepsis (the IMPreSS study). Intensive Care Med 2015; 41(9):1620–28
- 244. Rhee C, Filbin M, Massaro AF et al. Compliance with the National SEP-1 Quality Measure and Association with Sepsis Outcomes: A Multicenter Retrospective Cohort Study. Crit Care Med 2018;46(10):1585-91.
- 245. Barlam TF, Cosgrove SE, Abbo LM et al. Executive Summary: Implementing an Antibiotic Stewardship Program: Guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;62(10):1197-202.
- 246. Schmitt S, MacIntyre AT, Bleasdale SC et al. Early infectious diseases specialty intervention is associated with shorter hospital stays and lower readmission rates: a retrospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2019; 68(2):239-46.
- 247. May L, Cosgrove S, LÁrcheveque M et al. A Call to Action for Antimicrobial Stewardship in the Emergency Department: Approaches and Strategies. Ann Emerg Med 2013; 62(1):69-77.
- 248. McKendick, European Union of Medical Specialties. The European Union of Medical Specialties core training curriculum in infectious diseases: overview of national systems and distribution of specialists. Clin Microbiol Infect 2005; 11:28–32.
- 249. http://resistancecontrol.info/uncategorized/the-world-alliance-against-antibiotic-resistance-waaar-a-major-player-in-the-global-drive-to-protect-human-health/
- 250. McVeigh SE. Sepsis Management in the Emergency Department. Nurs Clin North Am 2020;55(1): 71–9.
- 251. Tromp M, Hulscher M, Bleeker-Rovers CP et al. The role of nurses in the recognition and treatment of patients with sepsis in the emergency department: A prospective before-and-after intervention study. Int J Nurs Stud 2010;47(12): 1464-73.
- 252. Patocka C, Turner J, Xue X et al. Evaluation of an Emergency Department Triage Screening Tool for Suspected Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock. J Healthc Qual 2014; 36(1):52–61.

- 253. Mitzkewich M. Sepsis Screening in Triage to Decrease Door-to-antibiotic Time. J Emerg Nurs 2019; 45(3):254-6.
- 254. Ferrer R, Artigas A, Levy MM et al. Improvement in process of care and outcome after a multicenter severe sepsis educational program in Spain. JAMA 2008; 21;299(19):2294-303.
- 255. Bruce HR, Maiden J, Fedullo PF, et al. Impact of nurse-initiated ED sepsis protocol on compliance with sepsis bundles, time to initial antibiotic administration, and inhospital mortality. J Emerg Nurs 2015; 41(2):130–7.
- 256. Hampers LC, McNulty JE. Professional interpreters and bilingual physicians in a pediatric emergency department: effect on resource utilization. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2002;156(11):1108-13.
- 257. Cooper RJ, Schriger DL, Flaherty HL et al. Effect of vital signs on triage decisions. Ann Emerg Med. 2002;39(3):223-32.
- 258. Arslanian-Engoren C. Explicating nurses' cardiac triage decisions. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2009;24(1):50-7.
- 259. Atzema CL, Austin PC, Tu JV et al. ED triage of patients with acute myocardial infarction: predictors of low acuity triage. Am J Emerg Med 2010;28(6):694-702.
- 260. O'Connor E, Gatien M, Weir C et al. Evaluating the effect of emergency department crowding on triage destination. Int J Emerg Med 2014; 28; 7:16.
- 261. Baldwin LN, Smith SA, Fender V et al: An audit of compliance with the sepsis resuscitation care bundle in patients admitted to A&E with severe sepsis or septic shock. Int Emerg Nurs 2008; 16(4):250–56.
- 262. Petruniak L, El-Masri M, Fox-Wasylyshyn S et al. Exploring the Predictors of Emergency Department Triage Acuity Assignment in Patients With Sepsis. Can J Nurs Res 2018;50(2) 81–8.
- 263. Narayanan N, Gross AK, Pintens M et al: Effect of an electronic medical record alert for severe sepsis among ED patients. Am J Emerg Med 2016; 34(2):185–188.
- 264. Arabi YM, Al-Dorzi HM, Alamry A et al. The impact of a multifaceted intervention including sepsis electronic alert system and sepsis response team on the out- comes of patients with sepsis and septic shock. Ann Intensive Care 2017; 7(1)57.
- 265. Grek A, Booth S, Festic E et al. Sepsis and shock response team: impact of a multidisciplinary approach to implementing surviving sepsis campaign guide- lines and surviving the process. Am J Med Qual 2017; 32(5):500–7.
- 266. Desai M, Stockbridge N, Temple R et al. AAPS J 2006;10;8(1)E146-52.
- 267. Mundkur BD. Evidence excluding mutations, polysomy, and polyploidy as possible causes of non-Mendelian segregations in Saccharomyces. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 1949; 36(3): 259-80
- Biomarkers Definition Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2001; 69(3):89–95.

- 269. WHO International Programme on Chemical Safety. Biomarkers in Risk Assessment: Validity and Validation. 2001. Retrieved from http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/222.htm
- 270. WHO International Programme on Chemical Safety. Biomarkers and Risk Assessment: Concepts and Principles. 1993. Retrieved from http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc155.htm
- 271. Ellenberg S, Hamilton JM. Surrogate endpoints in clinical trials: cancer. Stat Med 1989; 8(4):405–13.
- 272. Wittes J, Lakatos E, Probstfield J. Surrogate endpoints in clinical trials: cardiovascular diseases. Stat Med 1989; 8(4):415–25.
- 273. van Engeln TS, Wiersinga WJ, Scicluna BP et al. Biomarkers in sepsis. Crit Care Clin 2018;34(1):139-152.
- 274. Pierrakos C, Vincent J-L. Sepsis biomarkers: a review. Crit Care. 2010;14(1): R15.
- 275. Pierrakos C, Velissaris D, Bisdorff M et al. Biomarkers in sepsis: time for a reappraisal. Crit Care 2020; 5;24(1):287.
- 276. Grover V, Pantelidis P, Soni N et al. A biomarker panel (Bioscore) incorporating monocytic surface and soluble TREM-1 has high discriminative value for ventilator-associated pneumonia: a prospective observational study. PLoS One 2014; 7;9(10): e109686.
- 277. Marshall JC, Reinhart K, International Sepsis Forum. Biomarkers of sepsis. Crit Care Med 2009;37(7):2290-8
- 278. Drancourt M, Michel-Lepage A, Boyer S et al. The Point-of-Care Laboratory in Clinical Microbiology. Clin Microbiol Rev 2016;29(3):429-47.
- 279. Mearelli F, Fiotti N, Giansante et al. Derivation and validation of a biomarker-based clinical algorithm to rule out sepsis from noninfectious systemic inflammatory response syndrome at emergency department admission: a multicenter prospective study. Crit Care Med. 2018; 46(9):1421–9.
- 280. Luzzani A, Polati E, Dorizzi R et al. Comparison of procalcitonin and C-reactive protein as markers of sepsis. Crit Care Med. 2003; 31(6):1737–41.
- 281. Muller B, Becker KL, Schächinger H et al. Calcitonin precursors are reliable markers of sepsis in a medical intensive care unit. Crit Care Med. 2000;28(4):977-83.
- 282. Andriolo BN, Adriolog RB, Salamao R et al. Effectiveness and safety of procalcitonin evaluation for reducing mortality in adults with sepsis, severe sepsis or septic shock. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; 18;1(1):CD010959.
- 283. Schuetz P, Wirz Y, Sager R et al. Procalcitonin to initiate or discontinue antibiotics in acute respiratory tract infections. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; 10(10):CD007498.
- 284. Kitamura K, Kangawa K, Kawamot Y et al. Adrenomedullin: a novel hypotensive peptide isolated from human pheochromocytoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1993; 192(2):553-60.

- 285. Schuetz P, Christ-Crain M, Morgenthaler NG et al. Circulating precursor levels of endothelin-1 and adrenomedullin, two endothelium-derived, counteracting substances, in sepsis. Endothelium 2007; 14(6):345–51.
- 286. Struck J, Tao C, Morgenthaler NG et al. Identification of an Adrenomedullin precursor fragment in plasma of sepsis patients. Peptides 2004;25(8):1369–72.
- 287. Morgenthaler NG, Struck J, Alonso C et al. Measurment of midregional proadrenomedullin in plasma with an immunoluminometric assay. Clin Chem 2005; 51(10):1823-9.
- 288. Schönauer R, Els-Heindl S, Beck-Sickinger AG. Adrenomedullin new perspectives of a potent peptide hormone. J Pept Sci 2017; 23:472–85.
- 289. Neumann JT, Tzikas S, Funke-Kaiser A et al. Association of MR-proadrenomedullin with cardiovascular risk factors and subclinical cardiovascular disease. Atherosclerosis 2013; 228(2):451–9.
- 290. Melander O, Newton-Cheh C, Almgren P, Hedblad B, Berglund G, Engström G, et al. Novel and conventional biomarkers for prediction of incident cardiovascular events in the community. JAMA 2009; 302(1):49–57.
- 291. van Lier D, Kox M, Pickkers P. Promotion of vascular integrity in sepsis through modulation of bioactive adrenomedullin and dipeptidyl peptidase 3. J Intern Med 2021; 289(6):792-806.
- 292. Gille J, Ostermann H, Dragu A et al. MR-proADM: A new biomarker for early diagnosis of sepsis in burned patients. J Burn Care Res. 2017; 38(5):290–8.
- 293. Decker SO, Sigl A, Grumaz C et al. Immune-response patterns and next generation sequencing diagnostics for the detection of mycoses in patients with septic shock results of a combined clinical and experimental investigation. Int J Mol Sci 2017; 18(8):1796.
- 294. Marino R, Struck J, Maisel AS et al. Plasma adrenomedullin is associated with shortterm mortality and vasopressor requirement in patients admitted with sepsis. Critical Care 2014;18(1): R34.
- 295. Elke G, Bloos F, Wilson DC et al. The use of mid-regional proadrenomedullin to identify disease severity and treatment response to sepsis a secondary analysis of a large randomised controlled trial. Critical Care 2018; 22(1):79.
- 296. Christ-Crain M, Morgenthaler NG, Struck J et al. Mid-regional pro-adrenomedullin as a prognostic marker in sepsis: an observational study. Crit Care 2005;9(6): R816– 24.
- 297. Suberviola B, Castellanos-Ortega A, Ruiz Ruiz A et al. Hospital mortality prognostication in sepsis using the new biomarkers suPAR and proADM in a single determination on ICU admission. Intensive Care Med 2013; 39(11):1945–52.
- 298. Saed K, Legramante JM, Angeletti S et al. Mid-regional pro-adrenomedullin as a supplementary tool to clinical parameters in cases of suspicion of infection in the emergency department. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2021; 21(4):397-404.
- 299. Pugin J. Adrenomedullin: a vasodilator to treat sepsis? Crit Care 2014;18(3):152.

- 300. Geven C, Kox M and Pickkers P. Adrenomedullin and Adrenomedullin- Targeted Therapy As Treatment Strategies Relevant for Sepsis. Front Immunol 2018; 19; 9:292.
- 301. Geven C, Blet A, Kox M et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised, multicentre, proof-of-concept and dose-finding phase II clinical trial to investigate the safety, tolerability and efficacy of adrecizumab in patients with septic shock and elevated adrenomedullin concentration (AdrenOSS-2). BMJ Open 2019;19; 9(2).
- 302. Montrucchio G, Sales G, Rumbolo F et al. Effectiveness of mid-regional proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM) as prognostic marker in COVID-19 critically ill patients: An observational prospective study. PLoS One. 2021; 16(2): e0246771.
- 303. Clement-Jones V, Corder R, Lowry PJ. Isolation of human met-enkephalin and two groups of putative precursors (2K-pro-met-enkephalin) from an adrenal medullary tumour. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1980: 95(2): 665-673.
- 304. Ernst A, Köhrle J, Bergmann A. Proenkephalin A 119-159, a stable proenkephalin A precursor fragment identified in human circulation. Peptides 2006; 27(7):1835–40.
- Grossman A, Clement-Jones V. Opiate receptors: enkephalins and endorphins. Clin Endocrinol Metab 1983; 12(1):31–56.
- 306. Denning GM, Ackermann LW, Barna TJ et al. Proenkephalin expression and enkephalin release are widely observed in non-neuronal tissues. Peptides 2008;29(1):83–92.
- 307. Sezen SF, Kenigs VA, Kapusta DR. Renal excretory responses produced by the delta opioid agonist, BW373U86, in conscious rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1998;287(1):238–45.
- 308. Grossman A, Besser BM, Milles JJ et al. Inhibition of vasopressin release in man by an opiate peptide. Lancet 1980; 22;2(8204):1108–10.
- 309. Marino R, Struck J, Hartmann O et al. Diagnostic and short-term prognostic utility of plasma pro-enkephalin (pro-ENK) for acute kidney injury in patients admitted with sepsis in the emergency department. J Nephrol 2015; 28(6):717–24.
- Caironi P, Latini R, Struck J et al. Circulating proenkephalin, acute kidney injury, and its improvement in patients with severe sepsis or shock. Clin Chem 2018;64(9):1361–9.
- 311. Beunders R, van Groenendael R, Leijte GP et al. Proenkephalin compared to conventional methods to assess kidney function in critically ill sepsis patients. Shock. 2020; 54(3):308-14.
- 312. Matsue Y, Ter Maaten JM, Struck J et al. Clinical correlates and prognostic value of proenkephalin in acute and chronic heart failure. J Card Fail 2017;23(3):231–9.
- 313. Hollinger A, Wittebole X, François B et al. Proenkephalin A 119–159 (Penkid) is an early biomarker of septic acute kidney injury: the kidney in sepsis and septic shock (Kid-SSS) study. Kidney Int Rep 2018;3(6):1424–33.
- 314. Moledina DG, Parikh CR. Phenotyping of Acute Kidney Injury: Beyond Serum Creatinine. Semin Nephrol 2018;38(19:3-11.

- 315. Bellomo R, Ronco C, Mehta RL et al. Acute kidney injury in the ICU: from injury to recovery: reports from the 5th Paris International Conference. Ann Intensive Care 2017; 7:49
- 316. Khorashadi M, Beunders R, Pickkers P et al. Proenkephalin: A New Biomarker for Glomerular Filtration Rate and Acute Kidney Injury. Nephron 2020;144(12):655–61.
- 317. Lopes JA, Jorge S. The RIFLE and AKIN classifications for acute kidney injury: a critical and comprehensive review. Clin Kidney J 2013;6(1):8–14.

## Errata

In the original manuscript of **Study III**, there is an error in the Abstract. The number of patients included in the study was 647, not 644, and the number of patients excluded were 59 not 56, as erroneously stated in the Abstract.

Further, AKI in **Study III** is defined by an increase in SCr of > 44  $\mu$ mol/L (> 0.5 mg/dL) between any two measurements, or need for acute RRT, or an increase in creatinine corresponding to 1.5-fold of baseline with an initial value of > 160  $\mu$ mol/L (> 2.0 mg/dL), not according to AKIN stage 3, as stated.

Also, there is an error in Table 3 in **Study III**. When evaluating AKI within 7 days, the wrong denominator has been used in the analysis. The correct percentages of N events (% of total)<sup>b</sup> is 6,8% in quartile 1, 5,4% in quartile 2, 11,6% in quartile 3, and 40,1% in quartile 4. Further in the body text of Table 4, the number of organs affected to define multi-organ-failure (MOF) should be  $\geq$ 4, not >4 as incorrectly stated.

In the Supplementary material in the original manuscript of **Study IV**, there is a typo in Table 3. The correct numbers of lactate measurements were 21 in 2015, and 17 in 2017.